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This record is largely confined to the events that occurred during the
growth and decadence of the clan. There are many questions just as im-
portant and interesting as historical events that are intimately connected
with the family, and which should be particularly set forth. The origin of
the race, its migrations, manners, customs, and many other characteristics
must be of intrinsic value. Whoever studies or desires to become acquainted
with his ancestry never tires of prying into all the various related subjects.
The very nature of them demands a separate treatise, and as they are neces-
sarily extensive, a volume must be required for their consideration. In order
to set forth fully these related subjects, I have collected the material, and at
an early day I hope to be able to give it to the reading public; however treat-
ing it in a more general than special manner.

In the preparation of this work, for a basis I have relied on the “Account
of the Clan MacLean,” published in 1838, and the Pennycross and Ardgour
MSS, frequently using the exact language used by their compilers. Donald
Gregory’s ¢ History of the Western Highlands ” has been of great assistance,
and deserves to be specially mentioned; for it would be difficult to write con-
cerning the West Highland clans without recourse to this invaluable publica-
tion. I haVe not depended upon such material as may be found in printed
volumes, but present many important facts heretofore inaccessible to the
public. For a large part of the hitherto unpublished matter, I am greatly in-
debted to Sir Fitzroy Donald MacLean, Bart., the present hereditary chief,
who very obligingly placed at my disposal copies of such parts of the official
state papers of Scotland as bore directly upon the subject. Archibald John
MacLean of Pennyeross, not only gave me a complete copy of the Pennycross
MBS, but rendered other assistance of much value. For a copy‘of the Ard-
gour MS, I am indebted to Alexander Thomas MacLean, present laird of
Ardgour. In the mansion house at Lochbuie I spent four pleasant and profit-
able weeks, during which time Captain Murdoch Gillian MacLean of Lochbuie
kindly gave me full access to all the papers in his Charter Room, from which
I made liberal extracts. To him I am indebted for many courtesies. I found

(iii)



iv ! ' PREFACE.

Rev. Alexander MacLean Sinclair, not only fully informed on the history of
the clan of which his maternal grandfather was a worthy and honored mem-
ber, but also ever ready and willing to impart his knowledge along with many
valuable suggestions.

It will be observed that this volume is almost wholly confined to the Mac-
Leans of Scotland. The family histories of whatever branch must necessarily
begin with the clan itself; and as the clan history does not extend outside of Scot-
land, the foundation must necessarily be laid in the land of its birth. To treat
of the MacLeans in other countries would require several volumes—America
alone would demand a large one. Having presented the clan proper, the other
histories could readily find a beginning. The various cadets or septs have
been presented as fully as it was possible. In some instances an account
could not be obtained owing to the carelessness in preserving the records;
and hence, unwillingly, I have been forced to pass them over. In some of
those given, it was found next to impossible to reach the descendants now
living.

Instead of an Index a copious Table of Contents is given. Owing to the
repeated recurrence of the same name an index would not be of so much value
as a full table of contents; and it is believed that in thé latter, the reader will
experience no difficulty in finding the desired information.

I am fully aware of the many imperfections contained in this volume.
Due effort has been made to remedy them; but this in some instances has
been found impossible owing to the want of accurate information. Being re-
moved a distance of four thousand miles adds also to the perplexity. In
some respects this may be regarded as an advantage; for a judgment might
be formed more correctly when not influenced by the pressure of immediate
surroundings. ‘

This history is not written under the patronage of any one, neither was
it suggested by any one. I had an anxiety to learn of my ancestry, in which
I took a deep interest. The results of my investigations I desired to lay be-
fore those who belong to the same worthy lineage. If there is any word of
censure to be bestowed, or any financial loss sustained, I must bear the
burden alone.

MarcH 4, 1889,
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A HISTORY

OF \

THIY CLAN MACLIKAN.

CHAPTER I
PRELIMINARY REMARKS.

The MacLeans have every reason to be proud of their history and ancestry,
even though it be judged in the light and civilization of this age. This clan
history is written wholly for the benefit of the descendants of the hrave men
who once wielded the claymofe on behalf of Scotland, and also in defense of
their own individual rights. Clan histories are written especially for the
benefit of those who wish to pry into the acts of their forcfathers, thus
making the subject one of personal value. But this class of histories serves
another purpose, in that it is of intrinsic value to those who desire to make a
critical study of the Highlands of Scotland. Individual actions when com-
bined with others make history. When one family, united by ties of kinship,
has continued together for centuries, especially during times of civil commo-
tions, or revolutionary periods, and if that family be numerous, it must of
necessity have played a very important part in the creation of its country’s
history.

To set forth a clan history in all its faithfulness requires two esgential
qualifications: The historian must be in full sympathy with his subject, and at
the same time be rigidly just in the narration of his facts. The deeds of a
people of a past age are not to be judged in the light of the nineteenth
century. In forming accurate and just opinions, their surroundings, habits,
'enlightenment, political government, and predominant religion must be con-
sidered.

Of all the clans of Scotland none is more deserving of honorable men-
tion and having its history carefully recorded than' that of MacLean. For
centuries it held a conspicuous place for independence of bearing and disin-
terested loyalty in the history of Scotland. It rapidly grew in influence and
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power until it reached its zenith, at which time, during the reign of James
VI., it was accounted the most powerful of any in the Hebrides.® At the
date of the final forfeiture of the Lords of the Isles (1493) the lands belong-
ing to the clan comprised the greater part of Mull, the whole of Coll and
Tiree, portions of Islay, Scarba, districts in Morvern, Lochaber, and Knap-
dale, not to mention some of the smaller islands. No clan has reccived more

honorable mention. Sir Waiter Scott T has sung conecerning it:

“May the race of Clan-Gillian, the fearless and free,

Remember Glenlivat, Harlaw, and Dundee.”

They were “a bold and hardy race.” i Professor John Stuart Blackie
has seen fit to record || that ¢ there were mighty men in Mull in those days, and
the MacLeans were amongst the mightiest. . . . They were amongst the
most loyal of the loyalrnt Largs and Bannockburn, and they could not fail
to share the sorrows of the disecrowned monarch at Inverkeithing and Cul-
loden. The Macleans, if not always wise in action, were generous in pur-
pose_and noble in conduct.”  William Allen, the Scottish poet, in a letter
to the anthor.§ says: *The Maelieans were all brave men, all Heectors, and

b

the finest swordsmen of the Iighlands.’

The history of this family—sometimes called Clan Gillian and Clan Lean,
in Scottish history—may be subdivided in three different ways, the first being
its political history. It might result in some degree of interest to trace the
relationship existing between the MacLeans and the McDougalls, or the proud
Lords of Lorn, during the traditionary history of the former. If they were at
one time subjects of the Lords of Lorn, as asserted by Skene,** the grip could
not have been very strong, as may be testified by the MacLeans espousing the
cause of Bruce. It is possible that at one time they owed some allegiance to
the McDougalls of Lorn, but it does not appear that it was regarded as of
any binding force. During the traditionary period they existed more as a
tribe than as a clan, and we know of it almost wholly from the feats of daring
and bold position taken by the chief, who generally managed to distinguish
himself. The history becomes clear, positive, and satisfactory in what might
be termed the second period, which lasted from the year 1866 to 1493, or
when the MacLeans were vassals of the Tords of the Isles. The renunciation
of allegianee to the Lord of Lorn, and the attachment to the Lords of the Isles

# Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 419; Brown's History of the Highland Clans, Vol. IV.,
p-491. T Flora Mclvor’s Song. 1 Tales of a Grandfather, Second Series, p. 59, | Altavona, pp.
168, 178. 7 Duted June 12, 1888. *¥* The Highlanders, Vol. 11, p. 205.
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was a most fortunate one. The latter had befriended Bruce in his dire ex-
tremity, while the former pursued him with great ferocity. The latter, at
the time of espousal of the MacLeans, was rapidly acquiring supremacy over
the other descendants of their great progenitor, Somerled, which was greatly
increased when Bruce ascended the throne. Favors bestowed upon the Lords
of the Isles operated for the benefit of the MacLeans, in so much so that
their possessions rapidly increased, especially during the time of John, Fourth
Lord of the Isles. The third period commenced in 1493, when the MacLeans
became independent, and numbered four powerful branches—Duard, Lochbuy,
Ardgour, and Coll. As these various branches had received charters direct
from the Lords of the Isles, they were consequently feudally independent of
each other. After they ceased to be vassals they continued for a while to
support the MacDonalds, and for a long time might have beew allies of that
house if jealousy had not taken possession of them, which led them to unite all
their forces for the purpose of effectually crushing the growing power of the
MacLeans, which happened at the close of the sixteenth century, but which was
averted through the consummate skill of Sir Lachlan Mor MacLean. This
period may be said to end with the year 1598. The fourth and last period in
the history of the clan marks its blind adherence to the house of Stuart, which
ends with the battle of Culloden, in 1746. During this period the clan was
forced to undergo great vicissitudes, the lands nearly all alienated, and the
House of Duard became practically extinet. The remaining history is wholly
that of individuals.

The religious aspect may resolve itself into a division. The carliest rec-
ords of the Gaéls present them as believers in Druidism, a form of l'e]igion
a belief

in onc God, the immortality of the soul, an altar of either turf or stone, and

having some excellent qualities. In some respects it was simple

an offering from the increase of the fold. In the Highlands, Druidism found
a peaceful and protected home, and there its last rites were solemnized. The
ancient inhabitants placed a high value on liberty, and preserved their coun-
try from the yoke of Rome; and on her Bens and in her Glens no altars
were erected to idols. This had much to do with preserving the original
character of its inhabitants. This religion may date its final overthrow from
the advent of St. Columba in the Island of Iona, A. ». 563. It is not claimed
that the MacLeans, as a tribe, were under the influence of Druidism, but,
being pure Gaéls, their ancestors were, and this had something to do in the
formation of their character. Henece, it can be truthfully asserted that in no
period of their history were the MacLeans idolators. The Culdee form of
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the Christian religion was established, in Scotland, by St. Columba, and was
not overthrown until about 1150. The Highlanders were converted to Chris-
tianity through the missionary labors of the Culdees, whose principal seat
was at Iona. The third period was that of Romanism, which ended about
1560, when the Reformation gained control of the law-making power, and
ordered the cathedrals and monasteries to be destroyed. It is very doubtful
if the chiefs of MacLean ever became ardent Roman Catholics. There is no
evidence of it. It is well known that Culdecism was taught by individuals
loug after Catholicism had supplanted it in Tona. We find, during the fif-
teenth century, four bishops, of the family of MacLean, repudiating celibacy,
and thus showing their predilection for the Cnldee creed.  The last period is
marked by the entire clan embracing the doctrines of the Reformation.

The third division is an interesting one from a purely anthropological
standpoint. In it can be scen the development into a tribe from stalwart
progenitors, until the clan has been fully formed. This period might end with
John Dubh, fourth chief of MacLean. The growth then is rapid, until the
chieftainship of Sir Lachlan Mér, or down to about 1580. The zenith of
power was reached during the reign of that chieftain, although others would
have it as late as the first baronet, Sir Lachlan, sixteenth of MacLean, or to
about 1630. After the last-mentioned date the decline can easily be traced.
The causes which led to it arc manifold. The seeds of decay were sown
during the long feud with the MacDonalds. The adherence to the house of
Stuart was all loss—no profit having acerued from it. Add to this fact that
on the west was the ocean, and on the east the powerful house of Argyle,
chief of the Clan Campbell, which carly had its eyes on the possessions of the
MacLeans. The chiefs of the Campbells, called lords, earls, marquises, and
dukes, were not the best disposed of neighbors. Skene, the greatest of all
historians of Keltic Scotland, in speaking of the Argyle family, says* its
history “consists principally of the details of a policy characterized by cun-
ning and perfidy, although deep and far-sighted, and which obtained its usual
success in the acquisition of great temporal grandeur and power. Of the
duplicity and greed of this family numberless instances could be cited, and
many authorities quoted; but ample evidence will be given in its proper
place.”

Unscrupulous men, who become powerful, use such arts as appear to be-
long to them. Most of the feuds recorded of the clans can be traced to the ma-

# The Highlanders, Vol. IL., p. 284.
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chinations of some earl, or other powerful personage at court, who wished, by
the disturbances he created, to increase his power or possessions. Nor was this
all. It was the constant policy of the government to divide the Highland
clans as much as it possibly could, and by their disunion prevent that
leg‘itimate influence in the affairs of the nation to which they were justly en-
titled. As evidence of this statement the following copy of a contract is
given, which is taken from the “Acts of the Lords in Council,” Vol XXIX,
folio 77: “At Edenburgh the IX day of Marche the yeir of God 1516 yeires.
It is appointit and aggreit betwix my lordis of counsale specially deput
thairto at the comand of my lord governouris in the Kingis nawe and for his
hienes service on the ta pairt and my lordis of Huntlie, Ergyle and Lauch-
lane McClane of Dowart personaly present on the tother pairt in manecr and
forme as eftir followis. That is to say gif the Clanquhattane or ony otheris
within my lord of Huntlys boundis failzeis to the Kingis grace intymis cum-
ing makand misreulle upon his liegis or dissobey and to his lawis the said
Erle of Ergile and Lauchlane and otheris within the boundis of the said Erle
of Ergilis licuetenandry sall outhald the said Glenquhattane and utheris
that falzeis under the said Erle of Huntleis boundis fra all boundis within the
said Erle of Ergilis lieuctenandry And attour thai sall assist_and supple
the said Erle of Huntlie againis the said Clanquhattane and utheris that hap-
pinnis to falze within the said Erle of Huntlies boundis. And the said Erle
of Huntlie sall outhold Donald of the Ilis and utheris that falzeis within the
Erle of Ergilis lienetenandry fra all boundis under his reule and attour sall
assist and supple the said Erle of Ergile in persute of the said Donald and
utheris. In witnes herof the saidis Erlis of Iuntlie, Ergile and Lauchlane
McClane has subscrivit this writ with thair handis yeir, day, and place foir-
saidis. ALEXR ERLE oF HuNTLIE
ERLE oF ERGILE
Lavcurnaxe McCraxe o DowarLp

touchand the pen.”

This compact is easily explained. The Clan Chattan—that is, the Mac-

Phersons and MacIntoshes, with some smaller tribes—had refused to comply
with Lord Huntly’s demands, and through the government interest got the
promise of assistance of the MacLeans and Campbells. The name of Donald
of the Isles was undoubtedly introduced by Argyle for two reasons: first, he
hoped to have Donald forfeited in order to possess his lands; and secondly,

MacLean could not have been prevailed upon to fight against his mother’s clan
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without some just reason. As Donald had abused his confidence, by the in-
sertion of his name, the assistance of MacLean could be procured.

It is worthy of record that the chiefs maintained the dignity of the fam-
ily. In every sense of the word, the clansmen as well as the chiefs were
true Highlanders, preserving the manners, customs, and sympathies that char-
acterized the Gasl. Whatever was regarded as essential for dignity and hos-
pitality, the MacLeans were the peers of all. In the choice of men for certain
pursuits, the best were always chosen. The MacNeils, a celebrated race of
bards, were the hereditary harpers of the MacLeans of Duard. For their
physicians, the Beatons, the most famous of Scotland, were chosen, who also
became the family seanachaidhs, or genealogists, in which lore they were equally

noted. To them much of the clan history owes its preservation.

———— v @ >

CHAPTER II.
THE HOME AND ORIGIN OF THE CLAN.

The home of the MacLeans is the island of Mull, and here the clan orig-
inated. This island is one of the inner Hebrides, situated between 5° 40" and
6° 20/ longitude west from Greenwich, and between 56° 18 and 56° 40’ north
latitude. It is separated from the mainland of Scotland by the Sound of Mull
on the north and the Firth of Lorn on the east. In shape the island is very
. irregular, owing to the great indentations formed by the sea-water lochs.
Speaking generally, it is thirty miles long by twenty-five in breadth. Its
coast line may he roughly estimated at three hundred miles, and its whole area
at four hundred and fifty miles. The gencral surface is rugged. DBen More,
the highest mountain, rises to a height of three thousand, onc hundred and
seventy-two feet, but, like the other mountains of the island, is wanting in
bold outlines. All of the hills and mountains have the softness of a pastoral
range, which, consequently, makes the scenery remarkable for a quiet and
solemn beauty. Its valleys, outlines of mountains, purple moorlands, and
lochs have charms seen in no other isle. It thus affords varied attractions for
the geologist, artist, and tourist. The greater part of the surface indicates
varied geological disturbances. Ben More is an extinet volcano, and from it
came the molten mass that formed the stupendous columns seen in the southern

part of the’island.  Also, those wonderfully symmetrieal pillars found on the
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island of Staffa, and forming Fingal’s Cave, were belched forth, in a molten
mass, from the crater of Ben More. The dolerite and basaltic rocks are in-
terbedded with volcanic ashes, clay beds, and lignite, belonging to the vast
bed of Miocene lavas. Here and there may be seen the outeroppings of the
Miocene beds. The extreme point of the Ross of Mull is of granite formation.

Perhaps no part of Scotland affords better grazing than this island. - The
higher grazings are occupied by black-faced sheep and deer. The Mull ponies,

noted for certain characteristic points, and supposed to have been mixed with

| Voleanic
apglewerates.

Lavrentian
Lowet Silurian

1 Jurassie
Galbro
,D”pﬁen'tl.'c

7l
Olsidian 59
b >

Palstove

S
e A,
N
aa L
b4t s’ﬁ) Sacg
3 Celonsas "3..""
S'tasfa "5,

’

Iow,

DRAw,
By K
LPMacLean, % a
Seate of Mile§
/889- F 3 3 I

Spanish horses brought to the island by the ill-fated ¢ Florida ”—a vessel

belonging to the Spanish Armada, in 1588—and which were particularly

sought for, have almost disappeared.
At the present time, the island is divided into seven distriets: Mishnish,
~at its northern extremity ; Mornish and Aros, to the south of Loch-na-Keal;
Torosay and Gribun, to the east of the same loeh, and Brolass and Ross of
Mull, to the east and south of Loch Scridain.

Of the ancient history of the island but little is known. On the high
mountain that separates the North from the South are two cairns, called Carn
Cul ri Evin, or, the cairn with its back to Eire, ¢. e., Dalriada, and the other
Carn Cal ri Allabyn, or, the cairn with its back to Alban, which scem to mark
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some ancient boundary, and believed to be the line between the Dalriad Scots
from Erin and the Cruithne of Alban. This conclusion appears to be probable
from the fact that about the year 503 the Dalriad Scots occupied the south
part of Argyleshire, consisting of the distriets of Cowall, Kintyre, Knapdale,
Argyle p'roper, Lorn, and probably Morvern, Islay, Iona, Arran, and the small
adjacent islands. The boundary which separated them from the Cruithne ex-
tended from the island of Colonsay through Mull to the center of the district
of Morvern on to Luine Loch, opposite Appin.#

In later years, the island fell into the possession of the Norsemen, for we
find that, in the year 888, Harald Harfagr added the island to his kingdom of
Norway. In the year 1156, a bloody engagement took place between Somerled
and Godred, which resulted in the latter ceding to the former Bute, Arran,
Islay, Jura, Mull, and several smaller islands, as well as the district of
Kintyre. It is also recorded that the “Danes were put to flight; many of
them were lost in the sea endeavoring to gain their ships; the land of Mull
and Morvern being freed at that time from their yoke and slavery.”+ Krom
this it would appear that the Norsemen made no permanent settlement in Mull,
but simply held the country, and probably did not intermarry with the natives.

Angus Og MacDonald, fifth in descent from Somerled, was a faithful and
uncompromising friend of Robert Bruce in his attempt to free his native land
from the harsh grasp of England. He sheltered this monarch, after the
disastrous defeat at Methven, in his castle at Dunaverty, August, 1306. In
all his subsequent actions, Angus bore an important part, and at the battle of
Bannockburn commanded five thousand Highlanders under sixteen of their
own immediate chiefs. As a réward for his great services, Bruce conferred
upon him, in 1314, the lordship of Lochaber—forfeited by the Comyns, and
the lands of Duror and Glencoe, and the islands of Mull, Jura, Coll, and
Tiree, which had belonged to the family of Lorn. Angus Og died in Islay,
about 1329, and was succeeded by his son John, First Lord of the Isles, who
became an important factor in the turbulent times in which he lived, being one
of the ablest and most sagacious of chiefs. Instead of attaching himself to
the house of Bruce, he became an important adherent of Edward Balliol in
his claims for the crown of Scotland. For this service, Balliol, in 1335, con-
ferred on John the whole of the territories which his father Angus possessed,
besides Kintyre and Knapdale, and the isles of Skye and Lewis. In order to
unite the whole force of his kingdom against the English, King David Bruce,

*Skene’s Dean of Lismore, p. xxiv, Celtic Scotland, Vol. I, 228. T Collectanca de Rebus
Albaniceis, p. 324.
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in 1344, confirmed John in the following possessions: the isles of Islay,
Gigha, Jura, Scarba, Colonsay, Mull, Coll, Tiree, and Lewis, and the distriets
of Morvern, Lochaber, Duror, and Gleneoe. According to Skene,* John died
about 1886, and was succeeded by his son Donald, Second Lord of the Isles.

On the 12th of July, 1390, dated at Ardtornish, Donald granted to
Lachlan MacLean the custody and constableship of the Castle of Duard. This
charter was confirmed at Glasgow in 1495 :

“At Glasgow, July 13, 1495. King James IV. confirms a charter
granted by King James I. by which these charters were confirmed :

(1) Charter granted by Donald of the Isles to Iector Makgilleon lord of
Doward, constable of the castle of Karnaborg, and his heirs male of the lands
of Tyrvughafeal in the island of Coll, in the place of vietuals, meal and
cheese, which used to be given by inhabitants of Tyriage to the constable of
the said castle yearly. Dated at the castle of Ardtornish 1 November 1409.

(2) Charter by the same Donald to Lachlan Makgilleone of the ¢ustody
and constableship of the castle of Doward with the enceinte land of Torosay,
lands of Glenleues, Broylos, Burglands in Ardineaganach, Akranbegan as far
as to Ulwaleh; half of the constabulary of the Castle of Deunconail and
Deunkerd with the islands of Garbealeach, Garbealean and Scealda; lands of
Ardlavach in Luing, lands of Moylburg in Secarba; the upper half of Dura,
lands in Morvarn, lands of Achugnaha, Achagranache, Achaglain, Ulgadall,
Dubgeare, Nasrone, Achagtesege McRuslaag. Dated at Ardtornish 12 July
1390.

(3) Charter by the same Donald of the Isles to Lachlan Makgilleone and
his heirs, of the constabulary and keepership of the castles of Kernaborg and
Isleborg, with the small ones Floda ard Lunga; lands of Godmadray, Aen-
cangboge, Bedlich ; officc of Fragramanache and Armanache in the Isle of Hy.
Dated 12 July 1390. .

(4) Charter by the same Donald to the said Lachlan Makgilleone and his
heirs, of the office of bailiery of all the lands of Tyriage, with lands of Man-
nawallis, Hindebollis, and office of steward of the house of the said Donald of
the Isles. Dated at Ardthorannis 12 July 1390.” [Registrum Magni Sigilli,
Lib. XIII., No. 300.]

The above shows that the MacLeans possessed a portion of Mull, by
charter, as early as 1390.

The MacLeans take their name from, and trace their origin as a clan to,
Gilleain, who flourished about the year 1250. Skene,f following the manu-

* The Highlanders, Vol. I1., p. 70. 1 Celtic Scotland, Vol. 111., p. 480.
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from the turbulent times which wrought disaster every-where, have left but
little information concerning the ancestry prior to the beginning of the four-
teenth century. However, information is gained here and there which affords
some assistance in unraveling the history.

It has been claimed that the MacLeans and MacKenzies are descended
from a common ancestor. This is based on the following grounds: 1. The
tradition in the families is to that effect. 2. Commneach, the founder of the
clan MacKenzie, was a descendant of Gilleain. 3. There was a close friend-
ship which always existed between the two elans, which was particularly ex-
emplified by Sir Lachlan Moér MacLean sending his son, Iector, to be edu-
cated in the house of Cailean Can, and in Sir John MacLean, when a child,
being sent for protection from the Campbells to the Earl of Seaforth, with
whom he lived several years.” It does not follow that all Gilleains were the
same.  The Gilleain of the MacKenzies was known as Gilleain na h’Airde,
proving that he lived either in Aird Mhic Shimi in Inverness-shire, or else in
Aird Rois, the name by which the mountainous region in the center of Ross-
shire was designated in early times. The founder of the Clan MacLean was
Gilteain na Tuaighe, or Gilleain of the Battle-ax, who lived in Argyleshire.

The MacLeans can trace their origin with precision to Old Dougall of
Scone, who must have flourished about the year 1100, and has been deseribed
as an influential, just, and venerable man* In some genealogies he is made
the son of Mocche, and again the son of Fearchar Abraruadh, who must be
placed four centuries earlier. Raingce, son of Old Dougall, had three sons;
Cucatha, Cusidhe, and Cuduilig. Cucatha, or Dog of Battle, was the pro-
genitor of the Clan Conchatha, in the district of Lennox, by whom it is pos-
sible the Clan Colquhoun is meant. Cusidhe, or Dog of Peace, was the pro-
genitor of the Clan Consithe, in Fife. What elan is here referred to is not
known. Cuduiligh, from whom the Clan Conduilig, that is, the Clan Mac-
Lean, in the island of Mull, became lay-abbot of the Monastery of Lismore,
in Argylshire. His son was called Niall, and Niall's son was named Rath, or
MacRath. Rath is said to have married a sister of Somerled, Sombairle Mér
MacGillebride, who was slain at Renfrew in 1164. Ile had a son named Gil-

leain, or Gille-Eoin, the founder of the Clan MacLean, or more truly Maec-
Ghilleain.,

#Skene’s Celtic Scotland, Vol. IT1., p. 343, !
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CHAPTER I1II.
FIRST PERIOD OF THE CHIEFS.

FroMm A. . 1250 To A. p. 1400.

I. Gilleain flourished about the year 1250. Ile was known as Gilleain na
Tuaighe, from his ecarrying, as his ordinary weapon and constant companion,
a battle-ax. He was a man of mark and distinetion. The following anec-
dote is related of him, whiech probably accounts for the origin of the Maec-
Lean crest, which consists of a battle-ax between a laurel and eypress branch,
and is still used on the coat-of-arms: Ie was on one occasion engaged, with
other lovers of the chase, in a stag-hunt on the Mountain of Bein ’tsheat,
and  having wandered from the rest of the party in pursuit of game, the
mountain became suddenly covered with a heavy mist, and he lost his way.
For three days he wandered about, unable to recover his route, and on the
fourth, exhausted by fatigue, he entered a eranberry bush, where, fixing the
handle of his battle-ax in the earth, he laid himself down. On the evening
of the same day his friends discovered the head of the battle-ax above the
bush, and found its owner, with his arms round the handle, stretched, in a
state of insensibility, on the ground. V

The evidence, so far as it is now attainable, goes to show that Gilleain,
as well as his father, Rath, held large possessions in Upper-Mull, and
along the whole northern coast of that island. It also appears that the
island of Kerrera was part of his property, and at its southern end he estab-
lished himself, and there built a castle, which still bears his name, Gylen, or
Gillean. It afterward became one of the strongholds of the MacLeans of
Duard, and in it, at one time, was kept the famous Brooch of Lorn, belong-
ing to King Robert the Bruee. The lofty ruined tower of Gylen Castle, cov-
ered with ivy, rests’on the edge of a cliff, over a beach where the Atlantie has
rent the rocks into fantastic shapes.

As Gilleain was the undoubted founder of the clan, to him has justly
been ascribed—The First Chief of MacLean. Ile had three sons, Bristi,
Gillebride, and Maoliosa.

II. Gille-Tosa, second chief.

Maoliosa, or Malo-Iosa, or Gille-Tosa, means the servant of Jesus. IHe
was a distinguished follower of Alexander III. of Secotland, and was conspicu-
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ous in expelling Maco. From the Norwegian account,* we learn that Alex-
ander IT1. sent an embasssy to King Haco, requiring him to give up the ter-
ritories in the Hebrides, which Magnus Barefoot had unjustly wrested from
Maleolm, predecessor to the Scottish king. Taco refused; then the embassy
offered to purchase the territory ; this was also refused. In 1263, King Haco
assembled a numerous host, declaring the expedition was intended against
that part of Scotland which bordered the western seas, and the object was to
revenge certain inroads made by the Scotch into his dominions. The expe-
dition was commanded by Haco in person. The armament is described as
mighty and splendid ; the ships béing many, large, and well appointed. When
the expedition arrived at the island of Kerrera, it was joined by King Dugal,
predecessor of the MacDougalls of Dunolly, with other Hebrideans. This
inereased the armament to one hundred vessels, for the most part large, and
well provided with both men and arms. There the forces were divided, fifty
ships being sent south to the Mull of Kintyre to plunder. Haco then sailed
south to Gigha, where he anchored, but soon after proceeded to the Mull of
Kintyre. The Norwegians committed great depredations, both in the islands
and on the mainland. The Scottish monarch, however, was not idle. e as-
sembled his forees, and procceded against the invaders. The two armies met
at Largs, on the coast of Ayrshire, on October 2, 1263. The Norwegian army,

although very large, could not all be brought into action, because a violent

tempest arose, which prevented the greater part of the army from being

brought ashore. In the Scottish army was a body of fifteen hundred horse-
men, mounted on Spanish horses, armed, both horse and man, from head to
heel, in complete mail. The foot-soldiers were well-accoutered, and in addi-
tton to the long spears of the Saxons, they carried the Norman bow. This
memorable engagement was commenced by the Seots. The right wing, com-
posed of the men of Argyle, Lennox, Athole, and Galloway, was commanded
by Alexander, Lord High Steward, while Patrick Dunbar, Earl of March,
commanded the left, compolsed of the men of Fife, Stirling, Berwick, and
Lothian. The king, in person, commanded the center, which was composed
of the men from Ross, Perth, Angus, Mar, Mearns, Moray, Inverness, and
Caithness. Haco also commanded his center, which brought the kings close
together in combat. The High Steward turned the enemy’s left, and by an

adroit maneuver wheeled back on the rear of Ifaco’s center, which forced

# Haco's Eepedition. Translated by Johnstone, 1782,



First PErIoD oF TuE CuiErs—1250 to 1400. 35

Haco to retreat from the field, leaving from sixteen to twenty-four thousand
of his men on the field, while the Scottish loss did not exceed five thousand.

Gille-Tosa, or, as it has been written, Gillise MacGillean, must have per-
formed prodigies of valor in this action, for he has received honorable
mention. This distinguished warrior died in the yecar 1300, and was suc-
ceeded by his son—

III. Malcolm, third chief of MacLean.

Malcolm’s name has been written Maol-Calum and Gille-Calum, which
means Servant of Columba. He was married to Rioghnach, daughter of
Ganail, Lord of Carrick.

The name of Gille-Moire MacGilleain is attached to the Ragman Roll
in 1296. It appears to be the same as Gille-Calum of the genealogists. This
is 'a point by no means certain, but is more than probable.

Malcolm, at the head of his clan, fought at the battle of Bannockburn,
on Monday, June 24, 1314. It was at this battle that the power of the En-
glish Edwards was broken, and the sovereignty of Scotland once more recog-
nized. Robert Bruce’s army consisted of thirty thousand men, while that of
Edward has been estimated at over one hundred thousand. The English lost
thirty thonsand, and that of the Seots did not exceed ten thousand. With
Edward were all the great English nobles and barons, and their followers, .
all well cquipped. The engagement was commenced by the English, who
pourcd forth their arrows, until they fell like flakes of snow. The Scottish
army was arranged in a line consisting of three square columns, the center
commanded by the Earl of Moray, the right by Edward Bruce, and the left
by Sir James Douglas and Walter, the Steward of Scotland. The reserve,
composed of the men of Argyle, Carrick, Kintyre, and the Isles, formed the
fourth line of battle, and was commanded by Bruce in person. In this reserve
were five thousand Highlanders, under twenty-one different chiefs, commanded
by Angus Og MacDonald, father of John, first Lord of the Isles. The fol-
lowing clans, commanded in person by their chiefs,-have the distinguished
honor of fighting nobly: Stewart, MacDonald, MacKay, MacIntosh, Mac-
Plerson, Cameron, Sinclair, Drummond, Campbell, Menzies, MacLean, Suther-
land, Robertson, Grant, Fraser, MacFarlane, Ross, MacGregor, Munro, Mac-
Kenzie, and MacQuarrie. The Clan Cumming, MacDougall of Lorn, Mac-
Nab, and a few others, were present, but unfortunately on the wrong side.
As alrcady observed, the MacLeans were under the immediate command of
their chief, Malcolm. - After the battle was fully on, Bruce brought up the
whole of his reserve, which completely engaged the four battles of the Scots
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in one line. The noise of the battle, as described by an eye-witness, was
awful ; there was the clanging of arms, the knigllts shouting their war-cry, the
flight of the arrows maddening the hovses, the banners rising and sinking, the
ground covered with gore, the shreds of pennons, broken armor, and rich
scarfs soiled with blood and clay; and amidst the din was heard the groans
of the wounded and dying. Step by step the Scots gained ground, and for-
tunately, in a critical moment, the camp-followers, desiring to see the battle,
appeared over the hill, and were taken by the English for Scotch re-inforce-
ments.  1mmediately dismay spread through the English ranks, which, the
Scots noticing, made a fearful onslaught, which broke the English army into
disjointed squadrons. The flight at once became general, and the slaughter
fearful to behold. In the thickest of the fight the Highland. clans plied their
battle-axes with terrible effect. This did not escape the attention of the
watchful Bruce ; and, to show his appreciation for the great service, he assigned
to Angus and his descendants, forever, the honorable position of the right
flank of the royal army. .

Malcolm, who died in the reign of King David Bruce, had three sons,
Donald, Niall, and John. Donald and Neil appear in the Exchequer Rolls
of Scotland. In an account rendered by the constable of Tarbart, on July 13,
1325, of his disbursements from April preceding, these entries occur: (1) “And
to the men who came round the Mull with a ship belonging to Donald McGil-
hon, by four codri of cheese, value 2 shillings, 8 pence. And for watching
the same ship at Westa Tarbart for 15 days, 5 shillings.  And of eight men of
John and Neil, sons of Gilhon, staying by the king’s command for one month,
28 codri of cheese, value 16 shillings and 4 pence.” [Exchequer Rolls, Roll
II., Vol. I, p. 57.] In an account rendered by John of Logan at Scone; 24th
August, 1329, from 17th February, 1327-8, this item occurs: (2) “And to
Neil McGillon by the king’s gift one chald.” [Ibid., Roll XI., p. 201.] In
account rendered by Sir Robert of Peblis, Chamberlain of Scotland, at Scone,
9th December, 1329, this entry occurs: (8) “And to Neil McGillon in part of
payment for keeping the castle of Scraburgh,* by letter of precept of the
keeper, and his receipt, 10 pounds.” [Ibid., Roll XIL., p. 238.]

Donald had two sons—Maoliosa, or Malise, and John—two daughters,
Beatag, or Beatrice, and Aithbric. Neil had two sons, Diarmad and Maol-
Calum, or Malcolm.

IV. John, Fourth chief of MacLean.

John succeeded his father as chief of the clan. IHe was known as Ian

#Supposed to be Cairnburgh, on one of the Treshnish Isles.
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Dubh, or Black John. He married a daughter of Cumming, Lord of the
Braes of Lochaber. e died during the reign of Robert II. He undoubtedly
had large possessions, particularly the lands of Duard and Lochbuy, of whieh
the Lords of the Isles were feudal superiors. He had two sons, Lachainn
Labanach, or Lachlan the Wily, and Eachann Reaganach, or Hector the
Stern.* It would appear that John designed the lands of Duard for Lachlan,
-and those of Lochbuy for Hector. Such, at least, was the way in which they
were disposed of.

These two brothers made a considerabie figure during the reigns of Robert
II. and III. The prominence of their father, as well as their own affable be-
havior and pleasing manners, gained for them the friendship of John, First
Lord of the Isles, in so much so, that it excited the jealousy of the courtiers, -
among whom the chief of MacKinnon, the.master of the household, became
a most inveterate cnemy. In order to accomplish his revenge, or satiate
his jealousy, he determined to cut the brothers off by taking their lives, while
they were hunting with Lord John. IHaving been warned of MacKinnon's de-
signs, the brothers easily thwarted his plans. Shortly afterward MaeDonald
(Lord of the Isles) started on some expedition from his castle at Aros in
Mull to the mainland, intending to remain for a scason at his castle of Ard-
tornish in Morvern. MacKinnon, having been unavoidably detained, was to
follow after, but, mecting the two brothers, he renewed the quarrel between them.
Both parties were well armed, and had their retainers. In the affray which
took place MacKinnon was killed while in the act of mounting into his gal-
ley, and his followers dispersed. Skene calls this “one of the most daring
actions which has ever been reeorded of any Highland chief.” + His version,
however, is somewhat different from the above. Not knowing how the Lord
of the Isles would take the death of the master of his household, they resolved
to apply heroic measures, and keep by force that friendship which they
thought might now be forfeited. They now proceeded to follow up their act
by one still more daring.f Immediately they manned MacKinnon’s galley
with their own men, and started in pursuit of John, whom they overtook a
short distance from Ardtornish, captured his vessel, and carried him prisoner
to one of the Garvelloch islands. Tere he was detained until he solemnly
promised them to remain their true friend. Not satisfied with this, they con-

# 1t is one of the niysteries past finding out why Heector should be made the equivalent of
Euachann. The former nieans an anchor, and the latter lord of horses.
T The Highlanders, Vol. I1., p. 207. 1 Ibid.

3
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veyed him to the island of Iona, and placing him on the Black Stone, held
sacred in those days, and used to confirm binding agreements, he vowed in-
demnity, not only for the death of MacKinnon, but also for the violence done his
own person. He, moreover, obligated himself to give his daughter, Margaret,
in marriage to Lachlan, and would use his influence with MacLeod of Lewis
to obtain the hand of a daughter of that chief for his brother Hector. Still
Lachlan was not satisfied, for he demanded of the captive chief: ¢ I shall
have your daughter,” said he, “yet it is but meet you should give her a dow-
ery.” “Speak out and let me hear the price of your demands,” said Mae-
Donald. ¢ Eniskir with its isles,” replied Lachlan. This was promised him, as
well as voluntarily appointing him lieutenant-general in war, and gave to him
and his posterity the right hand of all the clans in battle, which was never once
disputed with them. On first view, it appears singular why Lachlan gave pre-
cminence to the small but towering rock of Eniskir. TItis probable he already
possessed about all the land he desired; but as Eniskir occupies a central
position in the sea, and commands an extensive view of the large isles by
which it is surrounded, it was deemed a valuable acquisition. Considering all

the circumnstances, in this transaction, it is probable that MacDonald was not

as anxious as his captors, for he exhibited no disposition to resent their harsh

treatment, but appears to have treated the whole affair in a good-natured
manner. According to the MacDonald MS, the Lady Margaret married
Lachlan of her own inclination and yielding. From this it would appear that
Lachlan only took the precaution to maintain what he had doubtless gained
by fair means. The events just narrated occurred about the year 1365. In
the year 1366, Lachlan married the Lady Margaret, daughter of John, First
Lord of the Isles. There must have been a close relationship existing be-
tween the two families prior to this marriage, for Lachlan was forced to ob-
tain a dispensation for marriage with Margaret from the Pope. Professor
Munch, in a communication to the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, states
he had seen this dispensation in the Vatican.*

Lachlan and Hector were two affectionate brothers, faithful in their
friendships, but fearful in their resentments. Iector was a man less im-
perious and more conciliating in his ways than his brother Lachlan. By the
assistance of his brother Lachlan he extended his possessions, acquiring
lands in Lochaber and other places. They engaged in desperate feuds with
the Clan Dugall, or MacDougall, and the Clan Cameron, the details and

* Robertson’s Ilistorical Proofs, p. 297.
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causes of which have not been preserved. Hector was the founder of the
house of Lochbuy and that of Urquhart, in Inverness, which for several cen-
turies was one of great power.

V. Lachlan Labanach, Fifth Chief of MaclLean.

The date of the beginning of Lachainn Labanach as fifth chief of Maec-
Lean, and successor to his father, John Dubh, is not known. It, in all prob-
ability, antedates 1365. IHis feuds with the MacDougalls and Camerons were
during that period after he became chief. John, First Lord of the Isles,
lived until 1386, when he was succceded by his son Donald. Under the
Second Lord of the Isles, Lachlan took due precaution to have his
lands confirmed by charter, which occurred in 1390, as already noticed on
page 29. lle had five sons, Hector, his successor in Duard, John, Lachlan,
Neil, and Somerled. He lived to a great age; the date of his death is not
known, but it must have been before 1405, for on January 28th, of that year,
at Dundonald, ITector was a witness to a charter confirmed by the king in
favor of James Kennedy. [Registrum Magni Sigilli, Lib. IV., No. 56.] Lach-
lan Labanach is gencrally regarded as the first MacLean of Duard. This is
doubtless owing to the fact that the oldest recorded charter in existence is in
his favor. But that docs not imply that he was the first possessor.

~o@oo -~

CHAPTER 1V.
THE MacLEANS AS VASSALS OF THE LORDS OF THE ISLES.

Frow A. p. 1365 10 A. D. 1493.

This period, which may be denominated the second, probably begins with
the marriage of Lachlan Lubanach with the Lady Margaret MacDonald, for
at that time it is known he came into possession of territory belonging to the
First Lord of the Isles. Perhaps a clearer and happier choice would fix it
in 1390, when the charter from Donald was secured. As the history of Lach-
lan was set forth in the previous chapter, it is now necessary to proceed to
the chieftainship of his son and successor, who appears in the annals as—

VI. Eachann Ruadh nan Cath, Sixth Chief of MacLean,

Or Red Hector of the Battles. He is sometimes called Hector Rufus
Bellicosus, and also Hector Roy. He early distinguished himself by daring
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exploits, and was noted as being one of the best swordsmen of his time. He
became so celebrated as a swordsman, that many knights who had gained for
themselves renown eame from distant parts to measure weapons with him.
One of these was a renowned knight of Norway, who chalienged Ilector Roy
to mortal combat. The challenge was accepted. They met at Salen, in Mull,
where they fought, and where the Norwegian fell. A green mound and cairn
on the sea-shore mark the spot where Ilector had his antagonist buried.

There was an old Gaelic poem, which affirmed that Hector commanded a
great fleet to the coast of Treland, and there defeated some of the ships of the
king of England. He landed his troops; placed the eity of Dublin under
contribution ; ecarried fire and sword into the country ; destroyed many of his
enemies, and burnt their houses. This must be the expedition hinted at in
Hollingshed’s ¢ Chronicle of Ireland,” where it is recorded that *in the
year 1400 at Whitesuntide, the first year of King Henry IV., the constable
of Dublin, and divers others at Stanford in Ulster, fought by sea with the
Scots, where many Englishmen were slain and drowned.”

As noted on page 29, Hector received a charter from Donald, Lord of the
Isles, dated 1409, for eertain lands, and is there described as *lord of Duard
and constable of the eastle of Cairnburg.” ) -

As the island of Cairnburg will be mentioned several times, and in differ-
ent pluees, it will be necessary to give it more than a passing notice. This
small islaud is the most northerly of the Treshnish Isles, situated about two
miles from the nearest point on the coast of Mull, aud about three miles from
Ulva. The whole eirenmference exhibits a wall of roek perfectly perpendicu-
lar, and at its base is surrounded by a very deep sea, which there forms a
furious eurrent; thus surrounded, it is rendered by nature almost inaccessible.
The only landing-place consists of steps cut in the face of the rock, which are
continued in a winding stairease to the top. For over a thousand years it was
used as a royal garrison. The defenses at the summit are partly cut in the
solid rock and partly masonwork : the ruins of the keeper’s house, the watch-
tower, and guard-house are on the level within; it altogether forms a most
interesting specimen of an ancient stronghold. It is said to have been orig-
inally built by one of the kings of Norway for a royal residence.

Hector Roy’s marriage to a daughter of the Earl of Douglas greatly en-
larged his influence. That nobleman made many overtures to induce Hector
to withdraw himself from his dangerous connection with his uncle Donald,
Lord of the Isles and Earl of Ross, now on the brink of open war with
Robert, Duke of Albany and regent of the kingdom. Hector firmly withstood
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the blandishments of his father-in-law, for his duty as hereditary Lieutenant-
General of the Isles was to his unele Donald, and the .approaching contest
afforded a new field for the display of his valor. .

Donald MacDonald, Lord of the Isles, claimed that the earldom of Ross,
which included the isle of Skye and a district on the mainland equal in extent
to a little kingdom, belonged lawfully to him in right of Margaret, his wife.
Albany resisted the claim, and the property was granted to the Karl of
Buchan. This forced Donald to raise the flag of rebellion, and he exhibited
a capacity and power which shook the very foundations of the government.
He possessed all the pride and power of an independent island prince. Ie
mustered the whole array of the Isles, consisting of ten thousand men, fully
armed, as was the fashion of the Islesinen, with swords fitted both to cut and
thrust, bows and axes, short knives, and round bucklers formed of wood or

strong hide, with bosses of brass and iron. This army was commanded by

‘Donald in person, with Ilector MacLean and the chief of MacIntosh as prin-

cipal leaders and heads of their respective septs, besides other innumerable
chieftains, all being animated by that old and deep-seated animosity which
existed between the Keltic and Saxon races. With this large army, the
insular prince burst like an avalanche upon the earldom, sweeping every thing
before him until he reached Dingwall, where he encountered a formidable
opponent in Angus Dhu, who attacked him with great fierceness. The check
thus given was but temporary, for Angus was made prisoner and his army cut
to pieces. The army then assembled at Inverness, and a general summons was
issued to levy all the fighting men in Bayne and Enzie. The army next swept
Moray, thence through Strathbogie, and from there into the extensive district of
Garvyach, whieh belonged to his rival, the Earl of Mar, and which was given
up to eruel and indiscriminate havoc. The army of the regent, under Mar,
advanced from Aberdeen to meet the Highland host, which was descried rest-
ing at the village of Harlaw, on the water of Ury, not far from its junction
with the Don. Mar’s army, although small, yet consisted of the bravest
barons of Anguns and Mearns, and, after long experience, believed that one
knight in steel was equal to a whole troop of ketherans. Immediately, Mar
formed his army in battle array, intrusting the leading of the advance to Sir
James Scrymgeour, constable of Dundee and hereditary standard-bearer of
Scotland, and to Sir Alexander Ogilvy, the sheriff of Angus, who had with
them a small but compaet band of men-at-arms; whilst Mar himself followed
with the main army, composed of the Irvings, Maules, the Morays, the
Straitons, the Lesleys, the Stirlings. the Lovels, headed by their respective
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chiefs. The Highland army was drawn up in the cuneiform order, [lector Roy
MacLean commanding the right wing and the chief of MacIntosh the left.
“The shock between two such armies may be easily imagined to have been
dreadful ; the Highlanders, who were ten thousand strong, rushing on with the
fierce shouts and yells which it was their custom to raise in coming into
battle, and the knights meeting them with leveled spears and ponderous maces
and battle-axes. In the first onset, Serymgeour and the men-at-arms who
fought under him with little diffieulty drove back the mass of Islesmen, and,
cutting his way through their thick columns, made a ecruel slaughter. But’
though hundreds fell around him, thousands poured in to supply their places,
more fierce and fresh than their predecessors ; whilst Mar, who had penetrated
with his wain army into the very heart of the enemy, found himself in the
same difficulties, becoming every moment more tired with slanghter, more en-
cumbered with the numbers of the slain, and less able to resist the inereasing
and reckless ferocity of the masses that still yelied and fought around him.
It was impossible that this should continue much longer without making a
fatal impression on the Scots; and the effects of fatigue were soon seen. The
constable of Dundee was slain; and the Highlanders, encouraged by his fall,
wielded their broadswords and Lochaber axes with murderous effect, seizing
and stabbing the horses, and pulling down their riders, whom they dispatched
with their short daggers. In this way were slain some of the best soldiers of
these northern districts. Sir Robert Davidson, with the greater part of the
burgesses who fought around him, were amongst the numbe'r; and many of
the families lost not only their chief, but every male in the house. The sheriff
of Angus, with his eldest son George Ogilvy, Sir Alexander Irvine of Drum,
Sir Robert Maule, Sir Thomas Moray, William Abernethy, Alexander Straiton
of Lauriston, James Lovel, Alexander Stirling, and above five hundred men-
at arms, including the principal gentry of Buchan, shared their fate; whilst
Mar himself; and a small number of the survivors, still continued the battle
till nightfall. The slaughter then ceased.” * According to Buchanan, “ there
fell so many eminent and noble personages as scarce ever perished in one
battle against a foreign enemy for many years before.” In the midst of the
earnage, the renowned chief of MacLean performed prodigies of valor.
His massive sword, wielded by an arm of great strength, laid prrostrate every
foe it encountered. In the afterpart of the day, while vietory yet weighed

the balance with an even hand for either side, he and Sir Alexander Irvine of

#Tytler's History of Scotland, Vol. 11, p. 41.
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Drum singled out cach other by their armorial bearings on their shields.
“Ha! chief of Duard, follower of a rebel vassal, have I at length the satisfac-
tion to sce thee within reach of my sword’s point?” exclaimed the knight of
Drum. ¢ Time-serving slave,” replied MacLean, ¢ thou hast, if it be satisfac-
tion to thee; and if my steel be as keen as my appetite for life of thine, thou
shalt not have time to repeat thy taunt.” The result was not of long dura-
tion, for such was the fury with which the heroic rivals fought, that they fell
dead foot to foot on the field, ere a friend had time to assist either. The body
of Iector was carvied from the field of battle by the Clan Innes and Ilvurrich,
upon their shields, to Iona, where it was entombed.

In this battle, fought July 24, 1411, the Highlanders lost nine hundred
men, a small loss compared with that of the Lowlanders. During the night,
the island lord retreated, checked and broken, but ncither conquered nor very
eﬂ'ectuany repulsed. The battle made a deep impression on the public mind,
and fixed itself in the music and poetry of Scotland. While the battle was
not decisive, and neither could well claim the victory, yet the insular prince
kept possession of the earldom of Ross, which after his death was conceded
to his son Alexander by King James I.

The anniversary of the battle of Harlaw was for many gencrations
observed by the houses of Duard and Drum; and on such oceasions an
exchange of swords took place between the respective successors of MacLean
and Irvine, as a token of respect to the memory of their brave ancestors, and
as a bond of perpetual friendship between themselves.

The traditions of the country speak affectionately of Ilector Roy, and
what has been preserved represents him generous as well as brave. e left
two sons, Lachlan, who succeeded him, and John Dubh.

VII. Lachlan Bronnach, Seventh Chief of Maclican.

Lachlan, seventh chief of MaclLean, received the sobriquet of Bronnach,
or swag-bellied, on account of his corpulency. He was with his father on the
fatal field of Harlaw, where he was made prisoner by Alexander Stewart, Earl
of Mar. During his captivity, he became acquainted with the earl’s danghter,
the Lady Margaret, whom he afterward married. According to some accounts
his estates were managed by his uncle John during his captivity, while others
state it was his brother, John Dubh. This confusion results from the names
of the two being the same. It is not probable that he remained in confinement
for any considerable length of time. Ile did not possess the same war-like
character that distinguished his father. He appears neither to have sought

nor avoided war, but was ready for action when the time arrived. IHis name,
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however, does not come prominently forward until the year 1427, when a
useless war was brought on through the treachery of King James I. This
monarch summoned a parliament to meet him at Inverness, in 1427, at which
the Highland chicfs were invited to attend. As the chiefs entered the hall
in which parliament was assembled, each was immediately arrested and placed
in irons in different parts of the building, not one being permitted to com-
municate with any of the others. Among the number was Alexander, Third
Lord of the Isles, and his mother, the Countess of Ross. Some of the great
chicfs were immediately beheaded, and the rest sent to various prisons, where
after a time some were liberated, and the rest put to death. On his libera-
tion, the young Lord of the Isles set about to avenge this unparalleled out-
rage, for he keenly felt the indignity of his imprisonment. In 1429, he sum-
moned all his vassals in Ross and the Isles, and advanced against the town
of Inverness, which he burnt to the ground, besides wasting the crown lands,
in revenge for the treacherous treatment he had received there two years
before from the king. King James immediately placed himself at the head of
a large army, and came upon Alexander unexpectedly. The Clans Cameron
and Chattan now deserted the island lord, who was immediately attacked and
defeated. Alexander was foreced eventually to surrender unconditionally,
when le was imprisoned in Tantallon Castle, and his mother confined in
Incheolm, in the Firth of Forth. Along with him we find in prison Lachlan
MacLean*® and other chieftains.

Donald Balloch, in 1431, a cousin of Alexander, enraged beyond measure
at the pusillanimous submission of his kinsman, collected a fleet and an
army in the Hebrides, ran his galleys into the neck of sea that divides
Morvern from the island of Lismore, and disembarking at Lochaber, swept
over that district with all the ferocity of northern warfare. At Inverlochy he
met a superior force of the king’s army, commanded by Alexander, Earl of
Mar, and Alan Stewart, Earl of Caithness. With their broadswords and
battle-axes, the Islesmen commenced a furious attack upon the well-armed and
disciplined Lowland knights. The royal army was cut to pieces; the Earl
of Caithness, with sixteen of his personal retinue, and many other harons and
knights, were left dead on the field. Mar, although severely wounded and
barely escaping being wade prisoner, succeeded in rescuing the remnant of
his army. In the engagement, Donald Balloch made a main battle and a

front of his men. The front was commanded by Maclan of Ardnamur-

# Skene"s Celtic Scotland, Vol. IT1.,, p. 297.
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chan and Jolin Dubh Mchean, brother of Lachlan Bronnach, and the main
battle by Ranald Bin. The royal army sustained a loss of nine hundred
and ninety, while that of Donald was but twenty-seven men.

Donald Balloch carried off as much plunder as he could colleet, re-em-
barked in his galleys, and rotreated to the Isles. Against him the king now
brought a superior force, and after several encounters Donald fled to Ireland.
The king established himself at Dunstaffnage Castle, received the submission
of most of the chiefs engaged in the rebellion, and apprehended and executed
about three hundred principal men.

In 1439, Lachlan Bronnach exhibited a warlike character. James II.
was then on the throne, and engaged in practicing dissimulation among his
nobles, who were contesting with one another, each engaged in accomplishing
‘his self-purposes. ¢ The people were afllicted by almost every scourge which
could be let loose upon a devoted country: by internecine feuds, by a severe
famine, and by a wide-spread and deadly pestilence. The fierce inhabitants
of the Western Isles, under the command of Lachlan MacLean * and Murdoch
Gibson, two leaders notorious for their spoliations and murders, broke in upon
the continent; and, not content with the devastation of the coast, pushed for-
ward into the heart of the Lennox, where they slew Colquhoun of Luss in
open battle, and reduced the whole district to the state of a blackened and
depopulated distriet.”” ¥

The date of the death of Lachlan Bronnach is unknown. He was living
as late as the year 1463, for on the 12th April of that year, both he and his
son Lachlan witnessed a charter confirmed by the kin'g to Thomas Younger, of
Dingwall, of Usuy in the earldom of Ross.}

Before his marriage he had a son by a daughter of MacLean of Kinger-
loch, Mac-Mhic-Eachainn Chinnghearloch, called Donald, of whom the families
of Ardgour and Borreray are descended. By his first wife, Margaret, daugh-
ter of the Earl of Mar, he had Lachlan Og, his heir and successor. By his
sccond wife, Fionnaghal, daughter of William MacLeod of Harris, he had two
sons, Neil of Ross and John Garbh of Coll.

Donald, the first son, possessed some of the spirit of his great-grandfather,
Lachlan Labanach. He determined, though his father was bound to submis-
" sion, to show that he was not. With the consent of his father, he armed a
number of followers, crossed over to MacDonald’s Castle of Ardtornish, and

# It is possible, and even probable, that this Lachlan was other than Lachlan Bronnach,
T Tytler’s History of Scotland, Vol. I1., p. 128.  Reg. Mug. Sig., Lib. VI, No. 116.
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demanded of that chief of the Isles an inheritance. The island lord, either
admiring the gallantry of the young MacLean, or else not willing to fall out
with him, answered : ¢ Falbh! nach leum thu’n garreadh far is ioshlae.” (Be-
gone! Canst thou leap the fence where tis lowest?) Imntediately compre-
hending that the hint applied to MacMaster, chief of Ardgour, who did not at
the time stand high in the good graces of the imperious lord, Macl.ean started
off to Kingerloch, where, arming an additional number of men, he proceeded
to Ardgour, attacked and routed the MacMasters, pursued their chief to the
Corran ferry, where he was overtaken in a parley with one of his boatmen in
the attempt to escape. ITe and Lis son were instantly dispatched. The boat-
man, with a view to ingratiate himself with MacLean, related how he had re-
tarded the progress of his late master in his purpose to escape, by starting
difficulties in venturing across the Corran, the day being rather stormy.

’

“ Thou art a faithful hind, truly,” sareastically replied Donald, *“and "t is but
meet that so trustworthy a vassal should follow his chief;” and, lifting his
battle-ax, yet reeking with the blood of MacMaster, he swept the treacherous
servant’s head off at one blow. '

The lands of Ardgour were immediately confirmed by charter from the
Lord of the Isles to Donald, and the same charter was afterward ratified by
King James I.  The estate thus acquired has passed for centuries, in regular
order, from Donald the first possessor through a suceession of honorable de-
scendants, to the present laird.

Neil, or Niall, another son of Lachlan Bronnaeh, who appears to have
been of a peaceable nature, received from his father a grant of the lands of
Lehire, in Mull. ilis descendants, particularly in the Ross branch, Slicchd a
Chlaimbl Laruwin (the race of the Iron Sword), were at one time very power-
ful, though the elder line was early cut off by the daring hand of the notorious
Allein na Sop, who killed Neil, third laird of Lehire, in his house of Torloisk,
and seized upon his estates. .

John Garbh, second son of the seccond marriage of Lachlan Bronnach, an
enterprising character, and well worthy of being the grandson of Hector Roy,
appears to have hit upon a similar plan, in the acquisition of landed prop-
erty as his brother Donald, for he demanded an inheritance from the Lord of
the Isles, and obtained the island of Coll, in addition to the lands of Quinish,
in Mull, already conferred on him, and held both of MacDonald as his feudal
superior. It is stated he afterward acquired by purchase the island of Rum
of Allan MacRuarrie of Clanrannold, but Clanrannold, for some reason, not

mentioned, refused to confirm the sale. John Garbh succeeded in obtaining
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possession of his person, and carried him prisoner to his castle of Breachacha,
located in the south-eastern part of Coll, where he detained him for nine
months, when the right of the disputed possession was fully conceded. Be-
fore his captive was released, he demanded his ** bond of future friendship and
perpetual amity.” .

John Garbh had more than one opportunity for the display of his warlike
disposition. The Lady MacLean, widow of Lachlan Bronnach and mother of
John, having married MacNeil of Barra, that chieftain, assuming to himself
an unjust authority over the possessions of his step-son, came to Coll and
occupied the castle of Breachacha (Breachd or Breae, spotted, and achadh, a
field or meadow, so called because in summer it is enameled with clover and
daisies), in defiance of the young proprietor’s remonstrances ; and his intrusion
would have cost MacNeil dearly, had it not been for the influence the mother
exercised over her son, by whom she was always regarded with the most filial
affection. He chose rather to retire out of the country for a time, than ad-
minister during his mother’s life the chastisement on his step-father which he
so justly merited. After a voluntary exile of some years in Ireland, receiving
intelligenee that his maternal uncle, Alastair,* laird of McLeod, was detaired
prisoner for some unexplained rcason by the Lord of the Isles, his native
boldness, now nurtured to maturity, could not brook the insult thus offered to
the brother of his beloved mother. He returned to Scotland with a few armed
followers, resolved at once to avenge his own and his unele’s wrongs. lHe im-
mediately proceeded to the castle of Ardtornish, where MacDonald was engaged
in couneil ; and ere that island prince had time to recover from the surprise
caused by the sudden npi)earance of MacLecan on the floor of the couneil
chamber, armed from head to foot, with his great battle-ax in his bhand, John
Garbh, in one breath, and in a tone that made the old walls of Ardtornish
sonnd the note of death as the result of the least resistance, demanded the
cause of detention and the immediate and unconditional release of his uncle.
MacDonald, undoubtedly not admiring the bold intrusion of his threatening
visitor, thought it best to comply with his demand, and instantly set the Laird
of MacLeod at liberty. MacLean now, attended by his uncle and a trusty
band of fifty armed men, proceceded to Coll, where he received intelligence
that MaeNeil was, with six score men, building a house at Grisipcll, about the

* There must be some mistake in the personage. MacKenzie, in his « History of the Mac-
Leod,” gives but two brothers of John’s mother, viz., Malcolm and William. I do not find
that either was held prisoner by MncDonald. The Pennyeross MS says it was Alastair

Crotinch; but he was the eighth Juird of MacLeod, and flourished nbout 1498,
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middle of the island, and that the castle of Breachacha was gm'risoned’with
about twenty of Barra’s men. Making his way directly for Grisipoll through
private roads, he surprised MaeNeil, who, with all his followers, was put to
the sword, not one escaping. MacNeil was a bold, resolute man, for he
singled out John in the conflict; and, notwithstanding MacLean’s great
strength and dexterity, he was like to be overcome by MacNeil, who wounded
him in the head through his helmet with his battle-ax, and as Barra was about
to give John another stroke, which would have ended him, a servant of the
latter, named Gilireamhack, came behind MacNeil, and with one stroke killed
him. IHis mother, who was then at Grisipoll, came to lament the havoe that
deprived her of her husband and almost her son, and then began to upbraid
the latter with cruelty ; to which he replied that in future he would care for
her. The garrison at the castle at once surrendered. Pursuing his victory,
John Garbh landed in Barra, subdued the whole island, built a castle upon
Loch Inhaistye, and kept possession of the whole for seven years, and then
turned the island over to his half-brother, young MacNeil.

He rescued his uncle a second time, who had been imprisoned by Clan-
ranald at Castle Tirimm Moidart.

VIII. Lachlan Og, Eighth Chief of MacLean.

Lachlan Og, or Young Lachlan, so called in order to distinguish him from
his father, was lord of Duard and chief of MacLean during that eve when
great political changes were about to take place in the Western Isles. The
western chiefs had thought themselves practically independent of the king,
and were obedient only to the Lord of the Isles, who ruled in princely style.
In 1448, John MacDonald became Fourth Lord of the Isles, and soon evinced
himself as one of the strongest opponents of the king’s party. In 1462, he
entered into a compact with the banished house of Douglas and the commis-
sioners of England, in which it was stipulated that John, with his vassals and
such auxiliaries as would be furnished by Edward IV., and the assistance that
might be given by the Douglases, should enter upon the conquest of Scotland ;
that John, Donald Balloch, and John, the sons and heirs of MacDonald, upon
the payment of a. stipulated sum of money (John, £200 sterling annually in
time of war, and one hundred marks in time of peace; to Donald Balloch,
£40, and to John, his son, £20, in time of war, and in times of peace half these
sums respectively), should become forever the sworn vassals of England, and
assist in the wars in Ireland and clsewhere. In the event of the conquest of
Scotland, then that kingdom should be equally divided between John, Donald
Balloch, and the Earl of Douglas. While these negotiations were still pend-
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ing, the Lord of the Isles assembled a large force, captured the castle of
Inverness, and commenced to assert authority over Inverness, Nairn, Ross,
and Caithness. How this extraordinary rebellion was suppressed is uncertain,
Ile was summoned before parliament for treason ; and that on failing to appear,
the process of forfeiture against him was suspended for a time, and he was
allowed to retain undisturbed possession of his estates for about fiftecn years.
The treaty of 1462 did not come to light until 1475, when the Scottish gov-
ernment determined to proceed against John as an avowed traitor and rebel.
Commission was given to Colin Campbell, first Earl of Argyle, to prosecute a
decree of forfeiture against him; and on the appointed day, failing to appear,
sentence was passed upon him. So great were the preparations now made
against him, that MacDonald sued for pardon, and with much humility surren-
dered to the king’s merey. IHe was pardoned and restored to his forfeited
estates on July 1, 1476. Soon after, the earldom of Ross and the lands of
Kintyre and Knapdale became inalienably annexed to the crown. This
caused great dissatisfaction on the part of Angus, the bastard son of Mac-
Donald, a man who was early accustomed to rebellion. The division of the
lands also divided the vassals of the Lordship of the Isles, the MacLeans,
MacLeods, and MacNeils adhering to John, while the various branches of the
Clan MacDonald made common cause with the turbulent heir of the lordship.

Lachlan Og was called upon to pilot the clan during these troublous times,
being beset both within and without. The seanachaids have recorded but very
little of his life; but they declare him “ to have been a good and pions man.”
Enoungh is recorded to show that he was possessed of rare judgment, and
maintained a peaceful demeanor. e lived and died one of the most peaceful
of his race.

He was married to Catherine, danghter of Colin Campbell, first Earl of
Argyle. His father-in-law and his accomplices were successful in involving
the Lord of the Isles in difficulties, and although he did not seruple to misrep-
resent his son-in-law and brand him as a recreant chief, yet Lachlan’s judg-
ment and skill warded off every blow Argyle attempted to inflict.

Unfortunately, the records do not show when he became chief and when
he died. He was living in 1478, for in that year, at Edinburgh, on December
224, he was witness to a charter confirmed by the king to David, Earl of
Crawford.* Ile probably died soon after. By his wife, Catherine Campbell,

he had Hector, his heir and sueeessor; Fionnaghal, who was married to

* Reg. May. Sig., Lib. IX., No. 15.



50 History or THE Crnayx MacLeax.

Celestine MacDonald, lord of Lochalsh and Lochearron; and Anne, who was .
married to Sir Robert Munro of Fowlis. The marriage of Fionnaghal must
have taken place in 1462, for in that year (at the castle at Dingwall, February
2d), John of the Isles grants to his brother Celestine de insulis of the lands
of Lochalsh, etc., to hold to the said Celestine and the heirs to be gotten
between him and Finvola, daughter of Lachlan MeGilleone of Dowart.” *

The recordst show that Lachlan MeGilleain was witness to a * charter
granted by Alexander, lord of the Isles, to his esquire, Gilleownan of Roderic
of Murchard, Makneill, of the island of Barra, ete., and failing the said
Gilleownan, then to the surviving brother of him gotten between the said
Roderic Makneill and the daughter of Ferchard Makgilleoin. Dated at the
Isle of St. Finlagan in Isla, on the vigil of St. John the Baptist, 1472.

Rolland Makelane of Dowart and Heetor MeClane of Carnlochboy are
witnesses to a charter ¢ granted by John lord of the Isles to John Davidson,
of the lands of Grenare in Carrick. Dated at Isla 20th August 1746.” 1
This same charter appears to have been duplicated in 1478, with ¢ Rolland
Maklane of Dowart’ || again as a witness,

IX. Hector, Ninth Chief of MaeLean.

This chieftain has been called Eachuinn Odhar, or Hector the Swarthy,
and sometimes Eachuinn ni num-bristion, on account of his brave and warlike
disposition. The times were favorable for the display of his inclinations.
Angus MacDonald, bastard son of the Lord of the Isles, a man of great
natural violence, succeeded in establishing a supremacy over his father, among
the chiefs descended from the family of the Isles. These chiefs were easily
drawn off, because John, Fourth Lord of the Isles, in 1476, gave up the earl-
dom of Ross and the lands of Kintyre and Knapdale, and had made improvi-
dent grants of lands to the MacLeans, MacLeods, MaeNeills, and some smaller
tribes. Angus placed himself at the head of the various branches of the
Clandonald, and raised the standard of revolt against his father. John went
to Stirling,
possessions to the king, except the barony of Kinloss in Murray, of Kinnaird
in Buchan, and of Cairndonald in the West, which he reserved to support his

and there, on account of his son’s disobedience, resigned all his

own grandeur during his lifetime.§ Angus determined not to surrender any
of the hereditary possessions to the king, or even to his father himself. Several
expeditions sent by the king against Angus proved unsuccessful. The first,

* Reg. Mag. Sig., Lib. V1, No. 16. 4 Ibid., Lib. X1II., No. 188. f Ibid., Lib. VIIL, No. 1.
[ Tbid., Lib. IX., No. 30. % MacKenzie’s History of the MacDonalds, p. 98.
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under the Earl of Athole, assisted by the MacKenzies, MacKays, and Frasers,
was defeated with great slaughter at Lagcbread. The second expedition,
under the Earls of Crawford and Huntly, made no impression. A third,
under Argyle and Athol, accompanied by John, succeeded, through an ac-
commodation, in persuading several tribes to join the royal forces. The
two earls appeared to be afraid of attacking Angus, and this expedition
resulted in failure. ¢ John, the father, however, undismayed by their pusil-
lanimity, proceeded onward through the Sound of Mull, accompanied by the
MacLeans, MacLeods, MacNeills, and others, and having encountered Angus
in a bay on the south side of the promontory of Ardnamurchan, a desperate
combat ensued, in which Angus was again victorions.” * This place is near
"l‘obermory, and has since been known as Badh-na-fola, or the Bloody Bay.
Hector Odhar not only headed his clan, but also took his hereditary post of
lieutenant-general under the Lord of the Isles. This naval engagement was
fought with the most rancorous animosity, and prodigious slaughter was com-
mitted on both sides. Angus succeeded in taking prisoner both his father and
the chief of MacLean. The result of this battle (fought in 1482), was to
establish Angus completely in possession of the extensive territories of his
clan.

It can not be said that the Isles were at peace long at a time, for the
clans continued to be more or less involved in feuds with one another, as the
following instance illustrates :

Kenneth, chief of the MacKenzies, married Margaret, daughter of John of
Islay, in 1480. Some time after, Alexander of Lochalsh, Margaret’s cousin,
came to Ross, and presuming upon his relationship with the family of Mac-
Kenzie, took possession of Balcony House and adjacent lands, and then pro-
vided a great feast, and to it invited most of the powerful chiefs, among them
his cousin, Lord Kenneth MacKenzie. In order to provide accommodations
for all his distinguished guests, he was forced to put some of the out-houses in
order.” Kenneth came late, accompanied by forty able-bodied men, but with-
out his lady, whiech gave umbrage to MacDonald. One of the MacLeans of
Duard had chief charge of the arrangements of the house. On Kenneth’s
arrival, MacLean informed him that, owing to his connection with the family,
they had taken the liberty of providing lodgings in the kiln. Kenneth, being
a powerful man, and maddened at the supposed insult, instantly struck Mac-

* Brown's History of the Highland Clans, Vol. IV, p. 440.
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Lean a blow on the ear which felled him to the ground. This aroused the
household of MacDonald, who flew to arms. Kenneth, noticing the transports
of the guests on the shore, seized some, sank the rest, and with his followers
passed over to the other side. Four days later, he degraded his wife by send-
ing her in the most ignominious manner to Balnagown. She was blind of an
eye, and in order to insult her brother in the grossest manner, he sent her
mounted on a one-eyed horse, accompanied by a one-eyed servant, and fol-
lowed by a onc-eyed dog. At the time she was in a very delicate state,
having shortly before borme a son, the only issue of the marriage. The
inhumanity heaped upon ler was so great that she never wholly recovered her
health.

MacDonald was very much exasperated on account of Kenneth’s conduet,
and the insult heaped upon his sister. Immediately he dispatched MacLean,
his great steward, to colleet his followers in the Isles, and request the aid of
his relatives on the mainland. The foree raised amounted to fiftcen hundred
men. As they advanced through Lochaber and Badenoch, they were joined
by the Clan Chattan, and at Inverness by the young Laird of Kilravock and
some of the Frasers. After reducing the castle at Inverness, they plundered
the lands of Sir Alexander Urqubart, Sheriff of Cromarty, and then ravaged
the lands of the MacKenzies. On arriving at Contin, MacDonald found the
people in great terror and confusion. The able-bodied men were with Mac-
Kenzie, and the aged, the women and children—the day being Sunday-—took
refuge in the chureh, thinking they would be secure within its sacred pre-
cinets. MacDonald, having httle or no seruples on the score of religion,
ordered the doors closed and the chureh burnt. The priest, helpless, aged,
men, women, and children alike were burnt-to ashes. From there MacDonald
marched against MaeKenzie, who was at Kinellan, not far from Contin.
Kenneth's force, six hundred in all, was posted in a strong position, yet so .
conveniently situated as to attack MacDonald if a favorable opportunity oc-
curred. At midday, MacDonald drew up the Islemen on the moor, distant
about a quarter of a mile from the position of the MacKenzies, the forces
separated from each other by a peat moss full of deep pits and deceitful bogs.
Kenneth placed a body of archers in ambush, commanded by his brother
Duncan, intending to make a sally and then retreat, in order to induce the Isle-
men to pursue him, and thus entangle them in the pits and bogs of the moss.
Having made all his arrangements, he boldly marched to meet the foe in the
direction of the intervening moss, avoiding, from his intricate knowledge of it,
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all the dangerous pits and bogs. “ MacLean of Lochbuy,* who led the van of
the enemy’s army, advanced and charged him with great fury. MacKenzie, ac-
cording to his pre-arranged plan, at once retreated, but so masterly that in so
doing he inflicted ¢ as much damage upon the enemy as he received.” The Isles-
men soon got entangled in the moss, and Duncan observing this, rushed forth
from his ambush, and furiously attacked the MacDonalds in flank and 1'051',
slaughteriig most of those who entered the bog. 1Ilc then turned round upon
the main body, who were taken unprepared. Kenneth seeing this, charged with
the main body, who were well instructed in their ehief’s design, and before the
encmy were able to form in order of battle, he fell on their right flank with
such furious impetuosity, and did sueh execution amongst them, that they
were compelled to fall back in confusion before the splendid onset of the
small foree which they had so recently sneered at and despised. Gillespie,
stung at his nephew’s taunt before the engagement commenced, to prove to
him that ¢ though he was wary in council, he was not fearful in action,” sought
out MacKenzie, that he might engage him in single combat, and followed by
some of his bravest followers, he with signal valor did great execution among
his opponents as he was approaching Kenneth, who was in the hottest of the
fight; and who, seeing Gillespie coming in his direction, advanced to meet
him, killing, wounding, or scattering any of the enemy that came between

them. He made a signal to Gillespie to advanee and meet him in single

.combat; but finding him hesitating, Kenneth, who far exceeded him in

strength while he equaled him in courage, would ¢ brook no tedious debate, but
pressing on with fearful eagerness, he at one blow cut off Gillespie’s arm and

H

past very far into his body, so that he fell down dead.”” In this action,
known as the battle of Park, MacDonald was taken prisoner, ‘“and MacLean
of Lochbuy (Lachlainn MacThearlaick) was killed by Dunean Mor, MacKen-
zie’s ¢ great scallag,’ or ploughman. What remained of the MacDonalds were
completely routed and put to flight, but most of them were killed, ¢ quarter
being no ordinar complement in thos dayes.””

The death of T.achlan MacLean, who lead the MaeLeans into the engage-

ment, as well as commanding the van, is thus deseribed: “A raw, ungainly,

*1 do not know who this MaeLean of Lochbuy was. At the time this battle was fought
(1488), John Og, son of Hector MacLenn, wns Lord of Loehbuy. It might bave been a brother
or uncle. But further along he is called Lacklainn MacThearlaick. The Clan Thearlnich was
the MaecLenns of Ur(iuhurt and Dochgarroch, a branch of the house of Lochbuy; but I fail to

find a Lachlan there of this period.
4
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but powerful-looking youth from Kintail was seen looking about, as they were
starting to meet the enemy, in an apparently stupid manner, as if looking for
something. e ultimately fell in with an old, big, rusty battle-ax, set off after
the others, and arrived at the scene of strife as the combatants were striving
with each other. Duncan (for such was his name), from his stupid and un-
gainly appearance, was taken little notiee of, and was going about in an aim-
less, vacant, half-idiotic manner. Iector Roy, noticing him, asked him why
he was not taking part in the fight and supporting his chief and clan? Dun-
can replied, ¢ Mar a faigh mi miablh dwine, cha dean mi gniomh duine’ (Unless
I get a man’s esteem, I shall not perform a man’s work). This was in refer-
ence to his not having been provided with a proper weapon. Hector answered
him, Deansa gniomh duine’s gheibl thu miabh duine’ (Perform a man’s work
and you will receive a man’s share). Duncan at once rushed into the strife,
exclaiming, ‘Buille mhor bho chul mo laimhe, s ceum leatha, am fear nach teich
romham, teicheam roimhe’ (A heavy stroke from the back of my hand (arm)
and a step to (enforee) it. IHe who does not get out of my way, let me get
out of his). Dunean soon killed a man, and drawing the body aside he coolly
sat upon it. Heetor Roy noticing this extraordinary proceeding, as he was
passing by in the heat of the contest, accosted Duncan, and asked him why he
was not still engaged with his comrades. Duncan answered, ‘Mar a faigh mi
ach miabh aon duine cha dean mi ach gniomh aon duine’ (If I only get one
man’s due I shall only do one man’s work. I have killed my man). Hector
told him to perform two men’s work and that he would get two men’s reward.
Dunecan returned again to the field of earnage, killed another, pulled his body
away, placed it on the top of the first, and sat upon the two. The same
question was again asked, and the same answer given, ‘T have killed two men,
and earned two men’s wages.” Hector answered, ‘Do your best, and we shall
not be reckoning with you.” Duncan instantly replied, ‘Am fear nach biodh ag
cunntadh rivm cha bhithinn a cunntadh vis’ (He that would not reckon with me
I would not reckon with him), and rushed into the thickest of the battle, where he
mowad down the enemy with his rusty battle-axe like grass, so much so that
Lachlan MaéThearlaich, a most redoubtable warrior, placed himself in Duncan’s
way to check him in his murderous career. The heroes met in mortal strife,
but MacThearlaich, being a powerful man, clad in mail, and well versed in arms,
Duncan could make no impression on him, but being lighter and more aetive
than his heavily mailed opponent, he managed to defend himself, \v:xtching his
opportunity, and retreating backwards until he arrived at a ditch, where his op-

ponent, thinking he had him fixed, made a desperate stroke at him, which Duncan
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parried, and at the same time jumped backwards across the ditch. MacThear-
laich, to catch his enemy, made a furious plunge with his weapon, but it instead
got fixed in the opposite bank of the ditch, and in withdrawing it he bent his
head forward, when the helmet, rising, exposed the back of his neck, upon which
Dunean’s battle-axe descended with the velocity of lightning, and such terrific
force as to sever MacThearlaiclh’s head from his body. This, it is said, was
the turning point in the struggle, for the MacDonalds, seeing the brave leader
of their van falling, at once retreated and gave up all for lost.” *

This insurrection cost the MacDonalds the lordship of the Isles, as others
had the earldom of Ross. At a parliament held in Edinburgh in 1493, the
possessions of the Lord of the Isles were declared to be forfeited to the crown.
In the following February, John MacDonald, the aged Lord of the Isles, made
his appearance before King James IV., and made a voluntary surrender of
every thing, after which, for several years, he remained in the king's house- -
liold as a court pensioner. .

On the final forfeiture of the Lords of the Isles, the MacLeans beecame
independent. Also, by charters for lands granted, the clan became divided
into several heads, the principal families being Duard, Lochbuy, Coll, and
g, whieh was but
a confirmation of those previously possessed from the Lord of the Isles.

CHAPTER V.
THE MacLEANS AS AN INDEPENDENT CLAN.

From 1493 To 1598,

On the final forfeiture of the Lords of the Isles, the king determined to
reduce the wild and remote districts of the Highlands to a-more regular form
of government. In order to accomplish this, he sought ‘“to attach to his
interest the principal chiefs of these provinces; to overawe and subdue the
petty princes who affected independence; to carry into their territories,
hitherto too exclusively governed by their own capricious or tyrannical insti-
tutions, the same system of a severe but regular and rapid administration of
civil and criminal justice which had been established in his Lowland domin-

* MucKenzie’s History of the Clan MacKenzie, in Celtic Magazine, Vol. I11., pp. 161-169.
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ions, was the laudable object of the king; and for this purpose he succeeded,
with that energy and activity which remarkably distinguishcd him, in opening
up an intercourse with many of the leading men in the northern countries.
With the captain of the Clan Chattan, Duncan MacIntosh; with Ewan, the
son of Alan, captain of the Clan Cameron; with Campbell of Glenurcha; the
MacLeans of Duard and Lochbuy; Maclan of Ardnamurchan; the Lairds of
MacKenzie and Grant; and the Earl of Huntly, a baron of the most extensive
power in those northern districts—he appears to have been in habits of con-
stant and regular communication, rewarding them by presents, in the shape
either of money or of grants of land, and securing their services in reducing
to obedience such of their fellow chieftains as proved contumacious, or actually
rose into rebellion.”* The king believing that his personal presence would
have a salutary effect, visited the Highlands twice during the year 1493,
and proceeded as far as Dunstaffnage and Mingarry in Ardnamurchan; and
in the succeeding year, such was the indefatigable activity with which he exe-
cuted his public duties, he thrice visited the Isles.

«In 1495, after making extensive preparations for another expedition to
the Isles, the king assembled an army at Glasgow ; and on the 18th of May we
find him at the castle of Mingarry, in Ardnamurchan, being the second time
within two years that he had held court in that remote castle. John ITuchon-
son, or Hughson, of Sleat; Donald Angusson of Keppoch; Allan MacRuari
of Moydert, chief of Clanranald; Ilector MacLean of Duard; Ewin Allanson

of Lochicel, captain of the Clan Cameron, and Gilleonan MacNeill of Barra,

seem to have made their submission in consequence of this expedition. In-

this year, too, Kenneth Og MacKenuzie of Kintail and Farquhar MacIntosh, son
and heir of the captain of Clan Chattan, were imprisoned by the king in the
castle at Edinburgh. This may have been partly owing to their lawless con-
duct in 1491, but was morc probably caused by a dread of their influence
among the Islanders. The measures now taken by the king were soon after
followed up by an important act of the lords of council (1496), which merits
particular notice. This act provided, in reference to civil actions against the
Islanders—of which a considerable number were then in preparation—that the
ehief of every clan should be answerable for the due execution of summons
and other writs against those of his own tribe, under the penalty of being
made liable himself to the party bringing the action. This, although undoubt-
edly a strong measure, was in all probability rendered necessary by the dis-

* Tytler’s History of Scotland, Vul. I1., p. 257.
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turbed state of the Isles after so many rebellions, and could hardly fail to
produce a beneficial effect; for.in these wild and remote distriets the officers
of the law could not perform their necessary duties in safety, without the
assistance of a large military force. At the same time that this important\
regulation was made, five chiefs of rank—viz., Hector MacLean of Duard,
John Maclan of Ardnamurchan, Allan MaeRuari of Moydert, Ewin Allanson
of Lochiel, and Donald Angusson of Keppoch—appearing before the lords of
couneil, bound themselves ¢ by the extension of their hands,” to the Earl of
Argyle, on behalf of the king, to abstain from mutual injuries and molestation
of each, under a penalty .of five hundred pounds.” *

In the year 1500, the long-existing feud between the Camerons and Mae-
Leans broke out. On the forfeiture of the chief of the Clan Cameron, the
lands of Lochiel were granted by Alexander, Lord of the Isles, to John Mae-
Lean of Coll; and, afterward, for some reason which does not appear, were
conferred by John, Lord of the Isles, in 1461, to John MacLean of Lochbuy,
and again to Celestine, Lord of Lochalsh. All of these claims were properly
resisted by the ehiefs of the Camerons. John MacLean, second Laird of Coll,
held the lands for a time by force, but was at length killed in Lochaber by the
Camerons, which for a time checked the claim of the Macl.cans. But now the
whole of the Clan Macl.ean became involved in the feud, some in order to
avenge the death of Coll, and others who had been placed under obligations
to support the claim of John of Lochbuy. The chief of ‘the Camerons,
in order to strengthen himself, acknowledged the claims of Lochalsh, who thus
beecame hound to maintain Cameron in possession against all agressors. The
MacLeans broke in upon the lands of Lochaber with renewed violence, and
carried away a great prey of cattle, but failed to maintain possession of the
territory.t

The policy of lenieney which had governed the king up to 1499 was sud-
denly changed, and all his promises grossly violated, and ¢ the moderate and
wise measures already adopted were sueceeded by proceedings so severe as to
border on injustice. The charters which had been granted during the last six
years to the vassals of the Isles, were summarily revoked. Archibald Camp-
bell, second Earl of Argyle, was installed in the office of lieutenant, with the
ample and invidious power of leasing out the entire lordship of the Isles.

The ancient proprietors and their vassals were violently expelled fromn ‘their
prop ) p

* MacKenzie's History of the MacDonalds, p. 117. 1 Gregory's History of the Western
Highlands, pp. 70, 76, 95.
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hereditary property ; whilst Avrgyle and other royal favorites appear to have
been enriched by new grants of their estates and lordships. We are not to
wonder that such harsh proceedings were loudly reprobated : the inhabitants
saw, with indignation, their rightful masters exposed to insult and indigence,
and at last broke into open rebellion. Donald Dhu, grandson of John, Lord
of the Isles, had been shut up for forty years* a solitary captive in the castle
of Incheonnal. Tlis mother was a daughter of the first Earl of Argyle; and
although there is no doubt that both he and his father were illegitimate, the
affection of the Islesmen overlooked the blot in his escutcheon, and fondly
turned to him as the true heir of Ross and Innisgail. To reinstate him in his
right, and place him upon the throne of the Isles, was the object of the present
rebellion. A party, led by the Maclans of Glencoe, broke into his dungeon,
liberated him from his captivity, and carried him in safety to the castle of
Torquil MacLeod in the Lewis; whilst measnres were concerted throughont
the wide extent of the Isles for the destruction of the regal power.”
Altliough the king labored to break up the union among the confederated
chiefs, despite his efforts it broke forth with destructive fury. Badenoch was
wasted, Inverness given to the flames, and so widely had the contagion of
independence spread throughout the Isles, that it fairly shook the power of the
king. The king assembled his forces, and “in April, 1504, the royal army
had its rendezvous at Dumbarton, and from that place artillery and warlike
stores of every description available, including ¢ gun stanes,” were sent forward
for the siege of Cairnburgh, a fort on an isolated island on the west coast of
Mull. The Earl of Arran received two commissions against'the Islanders,
and, at the same time, the Earl of Argyle, MacLeod of Harris and Dunvegan,
and Maclan of Ardnamurchan, favored and were in regular correspondence
with the king, who did not on this occasion proceed in person to the Isles.
The rebellion turned out a more formidable affair than was anticipated, and
very little progress was made to repress it in this campaign. In the following
year, the insurrection becoming still more alarming, the king determined to
lead his army in person. He invaded the Isles with a powerful force from the
South, while Huntly attacked them from the North and took several prisoners,
none of whom, however, were of distinguished rank or influence. At the
same time the royal navy was employed under Sir Andrew Wood and Robert
Barton. This expedition resulted in breaking up the confederacy of the
Island lords; wany of them submitted to the royal authority, among the first

# Carried off from Islay when an infant. TTytler"s History of Scotland, Vol. 11,, p. 272.



.

AN INDEPENDENT CrLaX—1493 o 1598. 59
L]

being the powerful ehief of the Macl.eans, Lord of Duard, which act upon his
part also implied the submission of MaeNeill of Barra and of MacQuarrie of
Ulva, two chiefs who, sinece the forfeiture of the lordship of the Isles, had fol-
lowed the banners of their powerful neighbors, the MacLeans. MaeclLean of
Lochbuy soon followed the example of his chief, while the MaeDonalds of
Largie, a powerful sept of the MacDonalds of Islay, also came in. Ranald
MacAllan, heir to the chief of Clanranald, was already in high favor at eourt,
so that the power of the Islanders was almost completely shattered. Some of
the great chiefs still held out, the prineipal of whom was Torquil MacLeod of
Lewis, though his chief, MaclL.eod of Harris, had all through been loyal to the
crown. Ie had taken an active and leading part in the rebellion of the
Islanders under Donald Dubh; and it is extremely pr:)bablc that he enter-
tained little hope of obtaining remission for his offenses, which probably
determined him in his resolution to hold out after the other leaders had made
their submission.” * '

The tedious rebellion was at length suppressed, but the proecess of expel-
ling the inhabitants from their aneient possessions did not make any progress,
and the elans of the Isles and the adjacent coasts continued to occupy, many
of them perhaps contrary to law, their ancient domain. Donald Dhu, for
whose sake the Island chieftains had made such great sacrifices, was again
taken prisoner, and remained committed in the eastle at Edinburgh for nearly
forty years after this period, when he escaped the second time, under the
regeney of Arran, when the faithful Islanders again assumed his cause.

After the suppression of the insurrection of 1506, the West Iighlands and
Isles generaly enjoyed a repose for a period of eleven years, when, in 1511,
the old quarrel between the Camerons and Maclieans, regarding the lands of
Lochiel, was resumed. Also, a feud between the MacLeans of Duard and
Lochbuy, about the same time, was carried on with much bitterness, regarding
their conterminous lands in Morvern and the Isle of Tiree. These feuds were
checked through the attentive care of the king.y ) ]

Before proeeeding farther, it is necessary to stop at this point and con-
sider a serious diffieulty that besets us in presenting the line of chiefs. The
previous ehapter closed with Hector Odhar as chief of the Macl.eans, and the
presumption is that this chapter opens during the lordship of the same

* MacKenzie's History of the MacDonalds, p. 129. See also Gregory’s Western Highlanders,
p 96; Brown’s History of the Clans, Vol. 1V., p. 443; and Keltie’s History of the Highland
Clans, Vol. 11, p. 224. T Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 110. '
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chieftain. The principal cause of the difficulty arises from the fact that all
the MacLean manuscripts state that Hector Odhar fell at the battle of Flodden
Tield, in 1513. As the defect in the history has never been pointed out or
considered before, it should here be fully set forth:

1. The MaelLean manuscripts are all agreed that Heetor Odhar not only
fell at Flodden Field, but that he was succecded by his son, Lachlan Catanach.

9. That Laehlan Catanach lived to be a very old man, when he was mur-
dered.

The evidence shows that he was murdered in 1527. The Pennyeross
manuscript says he lived to be nearly ninety. Then he must have been born
about the year 1437. If so, then his father, Hector Odhar, should have been
born not later than 1417, which would have made him not less than ninety-six
at the time he was killed at the battle of Flodden Field. A fact so remark-
able would not have escaped notice. Nothing, however, is reeorded as to his
age. It is probable that Hector Odhar did live to a good age, and this faet
has been, by some negligence on the part of a seanachaidh, attached to Lach-
lan Catanach. Tt is more than probable that Heetor Odhar did not live as late
as the year 1500, and the chieftainship was entailed to an illegitimate son,
named Lachlan, who became the

X. Tensh Chief of Macl.can.

That there was such a chieftain, and that his name should be restored to
the list and no longer suppressed, I produce the following evidence:

1. There was an illegitimate son who had the property entailed to him.
In Registrum Secreti Sigilli, Volume 1., folio 29, may be found the “legitima-
tion to Lauchlane McGilleon son natural to Ilector McGilleon of Doward.
October 1496.” In the same records, same volume and folio, may be found a
“Precept for charter of resignation to the said Lauchlan, of lands of Torresay,
Castle of Doward, lands of Browhes, & Merkland in Ardmanach etc.in free
barvony to him and his heirs male; whom failing, to the said Hector Makgil-
lane, and his heirs male; whom failing, to Donald McGillan brother of the
said Hector, and his heirs male; whom failing, to the heirs male whatsoever of
the said Hector bearing the arms and surname of McGillan. To hold in ward,
relief and marriage. 8 October 1496.”

2. In the next place, I purpose to show that the said Lachlan was recog-
nized as Lord of Duard, on and after the year 1499. In the same records,
same volume, folio 115, may be found a “respite to Lachlan McClean of
Doward, John McClean of Coil, Donald McClean ¢ Eym’ to the said Lachlan.
27 February 1499.”

T
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In the same records, Volume III., folio 1, is a “remission to Lachlan
Maklane of Dovarde and his complices, for various faults. 31 May 1505.”

In the same records, same volume, folio 36, is a “letter to Lauchlane
Makgilleon of Doward and 9 other landit men in the Isles, charging them not
to intromit with the Kirk rents pertaining to the Bishop of the Isles, and so
help him to gather them in. 23 January 1506.”

In the same records, same volume, folio 208, is a “letter of Licence to
Lacklane . Makgillane of Dowart to sell his lands of Carrequhoull, Auchna-
dalyn, ete. in the Lordship of Badenoch, to Alexander Larl of IHuntly.
2 January 1508.” !

Same date, records, and volume, folio 209, is a letter of regress to the
said Lachlan to the same lands of reversion.

In the same records, volume, and folio, date of January, 1508, is a pro-
tection to “Lady Agnes duughter of Donald Makgillane, Prioress of the

nuns”’

in Iona, charging “ Lauchlan MeGillane of Dowart,” and others.

~ In the same records, Volume IV, folio 58, is a **letter of safe conduct to
Lauchlan MeGillane, his kinsmen and servants to come to the king’s presence
at Stirling, to be of force for 40 days. 12 April 1510.”

Same records and volume, folio 72, may be found a *“ precept for charter
of apprising to Duncan Stewart of Appin, over the lands and castle of Dowart,
apprised from Lachlan MeGilleon of Dowart for 4500 merks due to the said
Duncan: reserving to the said Lachlan power to redecem within 7 years.
8 April 1510.”

3. Testimony of writers. The testimony of impartial writers, who have
made the official records of Scotland a special study, is of some weight. By
far the best and most authentic history of Scotland is that written by P. F.
Tytler, which originally appeared in eight volumes between the years 1828
and 1843. In Volume IL., page 294,% he states it was Lachlan Macl.can that
fell at Flodden. Keltie, in History of the Highland Clans (Vol. 1L, p. 224),
says, “ Lachlan MacLean was chief of Dowart in 1502;”" and again, ‘¢ Lachlan
MacLecan of Dowart was killed at Flodden.” MacKenzie, in his History of
the MacDonalds (p. 126), names Lachlan MacLean as chief of Duard in 1502.
On page 136, he mentions Lachlan MacLean as being killed at Flodden ; but
on the opposite page (137), he says it was “the brave Hector Odhar, chief of
the MacLeans.”

The scanachaidhs involve us in another difficulty. From the death of

* Nimmo's edition of 1887.
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Hector Roy MacLean at the battle of the Harlaw, in 1411, to the death of
Hector Odhar at Flodden, in 1513, we have only the following chiefs: Lachlan
Bronnach, Lachlan Og, and Hector Odhar, or three chiefs covering a period of
one hundred and two years, and one of them not too old for battle. The
average of the lordship would be thirty-four years, which would be rather ex- .
traordinary for feudal times.

To offset the above records, facts, and conclusions, we have only the
word of the seanachaidhs, and those who have quoted from them without
investigation.

It comes with considerable force that the chieftainship of the brave Lach-
lan has been purposely suppressed. We can account for it only upon the
assumption that he was born out of wedlock. This need not necessarily throw
doubt on the marriage of Ilector Odhar; for, as the seanachaidhs claim, he
married a daughter of MacIntosh, chicf of the clan Chattan, and by her there
was no issue. The chieftainship of his illegitimate son, Lachlan, being sup-
pressed, his marriage would likewise share the same fate. To cover up these
facts might have pleased the immediate successors of Lachlan.

Lachlan inherited the whole domain that had been confirmed to his father,
Hector Odhar, in 1495, which gave him possessions in Mull and Tiree, with
detached lands in the isles of Islay, Jura, Secarba, ete., and certain districts in
Morvern, Knapdale, and Lochaber. And moreover, he was heritable keeper
of the following castles: Duard, in Mull; Cairnburg, in the Treshnish Isles;
Dunconnell, in Scarba; Dunkerd, in the Garvelloch Tslés; and Isleborg, the
locality of which is uncertain.*

After the suppression of the rebellion of Donald Dhu, in 1506, justice
was administered throughout the kingdom with great impartiality, and in the
Highlands, in a manner before unknown, which lasted during the remainder of
the reign of James IV. The king became very popular among the leading
Islanders.

In 1513, James IV. determined upon an invasion of England, and sum-
moned the whole array of his kingdom to meet on the common moor of Edin-
burgh. In obedience to the command, an army of one hundred thousand men
assembled. On August 22d, with this great force, James crossed the border;
but instead of advancing and at onee achieving success, he lingered in the
neighborhood of the Tweed until his force was reduced by desertion to thirty
thousand men. On September 6th, he took up his position on Flodden Hill,

# Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 69.
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“the last and lowest eminence of the Cheviots toward the north-east. On the
morning of the 9th, the English army, numbering thirty-two thousand, under*
the Earl of Surrey, advanced from the south-east, and by a skillful movemett
cut off all commnnication between James and Scotland. The Scottish army
advanced against the English in battle array, each army drawn up in a similar
manner, which consisted of a center, a right and left wing, and a reserve
placed behind the center. The left wing of the Scottish army, commanded by
the Earls of Huntly and Home, charged the English right and entirely de-
feated it. Instead of following up the success, Home’s borderers gave them-
selves up to pillaging both armies; and Huntly, after the first charge, is said
to have deserted the ficld. In the center, the king placed himself in frout of
his lancers and billmen, surrounded by his nobles. The first consequence of
this was so furious a charge upon the English center that its ranks were
broken. ¢ On the right the divisions led by the earls of Lennox and Argyle
were composed chiefly of the Highlanders and Islesmen; the Campbells, Mac-
Lean, MacLeods, and other hardy clans, who were dreadfully galled by the
discharge of the English archers. Unable to reach the enemy with their
broadswords and axes, which formed their only weapons, and at no time very
amenable to discipline, their squadrons began to run fiercely forward, eager
for closer fight, and thoughtless of the fatal consequences of breaking their
array. . . . They found, however, an enemy in Sir Edward Stanley,
whose coolness was not to be surprised in this manner. The squares of
English pikemen stood to their ground; and althongh for a moment the shock
of the mountaineers was terrible, its force once sustained became spent with
its own violence, and ngthing remained but a disorganization so complete that
to reeover their ranks was impossible. The consequence was a total rout of
the right wing of the Scots, accompanied by a dreadful slanghter, in which
amid other brave men, the earls of Lennox and Argyle were slain.  Yet, not-
withstanding this defeat on the right, the center, under the king, still main-
tained an obstinate and dubious conflict with the earl of Surrey. The
determined personal valor of James, imprudent as it was, had the effect of
rousing to a pitch of desperate courage the meanest of the private soldiers,
and the ground becoming soft-and slippery from blood, they pulled off their
boots and shoes, and sccurr;d a firmer footing by fighting in their hose. No
quarter was given on either side; and the combatants were disputing every
inch of ground, when Stanley, without losing his time in pursuit of the Iigh-
landers, drew back his division, and impetuously charged the rear of the

Scottish center. It was now late in the evening, and this movement was de-
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cisive. Pressed on the flank by Dacre and the admiral, opposed in front by
Surrey, and now attacked in the rear by Stanley, the king’s battle fought with
fearful odds against it; yet James continued by his voice and his gestures to
animate his soldiers, and the combat was still uncertain when he fell pierced
with an arrow and mortally wounded in the head by a bill, within a few paces
from the English earl, his antagonist. The death of their sovereign seemed
only to animate the fury of the Scottish nobles, who threw themselves into a
circle round the body, and defended it till darkness scparated the combatants.”
The Scots withdrew from the field during the night, leaving their artillery
behind them. The English loss was eight thousand, and the Scottish ten

thousand men. Of the Scottish Joss, “a great proportion were of high rank;
the remainder being composed of the gentry, the farmers, and landed yeo-
manry, who disdained to fly when their sovereign and his nobles lay stretched
in heaps around them. Amongst the slain were thirteen ecarls—Crawford,
Montrose, Huntly, Lennox, Argyle, Errol, Athole, Morton, Cassillis, Bothwell,
Rothes, Caithness, and Glencairn, the king’s natural son; the archbishop of
St. Andrews, the bishops of Caithuess and the Isles, the abbots of Inchaffray
and Kilwinning, and the dean of Glasgow. To these we must add fifteen
lords and chiefs of clans: amongst whom were Sir Duncan Campbell of
Glenurcha, Lachlan MacLean of Duard, Campbell of Lawers, and five peers’
eldest sons, besides La Motte, the French ambassador, and the secretary of

the king. . The names of the gentry who fell are too numerous for recapitula-
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tion, since there wer€ few families of note in Scotland which. did not lose one
relative or another, whilst some houses had to weep the death of all. It is
from this cause that the sensations of sorrow and national lamentation occa-
sioned by the defeat were peculiarly poignant and lasting.” *

As noted in the foregoing, the chief of MacLean, who had become the
most powerful in the Hebrides sinee the forfeiture of the Lords of the Tsles,
mustered his forces and was with the army on the fatal field of I'lodden. The
Pennycross manuscript says that this brave chief, ¢ seeing the king in danger
from the English archers, interposed himself and received in his body the

»” If this account be correct, then after the

arrows leveled at his sovereign.
defeat of the Scottish right wing, of which Lachlan and his clansmen formed
a part, he, with his forces, must have hasténed to the assistance of the eenter.
The account published by Seneachie (1838, p. 25), states: “ It is said, before
he fell, that the dead bodies of his clansmen, who flocked about their chief to
shield him from the overwhelming numbers by which he was assailed, literally
formed a wall around him.”
XI. Lachlan Catanach, Eleventh Chief of MacLean.

" The death of Lachlan at Flodden placed Lachlan Catanach at the head of
the clan. Owing to a want of clearness on the part of the documents in the
official archives of Scotland, and looseness of statement on the part of the
seanachaidhs, we arc in some difficulties relating to this chieftain, Some of
these difficulties are necessarily cleared up in the statements offered in the
previous section. It may be assumed that he was a legitimate son of Lachlan,
the illegitimate son of Hector Odhar. On the assumption that he was the son
of Hector, it has been declared that he received the appellation Catanach from
~ his mother’s people, and with them—Clan Chattan—he lived a great many
years. I think what I have stated in the previous section, already referred to,
does away with this assumption. The word catanach not only means ¢ one of
the Clan Chattan,” but also hatiry, rough, shaggy ; hence he was called Lachlan
the Shaggy. He was cradled in troublous times; but whether he took any
part in the expeditions of his father or grandfather, the seanachaidhs have
borne no testimony. As they have passed so lightly over the lives of Lachlan
Bronnach and Lachlan Og, and preserved so little about Hector Odhar, and
nothing whatever concerning Lachlan, who fell at Flodden Field, it is not
singular that Lachlan Catanach should fail to receive due attention at their
hands. What they have preserved presents difficulties which are hard to

* Tytler’s History of Scotland, Vol. 11., pp. 2924,
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anravel. But fortunately, we are not left to their m®ey; for the official -
records of Seotland, and what has been preserved in the history of other clans,
leave us a full aceount from the time of his chieftainship to that of his death,

. . . - i
although some parts are far from being elear.  The official archives and eontem- .

porary history show him to have been active, brave, and fearless, yet possess-
ing a degree of cunning not usually given to man. His influenee over the
clansmen was as great as that possessed by any of his predecessors, and which
never wavered.

In the rebellion which immediately broke out after the battle of Flodden,
Lachlan Catanach appears to have been the prime mover, as well as the prin-
cipal leader. The design of this rebellion was to place Sir Donald Guallda on
the Island throne. Donald, while still a youth, had been seized by James IV.
in one of his northern expeditions, and retained in the royal houschold, where -
he became a favorite of that monarch. Ilaving eseaped from the field of
Flodden, he returned to his northern home, where immediately a plan was
formed to restore the aneient principality of the Isles in the person of Sir
Alexander MacDonald of Lochalsh, Donald’s brother. During the month of
November, Sir Donald, with a large body of Highlanders, marched to Urqu--
hart, expelled the garrison from the castle, seized the stronghold, and laid
waste the surrounding country. While these operations were going on in the
North, Lachlan Catanach, assisted by the MaeLeans of Lochbuy and Alrdgour,
stormed and seized the eastle of Cairnburg, and put the garrison to the sword.
Soon after, with the assistance of Alexander MacLeod of Dunvegan, possessed
himself of the castle of Dunskaich, in Skye, and afterward demolished it as a
plaee of proteetion. Its gray ruins may still be seen, bearing evidence of its
ancient greatness and strength.

All who resisted the authority of the new Lord of the Isles were threat-
ened with the extremity of fire and sword. The successes so rapidly aceom-
plished drew other clans into the rebellion, and soon after Sir Donald was
proelaimed Lord of the Isles. To suppress this rebellion, Colin Campbell,
Earl of Argyle, reeeived a commission to eonvocate as many subjects as might
be necessary to proeeed against MaeLean and his associates.* Other individ-
uals were commissioned to act in the northern shires. Letters were addressed
by the council to all the chiefs on the mainland adjaeent to the Isles, command-
ing them to resist with their utmost power all Islanders who should land within
their territories with hostile intent. Notwithstanding the preparations made

* Gregory's Western Highlanders. p. 115,
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by the government, many of the most powerful familics, especially the Mac-
Leans, MacLeods, and the Clan Ian Mhor of Islay, resolutely persisted in
their efforts to establish an independent sovereignty. Iowever, after much
delay, consisting of an‘interval of tumult and predatory warfare, the insurgents
submitted, and, upon assurances of protection, came to court and arranged in
person the terms upon which they were to be pardoned and restored to favor.
On 6th September, 1515, Lachlan MacLean reecived a respite for taking the
castle of Cairnburg, which was good until the following January* Colin
Campbell, thirfl Earl of Argyle, having ravaged the island of Bute, and Mae-
Kenzie of Kintail, having scized the royal castle of Dingwall, took out
remissions. Apparently all disturbances were at an end. The reconciliation
of Sir Donald, who still retained much power in the Isles, appeared complete,
in so much so that, on the 24th September, 1516, he was summoned to join the
royal army, then about to proceed to the borders. Some months afterward,
he fell under suspicion of the government. Through the intrigues of English
emissaries, he fell into the treasonable practices of Lord Home, which brought
that nobleman to the block.

In 1517, Sir Donald was again in rebellion, with Lachlan Catanach Mae-
Lean and MacLecod of Lewis for leaders. He gave out to the Islanders the
false impression “that the licutenancy of the Isles, and various other offices
belonging to the crown, had been bestowed upon him by the regent and
council. Sir Donald succeceded at first in raising a considerable body of men,
with which he expelled Maclan from Ardnamurchan, and took possession of
the castle of Mingarry. Although repecatedly charged, by order of the
council, to deliver up the castle and lands to the rightful owners, he not ounly
refused, but, in defiance of the government, he razed the castle of Mingarry
to the ground, and ravaged the whole district of Ardnamurchan with fire and
sword. Meantime, his chief leaders found that he had deceived them, and
that his intention was to lay waste, instead of protecting, the lands of which
he professed to have received the control. They became disgusted, too, with
his refusal to follow their advice, and with the reckless character of his pro-
ceedings (for the dangerous consequences, cither to himself or his followers,
however obvious they might be, could not terrify him, or divert him from his
insane projects), and at length, taking the matter into their own hands, deter-
mined on' apprehending him, and delivering him up to the regent. ~Sir Donald,
however, being made aware of their design, effected his escape; but his two

* Registrum Seereti Sigilli, Vol. V., fol. 12,



68 Il1sTrory oF THE CranN MacLEeax.

brothers were made prisoners by MacLean of Duard and MacLeod of Dunve-
gan, who hastened to offer their submission and palliate their own conduct.” *

Early in 1517, the MacLeans of Duard and Lochbuy, MacLeod of Harris,
and the Earl of Argyle presented petitions to the privy council, and making
suggestions and certain offers regarding the affairs of the Isles. These peti-
tions are separate and distinet, but must have been made after mutual con-
sultation, for all are uniform regarding the suppression of the rebellion.
These state papers are important, because they throw much light upon the
history and manners of that period, and merit particular notice. Argyle de-
manded that he should be invested with very high powers over the men of the
Isles, « for the honor of the realm and the common-weal in time commg.” He
desired a commission of licutenandry over all the Isles and adjacent main-
land, on the grounds of the vast expense he had previously incurred, of his
ability to do good service in the future, and of his having broken up the con-

federacy of the Islanders. The commission was granted to him, with the

exception of the territories belonging to Huntly in Lochaber, the Clan Chattan, .

and Ewin Allanson, and the isles of Bute and Arran. The commission was
limited to three years, or further at the regent’s pleasure. He further claimed
and obtained authority to receive into the king’s favor all the men of the Isles
who should make submission, exeept Sir Donald of the Isles, his brothers, and
the Clandonald. IIe further demanded and received power to pursue the
rebels with fire and sword, to expel them from the Isles, and use his best en-
deavors to possess himself of Sir Donald’s castle of Strome in Lochearron.t

As so many animadversions have been cast upon Lachlan Catanach Mac-
Lean’s petition, I herewith give the record, which is the first time it has ever
been printed in full, with decision of the counecil:

“To Lauchlane Makeclanis desiris of Dowfart. In the first anent the remissioun
desiryt be him to his self kynnismen seruandis frendis and portakars that is Donald
Makalane Gillonan Makmaknele of Barry Nele Makynunon of Mesnes Dwnsleif Makeura
of Ulway and Lauchlan McEwin of Ardgour for all crimes be past.

The lordis counsalis that my lord governour grant this remission and gif the samyn
the said Makclane gevand plegis sufficient sic as the governour and counsale sall devise
and mene be thair names for gude reule in tyme cuming.

Anent the hundreth merk landis of the 1le of Tery and utheris landis in the Mule
to the said soume desirit be Muakeclane for the inbringing of the Kingis malis in all placis
within the Row, Ardnamurquhan, exceptand samekill as partenis to Makeane for quhilk
he sall answer.

The lordis understandis that the Kingis landis may nocht be givin in heretage

* Gregory's Western Highlanders, p. 118. 1 Acta Dominorum Concilii, Vol, XXIX,, fol. 82;
also, Gregory’s Western Ilighlanders, p. 121.
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notyeles for the gude service done be the said Lauchlnne MceClane and to be done coun-
salis the governour to sutfer the said Lauchlane to intromett and uptake the proffeitis
pertenyng to the King ot the said Ile of Tere to his awn wti/te induring my lord gover-
nouris administration with condition that the said Lauchlane answer and cans the Kingis
servitouris to be answerit zerlie to the Kingis grace and his servitouris according to his
Rentale of the said boundis and gevand cautionn tharfor.

Anent the service of the tennentis of the Kingis Grace desirit be the said Lauchlane

the lordis counsalis my lord governour grant to him the service of thai tennentis of the

. Kingis quhilk his forbearis as he had grantit to thame of befoir of the King and to do
him service in his just materis the Kingis grace my lord governour and the Erll of
Ergile lieutenent exceppit.

Anent the generall acquittans desirit be the said Lauchlane of all malis fermes and
dewiteis pertenyng to the King oure Souerane of Tere Mul Ylay and Germarry intromet-
tit be the said Lauchlane.

The lordis thinkis and counsalis the governour to gif this discharge with condition
that gif the said Lauchlane failzeis hereftir to the Kingis grace or inbringing of his malis
and answering thairintill according to the kingis rentale the samyn discharge to stand of
nane avale to him.

As to the landis of Mul and utheris landis that the said Lauchlane had of befoir of
the Kingis grace now desirit in fewferm be him.

The lordis counsalis my lord governour to latt thame stand in tak to the said Lanch-
lane as he had thame sen the Kingis landis may nocht be gevin in heretage the said
Lauchlane fynd and cautioun for payment of the malis and dewities of the said landis.

As to the jvstifying of Donaldis twa brethir and forfactonr aganis the said Donald
the temporale lordis will shaw my lord governour thair mynde quhilkis temporale lordis
that is to say Huntlie Levinax Drummond Ogelby Balwery and Kers referris to my lord
governour quhat he thinkis to be done with the saidis personis. Aund the remanent of
my saidis lordis temporale that is to say Ergile Cassillis Erskin Borthnick Avendale Lees

Kincavil Capitan of the Castel Comptrollare and Otterburn deliveris the saidis personis
. -to be justifvt eftir thair demeritis.

The lordis counsalis my lord governour to admit any resignatioun of landis or officis
maid in his handis be resignatioun personaly maid be the possessouris in favouris of the
said Launchlane and to gif him infeftment thairof referrand the samin resignationn and
infeftment to my lord gouvernouris plessonr.

Lacnvuaxe Makuaxe oF Dowarp
Wty hand on ye pen.” *

.

John MacLean of Lochbuy and Alexander MacLeod of Harris demanded
and received remission for themselves and for their followers on giving up
- hostages; but MacLeod demanded in addition a heritable grant of the lands

| _of Trouterness, in Skye, but was continued as king’s tenant as formerly.
The extensive power granted to Argyle and MacLean was more nominal

than real.

The severity cast upon Lachlan Catanach for his demand for the execu-
tion of Sir Donald’s brothers is inconsiderate, in singling him out and placing

the entire censure upon him. ,Let the following points be fully considered :

[}

\
# Aeta Dominorum Concilii, Vol. XXIX, fol. 130.
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1. Let it be admitted that the demand was eruel, yet Argyle should be
brought under the same censure, for he demanded and received power to grant
remission to all rebels exeept ¢ Sir Donald of the Tlis his brethir and clan and
clan-donale,” and the last he was to pursue with ¢ fire and sword.” 2. The
lords of eouncil away from the seene of action, and uninflueneed by any per-
sonal injury, recommended that the two brothers of Sir Donald should be put
to death. Of this matter Gregory says :* “In regard to the execution of the
two brothers the eouneil were divided in opinion; the majority being in favor
of capital punishment, while the others wished the matter to be left entirely
to the regent; and, although it can not be positively affirmed, there is reason
to think that the opinion of the majority prevailed.” If Lachlan should
come under the ban, the others should not be spared. 3. Lachlan MacLean
labored under great provoeation. Sir Donald had intentionally deeeived him,
as already noted, and besides had refused to take counsel regarding his insane
and reckless proceedings. Under pretense of obeying the government, Lach-
lan went innocently into rebellion. It was enough to exasperate the leaders,
and eause them to resort to strong measures. 4. Was the demand of Lachlan
any worse than many a sober act perpetrated by the throne, or in the name
of the regent, and by those in elose intimaey with the government, not only
during that particular period, but later, as well as in former times ? 5. Lachlan
was unable to write his own name, thus being eonstantly exposed to deception
by designing men. The whole document shows the handiwork of Colin Camp-
bell, third Earl of Argyle. How far he may have deceived Lachlan will never
be known ; that he was eapable of it his character amply testifies. Proof of
this will be adduced in its proper place.

The official records show that on September 6, 1515, ¢ Lachlane Mak-
clane of Doward and Alister Makcloid of Dunvegan, and their people, received
a respite, for besieging and taking of the King’s castles of Carnebog and Duns-
kaith, and assisting Donald Ilis of Lochalsh, and other treasonable deeds; to
endure till 1st January next.” ¥

“Tack to Lauchlen Maklane of Doward of the King’s lands of Mull and
Murwerne for 11 years. 8 March 1516-17.7 1

¢ Letter in favor of said Lauchlan giving him power to raise and gather
all the tenants who obeyed him before in the time of the late King, for the
weal of the Kingdom, and the just quarrels of the said Lauchlan, éxcepting

* Western Ilighlands, p. 123. .TRegistrum Secreti Sigilli, Vol. V., fol. 12. i Ibid., Vol. V.,
fol. 100.
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lence ; for the Laird of Duard, being in Edinburgh, was surprised, when in
bed, and assassinated by Sir John Campbell of Calder, the lady’s brother.”
The above is generally eonsidercd as the authoritative account. The fol-
lowing differs materially, and never has been printed before. It was related
-to me by the present chief, Sir Fitzroy Donald MacLean, Bart., who heard it
in Mull.  Argyle’s daughter did not desire to marry MacLean, for she had a
youthful lover at Inverary. But having considered the matter fully, she
thought by marrying the Lord of Duard she might gain sueh an influence
over him as in the end would succeed in enriching the estates of her brother.
With this view she consented to become the wife of Lachlan. From her lover

she would not be parted, so he was disguised as a monk, and passed for her

confessor. In the passage across the Firth of Lorn, an attendant, belonging
to the house of Macl.ean, suspicioning something from their aetions, pulled
off the cowl from the head of the would-be monk, and thus exposed the youth.
When the birlinn arrived at Duard Castle, Macl.ean was in the midst of his
orgies. lle was accustomed to sleep with a sharp sword by his side; to this

she strongly objected, which made him very angry. She now commenced to

plot for the betrayal of the lands of MacLean into the hands of Argyle.

This, as well as the youth disguised as a monk, was duly reported to the
Lord of Duard, which caused much disturbance. MacLean was called one day
away from the castle, and while he was gone his two foster-brothers, thinking
to do him a favor, seized Elizabeth, and left her on the roek to perish. From
this perilous position she was rescued by a passing boat of the MacLeans,
and who, knowing the domestic infelicity of the couple, carried her to
Inverary.

The version as preserved by the Pennycross manuseript differs from all
others:  Lachlan was a few years married, but had no child by her, on which
she made every attempt to alienate the estate of Duard from the family in
favor of her brother John, who a little before then had married Marellia,
daughter of Calder of Calder by whom he got that estate. Lady Elizabeth,
ﬁndmrr her husband not to be wrought upon to transfer his family estate,
made an attempt to poison him with cavalle she had made for him. On ae-
count of this, she was left on the rock, known still by the name of ¢ Lady’s
Rock.” Her brother, Colin, earl of Argyle, ever after kept her under a sort
of confinement, and she was even struck out in the family genealogy * from
amongst her sisters.” This statement doubtless is the most authentic.

*George Crawford’s notes on the MS genealugy of the family of Argyle,
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bell failed to obtain the estate of MacLean through treachery of his sister;
for an opportunity for assassination had presented itself before. The char-
acter of Argyle points to him as either leader or privy to the assassination.
It is undeniable that it was considered by the Argyle family that Lachlan
must be put out of the way. Ience, assassination was resorted to. That
Colin Campbell, third Earl of Argyle, was capable of resorting to this, 1s
proved by his general character. Gregory says* that in 1529 it dawned
upon the king and council that Colin, third Earl of Argyle, who held the
office of royal licutenant, had sceretly fomented the disturbances in the Isles,
in hopes of benefiting by the forfeitures which were expected to follow.
Tytier t says: “The Earl of Argyle, who, holding the high office of governor
of the Isles, was frequently tempted to represent any attack upo‘n himself or
his adherents as a rebellion against the authority of the sovereign.”

The murder of a chicf so popular as Lachlan Catanach, of necessity
would not go long unavenged. About this time Alexander MacDonald of
Islay, smarting under the sense of injustice done him by Argyle, through an
invidious attempt to appropriate his lands, was ready for open rebellion. The
two clans—MacLean and MacDonald—readily joined together; the former to
avenge the death of their chief, and the latter to resent a gross injustice.
The combined clans, equipped for war, made a descent upon Roseneath, Craig-
nish, and other lands belonging to the Campbells, which they ravaged with
fire and sword, killing at the same time many of the inhabitants. The
Campbells, on the other hand, retaliated with equal ferocity, and the isles of
Mull, Tiree, with the wide district of Morvern, were abandoned to indiscrimi-
nate plunder. The Campbells, however, were worsted, for by August of 1529
Sir John Campbell, the murderer of Lachlan, on behalf of his brother, the
Earl of Argyle, appealed to the council for powers of an extraordinary nature,
to enable him to restore the peace of the country. He wanted all the sub-
stantial householders in the shires of Dumbarton and Renfrew, and the bail-
liaries of Oarrich, Kyle, and Cunningham commanded to meet Argyle, with
provisions for twenty days. The council refused to issue the order, on ac-
count of the harvest, but gave direction for a cannon, two falconets, and
three barrels of powder to be forwarded from Dumbarton, should it be nec-
essary to besiege any of the strongholds of the Isles. The council, having
its suspicions fully aroused concerning Argyle, sent a minion to Alexander

of Islay, to summon him and his followers to lay down their arms under

* Western Highlands, p. 189. t History of Scotland, Vol. I1., p. 349.
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pain of treason; and also to treat with that chief about coming under pro-
tection. The mission was unsuccessful, and but little progress was made
during the next six months; but in the spring of 1530, preparations were
made on an extensive scale for bringing the clans into subjection. *T'he tenants
of the Isles, according to a roll of them placed in Argyle’s hands, were to
be summoned to come to the king’s presence, upon the 24th of May, ‘to
commune with his majesty for good rule of the Isles.” They were likewise
to be prohibited from giving any assistance to the rebels, or from convocating
the king’s lieges in arms, under the pain of treason; which the men of
Carrick, Kyle, and Cunningham, of Balquhidder, Braidalbane, Rannoch,
Apnadull, Athole, Menteith, Butt, and Arran, were to be charged, under high
penalties, to join the king’s lieutenant at such places as he should appoint,
and to continue with him in the service for a month; and the burgs of Ayr,
Irvine, Glasgow, Renfrew, and Dumbarton, were to send their boats with
provisions for the army, for which payment was to be made. In case any of
the Islemen should be afraid to trust themselves in the low country, they were
offered protections for their coming to the king, and for thirty days additional,
to admit of their returning home safe.

“These preparations produced some effect. In the month of May, nine of
the principal Islanders—Hector MacLean of Duard, John MacLean of Loch-
buy, John Moydertach, captain of the Clanranald, Alexander Maclan of Ard-
namurchan, Alexander MacLeod of Harris, the Laird of Coll (MacLean), John
MacLeod of Lewis, and Donald Gruamach of Dunskaich—sent by the hands of
* Hector MacLean of Duard, one of their number, offers of submission to the
king, who immediately granted them a protection against Argyle and any oth-
ers, provided they wounld come to Edinburgh, or wherever the king should hap-
pen to be holding court, before the 20th June, and remain as long as his majesty .
should require their attendance; it being always understood that the protec-
tion was to last for twenty days after their departure from the Highlands. As
an additional security for their safety in coming and going, the king promised
to take two of the following hostages from the Earl of Argyle: Duncan Camp-
bell of Glenurchy, Archibald Campbell of Auchinbreck, Archibald Campbell
of Skipnish, and Duncan Campbell of I]an.gerig, who were to be confined in
Edinburgh Castle. Colin, Earl of Argyle, dying in this year, was succeeded
by his son Archibald, fourth earl, who immediately took the oath of allegiance
to the king, and was appointed to all the offices held by his father and grand-
father. Meantime, owing to the sickness and death of the late carl, the king’s

service in the Isles had remained stationary; and, in the month of November,
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it was resolved that the king should proceed in person against the rebels in
the following April, which term was afterward altered to the first of June;
and, in contemplation of the royal expedition, various important arrangements
were made. . . . Finally, a parliament was summoned to meet at Edin-
burgh on the 24th of April, to pass sentence of forfeiture against the Islemen

wlio should then continue disobedient.

“Alexander of Islay hastened to open a communication with the king, as.
y P g

soon as he became aware of the magnitude of the royal expedition; and, hav-
ing received a protection and safeguard, he came to his majesty at Stirling,
made his submission, and was received into favor upon certain conditions.
The same course was pursued by Hector MacLean of Duard; and, as these
chiefs had been the principal leaders of the insurgents, the rebellion might
now be looked upon as nearly at an end.” *

The king found it necessary to deprive Archibald Campbell, fourth Earl
of Argyle, of the chief command of the Isles, and confer the same upon
Alexander of Islay, which cansed Argyle, with the whole strength of his
vassals and retainers, to throw himself into the arms of England.§

XII. Hector Mor., Twelfth Chief of MacLean.

Lachlan Catanach was succeeded as chieftain and Lord of Duard by his
son Eachann, better known as Hector Mér, or Heetor the Great, in 1527. e
is described by the seanachaidhs as being good, kind, affectionate, and brave,
an accomplished politician and an approved warrior; and that in him the elan
realized all it desired in a noble chieftain. T'o most of his vassals he granted
extended leases, by way of encouragement in the improvement of lands and
the building of more comfortable dwellings. e lived altogether, while per-
mitted to do so by his tronblesome neighbors with which he was surrounded,
more like a noble of modern times than a feudal baron. He made many im-
provements on the demesne of Duard; and was the founder of that noble
addition to Duard Castle called the Great Tower. His alliance was courted
by many of the powerful lords; and the king thought it of importance to
secure his loyalty by calling him into his council. Hence, we find him taking
his seat in parliament as one of the lords of the kingdom.

In private life his character was above reproach, and in his warlike pur-.
suits he acted upon that system which lad legal sanction. His domestic

establishment was conducted with becoming splendor ; he provided handsomely

# Gregory’s Western Highlands, pp. 132-186 ; see Mackenzie's History of the MacDonalds,
pp- 189-162; also, Tytler's History of Seotlund, Vol. 1L, p. 850. TSee Tytler’s History of Scot-
land, Vol. 11, p. 352
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for his daughters, who were all married to leading men in the kingdom ; and
he left to his son and heir an unburdened estate, with a considerable amount
of money. 4

However much inclined Hector Mér may have been to the arts of peace,
yet in feudal times, with invidious foes and warlike preparations around him,
it was impossible for the chief of MacLean to be an idle spectator. It has
already been narrated how he avenged the murder of his father. TFor the part
he took in burning the houses of Roseneath, Lennox, and Craignish, he re-
ceived a remission on June 8,1531.% He had previously received a letter
(Edinburgh, June 1, 1827), “ charging the Sheriff of Inverness to command
Colin Campbell, earl of Argyle, Sir John~ Campbell of Calder, Knight, his
brother, and their accomplices, that they make no hosting, convocation of the
leiges, or invasion upon the said Hector, his kin and friends.” ¢

For sowme reason, the nature of which is now unknown, a feud broke out
between the Macl.eans of’Lochbuy and those of Duard, about the year 1537,
during which John Og MacLean of Lochbuy and his two elder sons were
killed. The old feud between the Camerons and MacLeans was renewed, but
could not have been of mueh moment, for we only receive a trace of it.

The Western Isles were not only subjected to the strifes of the avaricious
at court, but also to unwise actions upon the part of rulers. In 1540, James
V. determined upon an imposing expedition to the Western Isles. During his
minority, the northern districts and western islands had not only beén griev-
ously neglected, but, in a measure, had been reduced to a deplorable state.
So the king determined to visit the territory in person, overawe the rebellious
chiefs, enforce obedience to the laws, and reduce within the limits of order
and good government that portion of his dominion; and to accomplish this
purpose, he fitted out a fleet of twelve ships, amply furnished with artil-
lery, provided for a long journey, and commanded by the most skillful
mariners in the kingdom. This powerful fleet quitted the Firth of Forth
toward the end of May. After passing the Orkneys, the expedition sailed
“to the coast of Sutherland for the purpose of seizing Donald MacKay of
Strathnaver, which was effected with difficulty. Thence the fleet proceeded to
the isle of Lewis, where Ruari MacLeod, with his principal kinsmen, met the
king, and were made to accompany him in his further progress. The west
coast of the isle of Skye was next visited, and Alexander of Dunvegan, lord
of that part of the island, was constrained to embark in the royal fleet.

* Reg. Sec. Sig., Vol. 1X,, fol. 18, 1 Ibid , Vol. V1, fol. 66.
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Coasting round by the north of Skye, the king then came to the district of
Trouterness, so lately desolated by the chief of Sleat. Here various chief-
tains, claiming their descent from the ancient lord of the Isles, came to meet
their sovereign—particularly John Moydertach, captain of the Clanranald,
Alexander of Glengarry, and others of ¢MacConeyllis kin.” These chieftains
probably hoped to secure the royal favor by coming to meet the king before
the course of lis voyage led him to their own districts. From Trouterness,
James proceeded, by the coast of Ross, to Kintail, where he was joined by
the chicf of the .\IacKenzies; and then sailing southwards by the Sound of
Sleat, he visited, in succession, the isles of Mull and Islay, and the districts
of Kintyre and Knapdale, taking with him, on his departure, Hector MacLean
of Duard, and James MacDonald of Islay, the two principal leaders of the
South Isles. He then landed at Dumbarton, but sent the fleet, with the cap-
tive chiefs on board, back to Edinburgh, by the route followed in coming to
the Isles.” Having the chiefs in his power, he exacted such terms from them
as he thought would be necessary to maintain obedience. Some of the chiefs
were liberated by giving hostages, but others were detained until after the
king’s death, “and were then only liberated by a piece of state policy.” *

As might have been anticipated, this violent seizure of the chieftains
would necessarily result in exasperating them, although they might repress
their resentment for a time. Two years afterward James V. died in the
flower of his age, and was succeeded by his infant daughter, the unfortunate
Mary, during whose reign, and the regency preceding, Scotland was distracted
by foreign aggression, domestic feuds, and unscrupulous factions.

In 1543, Dorald Dubh, who had been in hopeless captivity for nearly
forty years, again managed to effect his escape. On his arrival in the Isles,
he was received with enthusiasm by the same clans which had supported him
in 1506; and, with their assistance, he at once commenced preparations for
the expulsion of the Earls of Argyle and Huntly from their unholy acquisi-
tions in the lordship of the Isles during his long imprisonment.

In all the documents illustrative of the proceedings of Donald, we ﬁnd
that Lennox was acknowledged by the Islesmen to be the true regent and sec-
ond person of the realm of Scotland; and, on this account, they became en-
tangled in the interests of England.

With the advice of the chieftains, Donald opened negotiations with the

* Gregory's Western Highlands, p. 147; see also MacKenzie's IIL'stm'y' of the MacDonalds,
p. 171; also, Tytler’s History of Seotland, Vol. 1., p. 366.
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Earl of Lennox through Rory MacAlister, bishop elect of the Isles, and Pat-
rick MacLean. The document, dated July 28, 1545, is a diplomatic curiosity,
and presents the interesting fact that not one of the signers was able to write
his own name. It also shows what gross injustice they were forced to labor

under :

“ Quhairfor, your Lordships sall considder we have beyne auld enemys to the realme
of Scotland, and quhien they had peasche with ye kings hienis, thei hanged. hedit, pres-
oned, and destroied many of our kyn, friendis, and forbearis, as testifies be our Master,
th’ Evle of Ross, now the king's grace’s subject, ye quhilk hath lyin in presoun afoir he
was borne of his moder, and is not releiffit with their will, bot now laitlie be ye grace of
God. In lykewise, the Lord Maclain's fader was cruellie murdressit, under traist, in his
bed, in the town of Edinbruch, be Sir John Campbell of Calder, brudir to th' Erll of Ar-
gyle. The capitane of Clanranald, this last zeir ago, in his defens, slew the Lord Lovett,
his son-in-law, his three brethren, with xiii scoir of men; and many uther crewell slach-
ter, burnying, and herschip that hath beyn betwix us and the xaidis Scottis, the quhilk
war lang to wryte. Hector Maclane, lord of Doward; .Johne Macallister, capitane of
Clanranald; Rorye Macleod of Lewis; Alexander Macleod of Dumbeggane; Murdoch
Maclane of Lochbuy; Angus Maconnill; Alane Maclane of Turloske, brudir germane to
the Lord Maclane; Archibald Maconnill, capitane of Clan ouston; Alexander Mac-
keyn of Ardnamurchane; Jhone Maclane of Coll; Gilliganan Macneill of Barray; Ewin
Macinnon of Straguhordiil; Jhone Macquorre of Ulway; Jhone Maclane of Ardgour,
Alexander Ranaldsoun of Glengarrie; Angus Ranaldsoun of Knwdort; Donald Mac-
lane of Kengariloch.” *

The commissioners were well received, and the terms offered by themn
were accepted by the King of England, who, as a proof of his sincerity, soon
remitted a considerable sum of money to the Isles, which was placed in the
hands of the chief of MacLean to enable him to carry on the war with vigor.
Counsiderable assistance otherwise, in the way of men as well as of money,
appears to have been afforded by the English king.

“On the 5th of August, the lords and barons of the Isles were at Knock-
fergus in Ireland, with a force of four thousand men, and a hundred and eighty
galleys; when, in presence of two commissioners, sent by the earl of Lenunox,
and of the constable, mayor, and magistrates of that town, they took the oath
of allegiance to the king of England, ¢at the command of the said earl of
Lennox.””

The death of Donald Dubh, in 1545, left no claimant to the Lordship of
the Isles. The Islanders, after a while, chose James MacDonald of Islay, as
their leader—a chieftain whose pretentions to the Lordship of the Isles were
much inferior to those of Donald Gorm of Sleat. However, he was opposed

by many who had been the strongest supporters of Donald Dubh—such as the

* Tytler's History of Scotland, Vol. 11, p. 319. T Gregory's Western Highlands, p. 170.
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Maclicans (with the exception of Ailean nan Sop of Gigha and Torloisk), the
MacLeods, the MaceNeills of Barra, the MacKinnons, and the MacQuarries.
All of these now endeavored, and, with success, to effect their reconciliation
with the regent, the Earl of Arran. This defection of the Island lords toward
James MacDonald may be accounted for on the ground that he had hitherto
strenuously opposed the whole movement of his brother chicftains in favor of
Donald Dubh. ,

In the year 1557, while Iector Mor was engaged in constructing his
additions to Duard Castle, Archibald Campbell, fourth Earl of Argyle, or-
dered an armed force against him. This grew out of an engagement between
Ailean nan Sop and some of Argyle’s people, in which the latter were de-
feated. Ailean, it appears, was bent on having more revenge on account of
the murder of his father. Argyle ordered all his vassals to meet him at
Clachan-Soal, on an appointed day, for the purpose of going to invade the
island of Mull, and to have their birlinns or galleys ready for that purpose;
Campbell of Duntroon, who was a great friend of MacLean, told Argyle he
had no birlinn, and that he could get none at so short a warning; but Argyle
would take no excuse, and go he must. The day before Argyle was to sail
for the intended expedition, Duntroon went to Dunard, and, on arriving there,
MacLean invited him into the castle, but Duntroon excused himself, as he was
in a hurry, being obliged to meect his chief next morning carly; but that he
had come to ask a favor of him, which was that he (MacLcan) should give him
one of his birlinns, as he was ordered by Argyle to meet him next day at
Clachan-Soal with one, and he had none. MacLean asked him what expedi-
tion they were going on. Duntroon answered: “To invade yourself.”
“Very well,” returned MacLean, “you shall have one, and welcome.” A bir-
linn was ordered completely equipped for Duntroon. Just before leaving, he
asked MacLean what he should say to Argyle if he questioned him. “You

b

may tell him,” replied MacLean, <if he comes in peace and friendship, he

shall be received with a hearty welcome; but, if he comes otherwise, I am

bbl

equally ready to rcceive him.” Early next morning, Duntroon went to
Clachan-Soal, where Argyle and all his vassals were assembled. Argyle, sce-
ing a fine birlinn coming to harbor, went to see who it was. Finding it was
Duntroon, he asked him where he had been, as he noticed he had come from
Mull.  Duntroon replied that he had told his lordship he had no birlinn, and,
since he would not take that for an excuse, he had gone to Duard to ask one
of MacLean, which he had given him, and was now ready to go whatever way

his lordship was pleased to order him. *Does MacLean know that it is against
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himself I am going?” “He does, my lord; I told him,” replied Duntroon.
“And what said he ?” e was looking over his masons building an addition
to his castle,” replied Duntroon; “and he said, if you came in peace and
friendship, youand your friends would receive a hearty welcome; but, if yon
" came otherwise, he was equally prepared to receive yow.” For some time
~Argyle was silent; but, finally, asked Duntroon what his advice would be.
Duntroon, in substance, answered that, if his advice should be taken, his lord-
ship had no business to keep up a quarrel on account of his aunt’s and uncle’s
bad behavior, which, in justice, should be consigned to oblivion; that the earl
should n(mrry one of MacL.ean’s beautiful daughters; and that Janet, the earl’s
daughter, should be given to MacLean’s handsome son and heir. The earl
thought the advice good, and, taking some of his friends along with him, re-
paired to Duard. They were well received at the castle, and, before depart-
ing, the double marriage took plaece, Argyle marrying Catherine, second
youngest daughter of Ilector Mor, for his third wife. Iis daughter, Janet,
at the same time, was married to Heetor Mor's eldest son and heir, Eachann
Og.*

The repeated failures of the western clans to re-establish, in any shape,
the old lordship of the Isles, proved to them the futility of making another
attempt. Having no longer a common object, the clans, by degrees, became
estranged from each other, and the less powerful ones were forced to contend
against the aggressions of their stronger neighbors.  This caused many dis-
turbances throughout the Ilighlands, which often called for redress on the part
of the government. The MacLeans took their share in these broils. Among
the first to receive any note was * the dispute between MacLean of Duard and
MacLean of Coll (in 1561), which is chiefly remarkable as indieating the
progress of the feudal system in the Isles. Duard, who was generally ac-
knowledged as chief of his clan, insisted that Coll should follow and serve
him in all his private quarrels, like the other gentlemen of the tribe. Coll,
however, who held all his lands direct from the crown, declined to follow this
haughty chief, claiming the privileges of a free baron, who owed no service
but to the sovereign as his feudal superior. Irritated at the independent tone
assumed by Coll, and determined to assert what he conceived to be his just
claims, the lord of Duard, taking advantage of the other’s temporary absence,
caused his lands to be ravaged, and his tenants to be imprisoned. Such, in-

deed, was the tyranny exercised by Duard over his weaker neighbor, that

* Vide Pennyeross MS.
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the family of Coll, from being in a prosperous condition, was reduced, in a
short time, to the brink of ruin. Nor was it till after the lapse of several
years, that the sufferer byrthese violent and illegal proceedings succeeded in
drawing the attention of the privy council to his situation; so great was the
power and influence of his oppressor. The decision of that tribunal was, as
might have been expected, adverse to the claims of Duard ; who was ordered
to make reparation to Coll for the injuries done to the property and tenants of
the latter; and, likewise, to refrain from molesting him or his followers in fut-
ure. At a later period we shall find that the feud between these families was
only suspended, not concluded, by this decision of the privy council.

“The next dispute was between the MacLeans on the one part, and Mac-
Donalds of Islay on the other. This affair demands our attention, not so
mueh on account of its origin, which was merely a quarrel as to the right of
occupaney of certain crown lands in Islay, as because it was the commence-
ment of a long and bloody feud between these tribes, in which both suffered
severely, and which led eventually to the utter ruin of that powerful branch of
the Clandonald. Of the early details of this feud, which was aggravated by
previous disputes regarding the island of Gigha, little is found in’the usual
sources of information. The Isles of Mull, Tiree, and Coll were invaded
(1562) by the Clandonald of Sleat; and it may be supposed that the Mac-
Leans and their allies were not backward in similar hostilities. It is uncertain
which side was the aggressor ; but from the tenor of certain proceedings be-
fore the privy council, it appears probable that the MacLcans were to blame
—a fact which, indeed, is distinctly asserted by a historian, himself a privy
councillor in the reign of James VI. According to this writer, the Rinns of
Islay (the lands in dispute) were actually occupied by the MacLeans, who
claimed to hold these lands as erown tenants; but the decision of the privy
council established that James MacDonald of Islay was really the crown ten-
ant, and that the MacLeans, if they continued to remain on the lands, must
hold them of MacDonald, under the same conditions of personal and other
services as the rest of MacDonald’s vassals in Islay held their lands. Such a
decision must have been, no doubt, very galling to a powerful and high-spirited
tribe like the MacLeans; and we can scarcely be surprised at the deep-rooted
hostility which so long prevailed between them and the Clandonald, when we
consider the point of honor which was involved in their dispute. Such was
the inveteracy with which the rival chiefs pursued their quarrel, even after
the matter had been brought before the privy council, that, in 1565, they were
compelled to find sureties each to the amount of ten thousand pounds, for their
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abstinence from mutual hostilities. It deserves to be remarked, that Archi-
bald, fifth earl of Argyle, was one of the sureties for each chief, he being con-
nected by marriage, with both; as it proves that this nobleman did not con-
template extending his power and influence in the same unserupulous manner
that some of his suceessors afterwards did, at the expense both of the Mae-
Donalds and MacLeans.” *

Under the chieftainship of Hector Mor, the MacLeans put forth their
last efforts in behalf of the Lords of the Isles; also, under the same chief, the
two clans became estranged, and entered upon a long course of strife, which
was detrimental to the interests of both.

The lover of exaet history is always interested in official records. Con-
cerning Heetor Mér, the following facts have been culled:

' On January 9, 1539-40, Hector passes over a charter in favor of his son
and heir the lands of Torosay, castle of Duard, lands of Brolass, Tiree, with
office of bailliery thereof, lands in Knapdale, Jura, Morvern, and Lochaber,
but reserving life rent for the same.t

February 11, 1539—40, he obtained a respite ‘“for all erimes past, to’
endure for 19 years.” |

November 12, 1542, received a charter for lands of Kilmichell and More,
in Islay.||

“ Precept for charter under the great seal, to Hector McClane of Doward,

~ heritably, of the lands and barony of Argour, which belonged before to John

McCarlych of Argour, but now to the Queen as w/fima hares, beeause the said

John died without lawful heirs; to hold of the ecrown on the same terms as
Doward, being included therein. 4 February 1548-9.” §

June 23, 1553, he received charter for the Jands of Ulva and Laganvalsa-
gary, in the shire of Terbert.**

January 26, 1557, he gave a charter to Janet Campbell, daughter of Earl
of Argyle, of the lands of Dunnowlyeht, Rannochquhen, ete., in Knapdale
and Lochaber.{1 ’

The earliest description of the Western Isles made from personal ob-

* Gregory's Western Highlands, pp. 190-192, It is uot to be understood by the above
quotation that Gregory intends to give Argyle generally n good character. Tytler expressly
calls him “a venal baron " (Mistory of Scotland, Vol. 111., p. 203). - Tytler farther says (Ibid,,
244), that Argyle was a participant in the murder of Lord Darnley. See also pp. 231, 237, and
241, same volume. :

t Reg. Sec. Sig., Vol. XII1,, fol. 43. 11Ibid,, fol. 54. | Ibid., Vol. XVL, fol. 77. ¢ Ibid., Vol.
XXIII,, fol. 37. **Ibid., Vol. XXV, ful. 84. 11 Jbid.,; Vol. XXIX,, fol. 15.
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servation is that by Donald Monro, High Dean of the Isles, who traveled
through most of them in 1540. As it was during the lordship of Hector Moér,
it will be of much interest to those interested in the Clan MacLean. What
he says in reference to the lands of this elan is here given in the same order
as in the original: « Nairest that iyle (Gigha) layes Duray, ane ather fyne
forrest for deire,” owned in “pairt be MacGullayne of Douard, pairt be
MecGellayne of Kinlochbuy,” ete. “ Lunge is possist be MecGillayne of Dow-
ard, in feu fra the carl of Ergile.” In Ila is a castle “callit Lochgurne,
quhilk is biggit in ane iyle within the said fresche water loche far fra land,
pertaining of auld to the Clandonald of Kintyre. now usurped by MeGillayne
of Doward.” ¢ Twelfe myle northward from the iyle of Colnansay lyes the
iyle of Mull, ane grate rongh ile, noch the les it is fertile and fruitful. This
ile contains in lenth from the northeist to the southweste twenty-four myles,
and in breid from the ecist southeist to west northwest uther twenty-four
myles, with certain woodes, maney deire, and verey fair hunting games, with
maney grate mertines and cunnings for hunting, with a guid raid fornet
Colmkill, callit Pollaisse. There is sevin paroche kirks within this iyle, and
thre castles, to wit the castle of Doward, a strenthey place, bigged on a
craige at the sea syde; the castle of Lochbowy, pertaining to McGillayne of
Lochbowy ; the castle of Arose, which in former time pertinet to the lord of
the iyles, and now is bruked be McGillayne of Doward. In this ile there is
twa guid fresche waters, ane of them are callit Ananva, and the water of Glen-
forsay, full of salmond, with uther waters that has salmond in them, but not
in sic aboundance as the twa forsaid waters. This ile hath alsa salt water
loches, to wit, Loch Ear, ane little small loche, with guid take of herringes:
this loche layes in the southwest of the countrey. Then is Loch Fyne, quherin
ther is a guid take of herrings. Northwest fra this loche, lyes Loche Sea-
forte, guid for the herring fishing. Lykwayes on the east pairt of the coun-
trey layes anc loche, callit Lochepetit. Narrest this loche, in the southe south-
eist, layes Lochbowy, a fair braid loche, quherin there is grate take of her-
ring and uther fishings. This iyle pertains pairtly to MeGillayne of Doward,
pairtly to McGillayne of Lochbowy, pairtly to McKynnoun, and pairtly to
the Clandounald of awld.” ¢ Upon the narrest coste of Mull lays ane iyle
callit Calfe, ane myle of lenthe, full of woods, with ane sufficient raid for
shipes, perteyning to McGillayne of Doward.” ¢ Befor the castel of Aross
lyes twa iles, perteyning to McGillayne of Doward.” ¢ The ile of Knightsness
(near Aross) perteining to McGillayne of Doward.” ¢ Ellan Madie (south
from Duard) pertains to McGillayne of Doward.” ¢ Ellan Moir perteining to
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McGillayne of Lochbuy.” ¢ Scalpay in heritage perteines to McGillayne of
Dowarde.”” This work gives a brief deseription of two hundred and nine isles.
Reference has been made to the building of the addition to Duard Castle

by Hector Mér. It is probable that all the additions to the ancient tower were
made at this time. The castle is located on a point of land forming the ex-
treme north-eastern part of the island of Mull. The point of land projects
into the Sound of Mull, with Duard Bay on the west and the Firth of Lorn
-on the east. It is two miles from the southern extremity of Lismore, and
three miles from the nearest point of Morvern. The castle is located upon a
perpendicular rock, facing the sea, which rises to a height of about one hun-
dred feet. The castle may be approached from the land on the eastern and
southern sides. The northern and western sides present the face of the per-
pendicular rock. The castle derives its name from Dubh, meaning black, and
“Aird,” a height, or promontory; and hence the word means Black Pro-
montory. Anciently it was generally written Doward, and recently it has
been shortened, but improperly, into Duart. It should be written Duard,
thus preserving its etymology. Originally the castle consisted of a single
tower composed of three stories about fifty feet in height. This tower,
with the exception of the roof and various floors, is still in a perfect con-
dition. The tower or oldest part corresponds to the architecture of the thir-
teenth century. Its walls on two sides are fourteen feet thick, and the
other sides ten feet, the interior being forty-four by twenty-two feet. The
stair, still entire, winds up through the wall, which separates it from the cen-
ter square or court-yard. In this wall, along the course of the stair, are
crenells opening into the outer court or square. The tiers or apartments
were supported by beams resting upon corbels. The windows are deep re-
cesses, forming acute angles toward the entrance of the light, and on either
side of the window is a long flat stone, resting upon rubble work, raised to a
height of an ordinary chair. The first story is now filled with debris. On
the north side of the tower a platform was left on the rock. This platform
was walled in by Hector Mor, at the same time he added the ample court-
yard on the east. The eastern wall is seventy-nine feet long, and the north
and south walls one hundred and twenty-six feet and three inches. The
northern part of the new structure was separated from the court-yard by a
wall, and used for a dwelling. The space on the rock inelosed by a wall was
used for soldiers. The dungeon was on the first floor of the new structure,

and the magazines in the court-yard. The castle was entered by a doorway
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at the south four and one-half feet in width, protected by an iron gate.

Originally it was defended by a postern gate, with portcullis, and defended by -
a barbican. The moat protecting the eastern wall may still be traced. The

walls of the new addition are neither so thick nor so high as those of the high

tower. Nothing is being done to proteet these additional walls. Even a su-

perficial view shows the site to'have been well selected, and the castle one of

great strength, and very formidable for the times in which it was built.

Aros Castle was another stronghold of the MacLeans. It is located on
the shore of Aros Bay, an inlet of Salen Bay. It was a royal castle of the
Lords of the Isles, by one of whom it is said to have been built, but un-
doubtedly is of much older date. It rests in a very picturesque manner on
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the summit of a steep rock facing the sea, and bears evidence of being a
place of strength, and on the land side secured by a moat and drawbridge.
Hector M6r married Mary, daughter of Alexander MacDonald of Islay
and the Glens, by whom he had two sons and seven daughters: Hachann Og,
his heir and successor, and John Dubh, predecessor of the family of Kinloch-
aline ; Marian, married to Norman MacLeod of Harris; Mary, to Donald
MacDonald of Sleat; Catherine, died "unmarried; the second Catherine, first
to Archibald Campbell, fourth Earl of Argyle, and secondly to John Stewart
of Appin—Catherine was a high-spirited woman, and was distinguished for
her beauty and culture ; Julian, married first to Calvagh O’Donnell of Tircon-
nell, and secondly to the great O'Neill, in Ireland; Una, to Cameron of
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Lochiel ; and Janet, to MacDonald of Keppoch. Hector Mor died about the
year 1568.

Heetor Mor’s brother, Ailean, second son of Lachlan Catanach, but
better known as Ailean nan Sop, or Allan o’ the Wisp, becausc he sct fire to
buildings with straw, was a very noted character. Many legends have been
told concerning him, some of which can not be true, although they may con-
tain a grain of truth. The best known legend is that related by Sir Walter
Scott, in his ¢ Tales of a Grandfather:”* but it is wholly wrong in several
essential particulars. It is so mixed with Patrick MaclLean and Sir Lachlan
Mor MacLean, that it would be difficult to reconstruct it. It is, however, so
well told that others have scen fit to copy it bodily.T Notwithstanding Scott’s
assertion to the contrary, all the MacLean manuseripts are agreed that Ailean
was born in wedlock, was the younger brother of Hector Mor, and second son
of Lachlan Catanach, by his wife Marian. _\ilean, or Allan, first comes into
notice during the time when his father resided at Cairnburg. During that
time, a daughter of MacNeill of Barra, who was a young lady of great beauty,
was visiting the chieftain’s family, and Allan, being captiv.ated with her, made
honorable love, which met with discouragement at her hands. This marked a
turning-point in his carcer. Allan, thus repulsed in his advances, meditated
the most brutal insult to the family’s guest, and taking advantage of the
absence of his father and mother, who were on a brief visit to the mainland,
he violently seized his intended victim. She, however, succeeded in escaping
from him, and in her alarm rushed toward the brink of a precipice, as if in-
tending to throw herself off. She was closely pursued by Allan; and the
scene being in the immediate neighborhood of the guard-house, a domestic on
duty there, suspecting the wrong intention, with great quickness rushed for-
ward, and secizing hold of the lady with onc hand, with the other dexterously
hurled Allan headlong over the precipice. Fortunately for Allan, he was

caught on a projection which at that point formed a shelf. Here he remained,

and was not extricated until he begged the lady’s forgiveness and vowed .

pardon to the intrepid domestic who had so unceremoniously hurled him into
his awkward position. This is the origin of the familiar modern phrase,
“putting a lover on the shelf.” The spot is still called Urraigh Aslean nan
Sop (Allan na Sop’s Shelf).

According to the feudal laws, he did not inherit any of his father’s es-

#Second Series, Vol. I, pp. 59-63. + Keltie's History of the Highland Clans, Vol. I1., p-
2635 New Statistical Accownt of Argyleshire, p. 343; Book of Scottish Story, p. 788, ete.
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tates, so he took to the seas for a living, and became a freebooter. Having
learned by experience that he must have a permanent abode, and having
quarreled with Neil MacLean of Torloisk, a weak man, he murdered him and
took possession of his lands of Torloisk. Ile engaged in so many expedi-
tions by sea, which were always attended with success, and exhibiting a high
degree of desperate courage, his influence became widely felt, which he did
not fail to use to good account. In all the disturbances then taking place
in the Isles, he never failed to perform an important part. Sometimes he
espoused the interests of his brother Iector Mor, and again he is found on
the opposite side. He was one of the eighteen principal barons in the cause
of Donald Dubh, in 1543. When Sir James MacDonald was put forward by
the Islanders, after the death of Donald Dubh, that crafty chieftain saw the
necessity of attaching Allan to his interests. To gain him over he granted him
the island of Gigha in 1539 ; and the Earl of Argyle purchased his friendship
by a grant of the lands of Kileharmaig in Knapdale, and MacDonald of Islay
by gift of Tarbert Castle. The influence arising from the friendship of these
powerful leaders, his being the brother of the Lord of Duard, together with
his consummate address and daring, made Allan a valuable acquisition to any
of the parties now struggling for supremacy in the kingdom. The Earl of
Lennox, in his treasonable alliance with the King of England, during the Earl
of Arran’s regency, and in the minority of Queen Mary, succeeded in attach-
ing Allan to his interests. He accompanied the Earl on a certain mission to
England in the character of an ambassador from James MacDonald of Islay,
who was then styled Lord of the Isles. TFor this and other treasonable prac-
tices he, however, succeeding in receiving a pardon from Queen Mary.

While Allan has been represented as a notorious freebooter, and that
neither high nor low cs.caped his rapacities, yet the stories preserved of him
prove that he was often swayed by gentle influences. Onece Allan made a
descent on Coll and carried off the lord (Ilector, fourth MacLean of Coll) a
prisoner. “ Coll was a poet and musician, and when in prison he composed
a tune, still, I believe, preserved, under the name of ‘Allan nan Sop’s March,’
which having sung with much grace, his stern enemy was so moved that he
immediately gave him his liberty.” *

Allan died in 1551, in bed, at an advanced age, and during his last mo-

ments he was reminded that during his life he had engaged in nineteen suc-

* Logan’s Scottish Gael, Vol. I1., p. 300.
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cessful campaigns. Ile replied that if he had known that, he should have
made it a score. ITe was buried at Tona, where his tomb may still be seen.

T have no evidence that he was ever married. He had two bastard sons,
Hector and John, who were legitimized August 3, 1547.%

July 28, 1539, he received a gift “of the non-enty maills of Geya,
Comeravoch, Terbert and other lands for all terms since the death of Malcolm
McNele, last possessor thereof, and until the entry of the rightful heir.”

Of Patrick, bastard son of Lachlan Catanach, but little is known. He

" was « Justicias of the Isles and Bailie of Icolmkill.” In 1545 he served as
one of the plenipotentiaries of Donald Dubh to the English court.}

The records || seem to make Patrick a bishop: “Gift to Mr. Patrick
McClane of the temporality of the diocese of the Isles, and Abbey of Icolm-
kill, vacant by decease of Ferquard, last bishop thereof. 7th August, 1547.”
According to Gregory, it was Roderick MacLean who was put forward by
the regent to the vacant bishopric. Spottiswoode says: Ferquhard, the
forty-fourth bishop, is said by Keith to have procured from the pope license
to resign the bishopric in favor of Mr. Roderick MacLean, who was at that time
archdeacon of the Isles, but appears not to have obtained possession of the
see till after the year 1549, at which time, according to Keith, it was
vacant.” §

XIII. Heetor Og, Thirteenth Chief of MaclLecan.

Hector Mor was succeeded by his son Eachann Og, or Hector, the Younger.
Ile should have been called Eachann Struidhear, Hector, the Spendthrift.
Heector Og survived his father not longer than five years, during which short
period he not only spent, by his improvident conduct and profligacy, all the
ready money left by the late noble chief, but burdened the estates with debt.
IIe appears to have inherited nothing of the qualities'which distinguished his
father, but lived at peace in the free enjoyment of his pleasures. He was the
only worthless chief of MacLean. He appears to have built for himself a
residence at Iona, situated near the head of Port-a-Churraich, where traces
of the house are still shown. It is called ¢ Garadh-Eachann Og,” or Garden
of Young Hector.

Hector Og entered into the following agreement with his brother John
Dubh: “Contract between Hector Makeclayne of Dowart and John Dow Mak-

. ¥ Reg. Sec. Sig,, Vol. XXI,, fol. 28. + Ibid., Vol. X111, fol. 16. { Gregory’s Western Iigh-
lands, p. 172. | Reg. See. Sig., Vol. XXI,, fol. 29, Q-Histm‘g/ of the Church of Secotland, Vol. 1.,
p. 261.
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Glenlivat, in 1594.” % <« e was one of the most remarkable men connected
with the Highlanders of Scotland in his days.” § ¢ By his education in the con-
tinent, he had learned eivility and good manners, and living accordingly, was
in great respeet both with his own people and all his neighbors about.”{ ¢TIt
is good for the MacLeans to cherish in their heart of hearts Lachlan Mér and
Hector Mor, and the other worthies of their genealogical tree. Lachlan Mbr,
or Big Lachlan, who was mighty both in soul and body, and had to make a
big business of blood with the MaceDonalds of Islay, the days when keeping
his next door neighbors stoughtly at bay, was a necessary part of each man’s
manhood.” || ¢ Lachlan Mor was a person well fitted by his great talents and
military genius to meet the emergency upon which the fate of his clan seemed
to depend.”§ “The powerful family of MacLeans had now for their chief a
young man of an active and energetic spirit, under whom this tribe exercised
a great influence in the Isles.” % “Amongst the chief leaders, who assumed
the state and independence of little princes, were the earl of Argyle, Lach-
lan MacLean of Duard, Angus MacDonald of Dunyveg, Donald Gorm Mac-
Donald of Sleat, and Roderick MaclLeod of Harris, known in traditionary
song as Ruari Moér. Of these chiefs, the lord of Duard, commonly called
Lachlan Mér, was by far the most talented and conspicuous. Ie was, in all
respects, a remarkable person; by no means illiterate, for he had received his
nurture in the low country, and had married a daughter of the earl of Glen-
cairn. But in war and in personal prowess he had then no equal: an island
Amadis of collossal strength and stature, and possessing, by the vigor of his
natural talents, a commanding influence over the rude and fierce islesmen.” §+
At the time of his father’s death, Lachlan was a minor, and his mother
having married Hector, son of Ailean nan Sop, his stepfather became tutor of
the estate. King James VI. became very much interested in the youth, so
had him sent ‘to Edinburgh and brought up in his court. At the age of
eighteen, or in 1576, Lachlan repaired to Duard, in order to take possession
of the estate. Hector, his stepfather, had managed the estate with consum-
mate ability, and being a bold, daring man, had kept the neighboring clans at
peace, owing to their fear of his resentment. But he had determined to gain
full possession of the property, by putting Lachlan out of the way, and ex-
pecting to make his peace with his wife, the mother of Lachlan. His plans

* Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, p.43. T Book of Scottish History, p. 688. T Spottiswoode’s
Hist. Church of Scotland, Vol. IT1., p. 344. | Altavona, pp. 169, 180. 2 Skene’s The Highlanders

of Scotland, Vol. 11, pp. 210. **Gregory's Western Ilighlands, p.- 217. it Tytler’s History of
Seotland, Vol. IV, p. 235. )
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were frustrated, owing to Lachlan being at court and continuing there until he
was grown. Hector went so far as to make proposals to the chieftains, or
principal gentlemen of the clan, to exclude Lachlan altogether, who was rep-
resented by his ambitious kinsman and guardian as of too effeminate a char-
acter, arising from the nature of his eduecation in the Lowlands, to be fit for
so important a station as chief of the warlike MacLeans. When the young heir
returned home to take the management of his estates, he was much caressed
by his tutor, who at the same time endeavored to cause the clan to have a bad
impression of him, pretending that he was an idiot. Yet, young as he was, he
easily penetrated his tutor’s designs, and looked upon himself as a prisoner,
where he ought to have been master, surrounded only by the tutor’s ereatures.
He was fully cognizant that they only waited a favorable opportunity for cut-
ting him off. Lachlan counter-plotted him, and with the assistance of his
uflcle, John Dubh, and Master Lachlan MaclLean, a son of Lochbuy, he, being
favored by the porter, who opened the door of Castle Duard to them by night,
surprised Hector Ailean nan Sop in bed, carried him to the island of Coll,
and there caused him to be beheaded.

Having gained full possession of his estate, Lachlan at once commenced
to set things in order, and right such wrongs as had been done to his clans-
men during the years of his minority. Colin Campbell, sixth Earl of Argyle,
thinking a favorable opportunity had come to accomplish the purposes of his
family, already formed, of seizing the estate, sent a party of his clan to the
island of Luing, which they plundered, and committed other depredations,
the nature of which is set forth in Lachlan’s petition to the king and the lords
of the privy council. “The complaint sets forth that the earl of Argyle had
¢ cruellye conspirit the slauchter’ of the complainant, and especially in March
1577, had ¢ perswadit and conducit with* the unele of the latter, John Dubh
MacLean, by promising him great rewards for the performance of his ‘ma-
licious and weikit interpryiss’ upon him, and his sister’s son, and for taking
and spoiling of his (Lachlan’s) place of Duard. This conspiracy was frustrated
by the confession of John Dubh, but the earl was not by this turned from his
purpose, and had stirred up Angus MacDonald of Dunyveg, to carry it into
effect. Angus, assisted by some of Lachlan’s encmies from Ireland, and
others, to the number of twelve hundred, besieged the house of Lochgorme
with fire and sword. In this and other depredations he was assisted by the
earl with a land-force of two hundred, and also by sea with a galley and men,
and had promise of other support. On another occasion Lachlan’s servant,

while on his way through Argyle to the Lowlands, was imprisoned by Camp-



94 History oF THE CraN MacLEAN.

bell of Lochgoilhead at the special command of the earl; and every hindrance
was given to the kin and friends of Lachlan in trading with the Low]ands,
all access through the country of Argyle being denied to them, and their per-
sons imprisoned till payment of ransom. The earl has also, by two hundred
of his servants, visited the island of Luing, driven thence a large number of
cows, horses, and sheep, and despoiled the women and children of their
clothing. Various other complaints are made against the earl.”* The earl
was powerful enough to have action put off, and a decree was not rendered
until 29th December, 1578, when the earl and his accomplices were ordered
to return answer. Dated Stirling Castle.y

The youthful Lord of Duard was not one who would brook unnecessary
delay, so he summoned his clansmen, and at the head of a powerful force
poxlu'ed into Argyle’s country. Not satisfied with this, he transferred some
of his forces to Ireland, and laid waste the lands of Schayne O’Dochtrie of
Glach, in retaliation for the assistance rendered Argyle. So sudden and so
effective was the work of Lachlan, that Argyle hastened to compromise the diffi-
culty, by fully indemnifying the people of Luing for their loss. But Argyle
waited his opportunity, for on August 27, 1579, at that time being chancellor
and justice of Scotland, thus taking advantage of his position, he compelled
Liaehlan to deliver pledges for abiding trial at a future date for damage done
to O’Dochtrie of Glach; and on May 27, 1580, caused him to give to him
(Argyle) lands to the amount of two hundred merks yearly value, in payment
for the invasion of Glach.?

During the month of December, 1577, Lachlan paid a visit to court, where
he was received in a very flattering manner by most of the nobles there as-
sembled, who, having been informed of the gallant check recently given to
the authority of Argyle in the west, vied with onc another in the endeavor to
secure the friendship of so powerful an adherent as the spirited young Lord
of Duard bad proved himself to be. The king proposed and received con-
sent of all parties that the chief of MacLean should cspouse Dorothea Stew-
art; daughter and heiress of the Earl of Athol. Preliminaries having been
settled among the parties, Lachlan started for the Highlands, in order to make
ready for the wedding, and on his way visited William Cunningham, Earl of
Glencairn, at his castle on the banks of the Clyde. Cards were introduced in
the evening, and MacLean’s partner was one of the earl’s daughters. In the

course of the evening the game happened to be changed, and the company

* Appendiz to Sizth Report Royal Commission on Hist. MSS, p. 630, 1877, +1hid. % Ibid.
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again cut for partners, on which another of the daughters whispered in her
sister’s ear that if the Highland chief had been her partner she would not
have hazarded the loss of him by cutting anew. The chief overheard the
remark, and was so well pleased with the compliment, and so faseinated with
the charms of Margaret Cunningham, that a match was made up between
them, which happened December 30, 1577, and soon after they were married.
This action on the part of Macl.ean gave great offense to the king, besides
losing the richest heiress at that time in Scotland, as well as an earldom.

Lachlan now found himself in the full enjoyment of domestic happiness,
and possessing great influence and power, besides being at the head of the
most powerful of West Highland clans, and in the very zenith of its strength.
But Lachlan’s life was not destined to be one of repose. The old feud which
commenced in the time of his grandfather Hector Mér, again broke out, and
mutual aggressions became common among the MacLeans and Angus Mae-
Donald of Dunyveg and the Glens, on account of the Rhinns of Islay. Mac-
Donald would carry fire and sword into some district belonging to Macl.ean;
the latter would retaliate by laying waste certain lands belonging to the
formier. These depredations were kept up with the most rancorous animosity
on both sides. This state of affairs having been made known to the govern-
ment, the belligerent chiefs were commanded to subscribe, within a certain
limited period, assurances of indemnity to each other, under penalty of trea-
son®* This led to a temporary suspension of hostilities between the two
clans, and in order to bind the two families together, Angus MacDonald of
Islay married Mary, sister of Lachlan Mér. This marriage was hailed with
great satisfaction by both the Maclieans and MacDonalds, and the prineipals
looked upon it as affording some hope of permanent peace and eoncord be-
tween them. A friendly intercourse was now kept up between the two clans,
without interruption, for several years, with the most happy results; and from
inveterate enemies they became the most cordial friends.

Peace now reigned on the island until the autumn of 1585, when an un-
fortunate circumstance plunged the Clan MacLean into a conflict with the
Clan MacDonald, from which the former never fully recovered, and marked
the decline of the MacDonalds of Islay. Donald Gorm MaeDonald of Sleat,
being on a voyage from Skye, to pay a visit to his relative Angus MacDon-
ald of Dunyveg, in Islay, and accompanied by a retinue befitting his rank, was
forced by stress of weather to take shelter on the north-west coast of Jura,

* Record Privy Council, 12th January, 1578-9.
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on that part of the island belonging to Sir Lachlan Mér MacLean. At the
same time, two gentlemen of Donald Gorm’s clan—THugh, nephew of Donald,
and MacDonald Terreagh—from the same cause, sought shelter in another
harbor, in the immediate vicinity of that occupied by the chief of Sleat. The
two individuals above mentioned having recently quarreled with Donald, and
learning that he was then in the adjacent harbor, embraced the opportunity to
gratify their feelings of revenge by an act which they hoped might involve
Donald Gorm and his party in destruction, by drawing upon them the ven-
geance of the chief of MacLean. In order to accomplish their design, they
seized some of the cattle belonging to Maclican’s tenants, and immediately put
to sea. Neither any of the inhabitants nor Donald Gorm had knowledge of the
presence on the island of the party who planned and executed this malicious
plot. Their nefarious design unfortunately took immediate effect. The Mac-
Leans, missing their cattle, at once attributed the loss to MacDonald of Sleat’s.
followers; and without delay reported the matter to the chief of Duard.
Lachlan, being bound to proteet his vassals, and not waiting for an investi-
gation, immediately summoned such of the clansmen as lay nearest, and with-
out delay proceeded to Jura, that he might inflict such punishment as he
thought Donald’s party merited. Early in the following morning, the Mac-
Donalds were surprised at a place called Innir-Chnochd-Breachd, and fell an
casy prey to their assailants. Sixty of the MacDonalds were slain, and their
chief only escaped the same fate from the circumstance of his accidentally
sleeping on board his galley on the night of the attack. Immediately he re-
turned to Skye, much exasperated at what he had reason to believe was an
unprovoked attack and a wanton determination to renew hostilities. He
vowed vengeance against the MacLeans, and the fecling of revenge spread
among all the branches of the MacDonalds and their allies. Besides the
MacDonalds of Skye and Islay, who were particularly involved, there rallied
the Clanranald, the Clanian of Ardnamurchan, the Clanleod of Lewis, the
MacNeills of Gigha, the MacAllisters of Loup, the MacPhees of Colonsay,
and other tribes of lesser note.

Before the forces had gathered, preparatory to a descent on Mull, the
original cause of the rupture (the malicious conduct of the MacDonalds of
Skye) had beecome fully known; but the desire for revenge was so great that
the MacDonalds would listen to no terms for peace until they had fully
avenged the .fate of their clansmen. Sir Lachlan was forced to meet this
powerful league single-handed, and in the conflict which at once ensuned he

was reduced to such straits, that in the month of September the king deemed
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it necessary to write a letter, under his owa hand, to the chief of the Mac-
Leods, earnestly entreating him to give all the aid in his power to the chief
of MacLean against the MaeDonalds.* The ehiefs of MacDonald, thus find-
ing that the king was disposed to interfere in behalf of MacLean, felt a dis-
position to aceommodate matters, and suggested that the disputed lands in
Islay should be conceded to MacLean; and the Lord of Islay promising that
this-should not stand in the way of the desired reconciliation, proceeded,
against the advice of his followers from Skye, to Duard Castle, in order to
effect an amicable arrangement of all their disputes. In taking this step,
MacDonald ealculated on his private influence with MacLean, whose sister
he had married a few years before. Ile was at first hospitably reeeived and
sumptuously entertained by his brother-in-law, but the Lord of Duard de-
termined to improve the chance which put his powerful enemy within his
grasp; and, knowing the vacillating eharacter of MacDonald, he resolved
that the fulfillment of the terms offered should not depend solely upon a mere
promise. On the second day after his arrival, Angus, together with those who
accompanied him, were placed in close confinement, within the walls of Duard
Castle, and there eontinued until all the demands of MacLean were aceeded
to. For the performance of the agreement, Angus was obliged to give his
son James, then a boy, and his brother Ranald as hostages; whereupon he was
set at liberty with his attendants. He then returned to his castle of Duny-
veg, exasperated against his brother-in-law, and determined to obtain full re-
venge for the injuries inflicted upon himself and his kinsman, Donald Gorm.+

The version of this affair as given by Archbishop Spottiswoode is differ-
ent from the above, and is entitled to some credit, for he was contemporary
(about seven years younger than Sir Laechlan) and an impartial witness:
“ MacDonald out of an emulation made many quarrels to the other, and in
end laid a plot to murder him (though he had married his sister), which he
went about in this manner. Ile sent a message to MacLean, offering to visit
him at his home, and to stay some days, providing he would eome back, and
make merry with him in his country, that the world ‘might see all injuries
were forgotten, and that they loved one another as brethren and good neigh-
bors ought to do. MaeLean answered, that he should be welcome, but for his
going back with him they should talk at meeting. MacDonald receiving this
answer, came the next day, and was received very kindly by MacLean. Some

* Original letter in the charter chest of Dunvegan, dated September 18, 1585. T Gregory's
Western Highlands, p. 231.
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four or five days he staid, using the fairest shows of amity that could be
wished, and being to part homewards, entreated MacLean to go with him,
saying, that he would leave his eldest son and a brother-german pledges for
his safety. MacLean upon his importunity yielded to go, but refused the
pledges, lest he should seem to distrust him, and so went, taking with him of
the trustiest of his kindred and servants some forty-five:” * )
Some time after MacDonald had left Duard Castle, Lachlan Mér came to
Islay, to receive performance of the promises made by Angus regarding the
Rhinns of Islay, bringing with him his nephew James, one of the hostages, the
other being left behind in the castle. MacLean took post at the ruinous fort
of Elan-Loch-Gorm, in the Rhinns of Islay, where he was detained three days
on account of some affairs of his tenants, during which time he received re-
peated invitations from MacDonald to come to the latter’s house at Mullintrea;
and the better to lull MacLean into security, he directed his wife—MacLean’s
sister—to write an invitation by her own hand, expressive of surprise at her
brother’s tardiness in visiting them, and of sorrow at his appurent suspicion
that any injury could be contemplated against him. The amiable and obe-
dient wife, believing that no harm could befall her brother under the roof of
which she was mistress, added her own assurance that an affectionate reception
should welcome him and his retinue. After the most solemn and repeated
protestations of MacDonald that no hostility was meditated, MacLean at
length was prevailed upon to comply with the request. Accordingly, he came
to Mullintrea with eighty-six of his clan and servants, in the month of July,
1586, and was sumptuously entertained on his arrival. During the evening,
however, as it approached to the time of retirement, the Lady MacDonald
noticed something suspicious in certain messengers who suddenly arrived at
the eastle, and, after holding a hasty interview in private with her husband, as
suddenly took their departure. Being unable to communicate these suspicious
circumstances to her brother, she took the opportunity to say to him: “In so
stormy a night, the shepherd shounld well guard his flock.” The hint was not
lost on the island chief, who, on retiring, preferred for his resting-place for
the night an out-house, in which accommodations were made for his friends,
instead of the apartments in the castle previouslylprovided for him; and, for
additional security, took to bed with him his little nephew James. About
midnight, between three and four hundred of the MacDonalds, with their

treacherous chief at their head, surrounded the houses in which the MacLeans

# History of the Church of Seotland, Vol. 1L, p. 344.
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were lodged. Angus summoned the chief of MacLean ¢« to come forth and
drink.” MacLean answered that of drink they had already too much, and
that it was time to rest. ¢ Yet it is my will,” said Angus, “that ye arisc'and
come forth.” On hearing this, MacLean began to suspect some bad dealing,
‘and dressing himself, after ordering his men to prepare themselves, opened the
door, where, perceiving a large company in arms and Angus at their head with
a drawn sword, asked what the matter was, and if he intended to break his
faith. ¢ No faith,” said he; “T gave none; and must now have an account of
you and your friends for the wrong I have received.” MacLean, with his
companions, rushed out into the midst of the MacDonalds, and holding in his
powerful grasp the boy James, in the manner of a shield, commenced an im-
mediate attack. The poor child cried piteously, now beseeching his uucle,
then his father. The stern MacDonald, sceing that the immediate destruction
of his son might be the result of his perseverance in the slaughter he contem-
plated, at length solemnly pledged his “honor and faith ™ for MacLean’s per-
sonal safety, and quarter to his followers, if he would deliver up the child.
Lachlan, realizing he was surrounded by a force five times greater than his
own, and no prospect by further resistance, complied with the terms offered,
and yielded up his arms. Ie was at once conveyed by some keepers to
another house. All the rest yielded on like promise, gave up their arms, and
were bound two by two, and then thrown into prison. But there were two
that Angus, seeing that he had now all in his power, refused quarter. One
was a brave youth of the Morvern MacLeans, whose powerful arm had, in
previons conflicts, laid many a bold MacDonald in the (lﬁst; the other was
that MacDonald Terreagh, of whom mention has already been made as being
the original cause of the slaughter in Jura, and who, since that time, had at-
tached himself to the MacLeans. These two men defended the door of the
house in which they had taken shelter so desperately that neither Angus nor
his men could enter; whereupon, fire was put to the house, and the two heroic
youths were consumed in the flames.

MacDonald had no idea of keeping his pledge ; so the very next day, two
of the Maclicans were brought forth and executed in the presence of their
chief. On Lachlan remonstrating against this atrocity and reminding Angus
of the solemn pledge he had given, the latter replied: “ I have you now in my
power, and will hold to no pledge until my revenge is as complete as it is my
will it should be.” In this manner, two of the MacLeans were brought out
every day, until they were all put to death except Lachlan Moér and his uncle,
John Dubh of Morvern ; and they escaped only by an accident that happened
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to the sanguinary Angus, who fell from his horse on the very eve of their in-
tended execution.

In the meantime, Raonuill MaeColla,* an individual of rank and a near
kinsman of Angus, and another prominent MacDonald, had been taken pris-
oner by the MacLeans, and were now confined in Duard Castle. On learning
this, Angus was disposed to come to some terms; so he at once agreed that
the chief of MacLean should return, and the release of John Dubh MacLean
should immediately follow the restoration of the two MacDonalds confined in
Duard Castle: and for the fulfillment of certain conditions, to which Lachlan
was forced to subscribe, he must have placed in his hands the following
hostages : Hector MacLean, Duard’s eldest son ; Alexander, brother of William
MacLeod of Dunvegan; Lachlan and Neill, sons of Lachlan MacKinnon of
Strathordell ; John and Murdo, sons of Ruari MacNeill of Barra; Allan, son
of Ewin MacLean of Ardgour: and Donald, son of Hector MacLean, consta-
ble of Cairnburg. This decision was also hastened from the action of the

king

g, who, hearing of these atrocities, employed the chiefs of the Campbells,

who governed the carldom of Argyle during the minority of the seventh earl,
to mediate between the contending clans.  Angus also demanded, through the
king’s agents, free pardon for his crimes.

A few days after Macliean had been released, Maclan of Ardnamurchan
came to MacDonald and informed him that, as soon as Lachlan had arrived in
Mull, he caused the two imprisoned MacDonalds to be executed; upon which,
and within an hour, and without deliberation, Angus caused John Dubh to be
beheaded. Lachlan Mor, in the meantime, made all haste to liberate his
captives, who reached their homes the day the murder of John Dubh of Mor-
vern was committed.

A son of John Dubh (Allan of Ardtornish), a stripling of the age of six-
teen years, upon learning that MacDonald of Ardnamurchan was instrumental
in the death of his father, immediately mustered his followers, and entering
that chicftain’s possessions, seized upon such portions of his estate as lay
nearest his own; and with such severity did the young warrior pursue his
avenging course, that Maclan was at last glad to purchase peace with him at
the expense of a considerable part of his estates; and believing it best to

make the reconciliation lasting, gave young Allan his daughter Una in
marriage.

# This -establishes the fact that MsacLean had not originally demanded hostages, and the

version of Spottiswoode is correct, though I have followed versions less favorable to Sir Lachlan
Mor.
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Lean of Ardgour, a bold and spirited youth, who commanded”the detached
parties, and whose bravery on this occasion overmatched his prudence, could
not witness the advance of the MacDonalds without some attempt to check
them, so he removed from the post to which he had been assigned, and
with a few followers attacked the advanced party at Sron-na-Cranalich. The
result was the loss of almost every individual of his faithful band, one of
whom was Allan, son of MacLean of Treshnish, a youth of much promise, and
whose death was greatly felt. Early on the following morning the invaders
moved forward with the intention of attacking the MacLeans in their position.
On the march, and as they were approaching the pass already mentioned, Mac-
Lean of Borreray placed himself near MacDonald of Sleat, and presuming
on the credulity and superstition ot the times, and in order to affect his pur-
pose, appeared to be very dull and melancholy. MacDonald noticing this, in-
quired of him if the cause of his particularly thoughtful mood did not arise
from a reluctance to fight against his clan and kinsmen; and if so, he was
welcome to fall back and pass to the rear, and resign his “post to such as
might not be deterred from doing their duty by such treacherous scruples.”
« Treacherous scruples,” replied MacLean, 1 entertain not; more care for thee
and thy followers makes me in a melancholy mood;” and in a half-suppressed
tone, as if addressing himself, added, ¢ That horrid! and, I fear, ominously
fatal dream’!” MacDonald, in great anxiety, exclaimed, ‘“What dream ?”
“ Listen,” said Borreray, “ you shall hear: At the middle hour of night, as
a peaceful slumber came o’er me, a voice distinctly repeated the following
lines to me:

An Lichd-Li sin, O! Lichd-Li!
'S ann ort-sa bheirear an dith !
'S iad Clann-Ghilleain a bheir buaidh,
Air an t’ shluagh a thig airv tir;
An Gearna Dubh sin, ’s i 'n Gearna Dubh,
'S ann innte dhoirtear an fhuil;
Marbhar an Ridire ruadh,
Mu'n teid clardheamh 'n truaill an diugh.”
Feared Lichd-Lee,* ah! dread Lichd-Lee!
Direful are the deeds the fates have doomed on thee|
Defeated by the sons of Gillean the invading multitude shall be.
On thee, Gearna-Dubh,} streams of blood shall flow;
And the bold Red Knight shall meet his death ere a sword is sheathed.

# Lichd-Lee was the spot where the MacLeans were encamped, and was so named from the
ground being partially covered with a pavement of smooth, flat rocks. 1A projecting rock or
precipice, forming the key of the position occupied by the MacLeans.
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Borreray’s dream worked with the most happy effect upon the supersti-
tious credulity of the Red Knight of Sleat; for, finding the MacLeans in full
force, and most advantageously posted at the pass of Gearna-Dubh (the
dreaded spot where the fates had prophesied his downfall), MacDonald turning
to his men said: “I know that you are faithful and true followers; you have
hitherto been so, and that you have exemplified by your gallantry and bravery
in action. I predict, however, that should we go to battling against the Mac-
Leans to-day, we would eome out of it with dirty hands; and I, your com-
mander, would fall under the heavy sword of MacLean! And now we will do
a very prudent thing if we at once set sail from Mull.” Instantly the retreat
was sounded, and pursued as they were by the MacLeans, aided by the artful
but worthy Borreray, who now took his opportunity, accompanied by his fol-
lowers, to change sides, the best MaeDonald was he who eoald first make to
the vessels. They were overtaken at the very spot, where on the night be-
fore they were seen sharpening their broad-swords on a flag-stone, near where
they were encamped (and the impressions made on the stone by the sharpen-
ing may still be seen); and so panic-stricken were they, that hardly any re-
sistance was made te the merciless attack of the MacLeans, great numbers
being slain, without the assailants on their side losing a single individual.
The heads of the dead were eut off and thrown into a well, at the head of
Loeh-na-Keal, which has ever since been called “Tobar-nan Ceann,” or The
Well of Heads.

This defeat served only as additional feul to the rage of the MacDonald’s,
and cxasperated to the utmost against the MaclLeans, as the whole clan now
was, a fresh levy was immedidtely made amongst the vassals of those chiefs
who headed the late invasion, and the place of rendezvous was appointed at
a small fortified island south of Kerrera, on the coast of Lorn, called Bachea.
This formed a convenient post, as being situated in a central position between
the MacDonalds of the North and those of the South. The chief of Mac-

“ Lean, however, did not witness these symptoms of rencewed hostilities against
him without due preparation on his part; and he lost no time in summoning
to his aid all the chieftains of his own name, and those of MacNeil, Mac-
Kinnon, and MacQuarric. Thus prepared, Lachlan Mér did not think it ad-
visable to stand on the defensive only, as regarded the threatened invasion, but
determined at once on attacking his enemies in their stronghold at Bachcea; and
the neeessary preparations for this purpose being completed, he crossed over
to the coast of Lorn early in the morning, his van being commanded by the
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gallant MacLean of Borreray on the right, and by MacNeil of Barra on the
left. The main body was led by Lachlan Mér in person. Borreray and Barra
concentrated their line, consisting chiefly of archers, at the principal landing
place on the west of the island, where they found the MacDonalds in strong
force prepared to dispute their landing. The attack was immediately com-
menced, and with such rapidity and fatal precision were the showers of ar-
rows from the galleys directed, that the defenders were soon forced to make a
precipitate retreat into their interior works. The MacLeans, following up their
advantage, pursued the MacDonalds into the center of the island, where a ter-
rible slaughter ensued, three hundred and forty of the MacDonalds and their
adherents being either killed or wounded. The victors also took many pris-
oners, among whom were the chief of Sleat, the chief of Ardnamurchan, Mac-
Leod of Lewis, and MacPhee of Colonsay. The victory was not only of
great importance from the fact that only two common soldiers were killed
and one gentleman of the Morvern Macl.eans wounded, but also because the
principal leaders had been captured. In the battle of Bachca the advan-
tages were in every respect in favor of the MacDonalds; they were in pos-
session of an island strongly fortified, and at the commencement of the ac-
tion numbered two thousand five hundred men, whereas MacLean’s followers
did not exceed twelve hundred. About cighteen hundred of the defeated
host made good their retreat by having taken the precaution to have their
boats in readiness, in case of reverse, on the opposite side of the island.
The victorious MacLeans, satisfied that their enemies could not again soon
be assembled to make head against them, returned to their peaceful occu-
pations.

A conflict so severe in the Western Isles, and so detrimental to good
government, could not pass without due notice from the king; and for the
more effectual suppression of similar disorders in the future, MacLean was
called upon to give hostages for his quiet behavior toward the MacDonalds,
which were to be placed at the disposal of the sovereign. The hostages in
possession of Angus MacDonald were ordered to be transferred to the king,
and kept where he should appoint, till the final settlement of the dispute be-
tween the Clandonald and the Clanlean. MacLean was required forthwith to
release the chiefs captured by him at the battle of Bachca, and the heads of
both tribes, their principal supporters and allies, were charged to remain quiet,
and to abstain from all conventions or gathering in arms, and from all attacks

on each other; so as not to hinder qr disturb the king in his attempts to bring

R
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about a settlement of their various disputes.* To all these conditions Lachlan
Mor submitted, was received into favor, and shortly afterward the king con-
ferred upon him the honor of knighthood as an eques auratus. MacDonald
failed to liberate the hostages according to the decree, and was in consequence
outlawed.

It has been mentioned that, in the feud between the MacLeans and Mac-
Donalds, the Clanian (MacDonalds of Ardnamurchan) not only assisted their
kinsmen, but the chief, John, was the immediate cause of the death of the

- faithful John Dubh. A favorable opportunity presented itself for redress on

the MacIans, of which Sir Lachlan was not slow to avail himself. John Mac-
Ian of Ardnamurchan, chief of that sept, had, before the breaking out of the

Jlate feud, been a suitor for the hand of Sir Lachlan’s mother (formerly Janet

Campbell, and sister of the late Earl of Argyle), who enjoyed a considerable
jointure in her own right, which had been conferred on her by Hector Moér,
twelfth chief of MacLean, but who, on account of his previous policy, had in-
curred the displeasure of Sir Lachlan, now renewed his suit, withont any ob-
Jection from the warlike chief of MacLean, although well aware that MacIan
could have no motive in seeking the hand of a woman of his mother’s age but
the possession of wealth and influence. Sir Lachlan viewed the proposed
alliance with disgust rather than approbation, but concluded to tolerate the
ambition of MacIan, that it might work out its own ruin. The mother gave
her consent to the proposed marriage, and the chief of Ardnamurchan, with a
train becoming the occasion, proceeded to Mull for the purpose of claiming his

“ bride, who at that time resided at Torloisk House, one of the seats of the chief

of MacLean, where the ceremony was performed. Sir Lachlan was present,
with many gentlemen of the clan, and the day passed in much conviviality
and apparent friendship. During the evening, however, after the newly-mated
pair had retired to rest, one of Maclan’s company introduced the subjeet of
the late feud, and in the argument thereby engendered, one of the MacLeans
maintained that the matter was introduced with a view of breeding a quarrel,
and that it ill became the MacDonalds to complain of results of the feud, as,
were it not for the generosity of their (the MacLean’s) chief, few leaders
would have remained to the Clandonald at the battle of Bachea. Heated with
wine, the parties came to high words; some of the gentlemen of Maclan’s
retinue jeeringly boasting that their chief only married the “old lady ™ for
the sake of her wealth. ¢ Drunkards ever tell the truth,” vociferated a kins-

* Record Privy Council, April 16, 1587.
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man of the chief of Macl.ean, as he plunged a dirk into the body of the inconsid-
erate MacDonald. The most barbarous slaughter now ensued; in the moment
of exasperation, nearly all the followers of Maclan were killed. The cause of
the quarrel being explained to Sir Lachlan, who was not present at the above
oceurrence, he made use of a Guelic phrase, having for its meaning, «“if the
fox rushes upon the hounds, he must expect to be worried.” His followers,
comprehending by this that he was quite indifferent to the fate even of Mac-
Tan himself, and having imbibed enough wine to make themselves reckless,
broke into the nuptial chamber and dragged the unhappy bridegroom from his
bed, and would have instantly dispatched him, had not the lamentations of his
mother for once moved the rugged nature of her imperious son. MacDonald
and his two remaining followers, Allaster and Angus Maclan, were then
seized and thrown into the dungeon of Duard Castle.

Having given the version of this affair as presented by the MacLean
seanachaidhs, it is but just to give Maelan’s account, as presented by his ad-
vocate, David MacGill, to the privy counecil. This petition avers: ¢ Lauchlane
of Dowart having of a lang tyme bigane conspirit” “the cruell murthour
and slauchter causles of Johnne McKane of Ardmurehin and his freindis,” and
as Lachlan could not prevail by force, ¢ he travillit be craft and policie,” and
pretended great friendship, “offering for the better mantenance of friendship
amangis thame thaireftir the mariage of Jannet Campbell moder to the said
Lauchlane ; quhilk being lykeit of be the said Johnne McKane, at last, at the
said Lauchlane’s eirnist desyre and requeist, the said Johnne repairit to the
toun and place of Torluisk upon the twelft day of Aprile last bipast, quhair”
the marriage took place; “and at nycht the said Johnne McKane wes con-
vayed be the hand be the said Lauchlane to his moderis awne chalmer and bed,
purpoislie to cullour his mischeiff, and that the said Johnne McKane, and his
freindis quhilkis beheld the same, mycht be cairles of thair awne suretie, as
indeid thai depairtit immediatlie thaireftir to tak the same nychtis rest in ane
uthir house or barne ewest to the parte quhair the said Johnne McKane wes,
loukeing for na harme nor injurie of ony persone, and chieflie of the said
Lauchlane or ony of his, in respect of his former behaviour actioun foirsaid.
Nevirtheles, immediatlie eftir thay haid fallin on slep, the said Lauchlane and
his compliceis, armed with havirshonis, swerds and durkis, enterit perforce
within the said house or barne, and in maist cruell and barbarous maner, with-
out pitie or compassioun, unmercifullie murdreist and slew thame to the
nowner of auchtene personis, gentlemen besydis utheris; and not satisfeid
thairwith, r.epaired immediatlie thaireftir to the chalmer quhair the said Johnne
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McKane wes lyand, and with the like crueltie persewit him, like as thai at the
same tyme, had bereft him of his lyff, wer not his awne bettir defens, and the
lamentable erying oute and eirnist sute of the said Lauchlanis moder, for
quhuis caus at last thay spaired his lyffe detening him nochtwithstanding

- scnsyne, with Allaster MeKane, and Angus McKane, his page, in strait firin-

ance and captivitie, putting his persone to dalie tortour and panis, and on
nawise will putt thame to liberty without he be compellit.” To answer this
complaint, Lachlan was duly sumnmoned ; but failing to make appearance, he
was, at Dumfries, June 18, 1588, ¢ denounced rebel.” *

Soon after the above occurrence, the ¢ Florida,” commanded by Captain
Don Fareija, one of the scattered ships of the celebrated Spanish Armada,
was forced by stress of weather and want of provisions into Tobermory Bay,
in Mull. The captain, arrogantly presuming on his floating power, sent per-
emptory orders to Duard Castle, commanding Sir Lachlan MacLeuan to supply
his ship with sueh provisions as he might require, or as the island could afford ;
but his mandate not meeting with attention at the hands of him to whom it
was addressed, he threatened to use the means within his power to help him-
self. The chief of MacLean was now aroused to indignation by the presump-

tion of the foreign straggler, and returned answer to the effect * that the wants

- of the distressed stranger should be attended to after he had been taught a

lesson of more courteous behavior; and in order that he might have such
lesson as speedily as his wants seemed pressing, he was invited to land and
supply his wants by the forcible means threatened ; for it was not the custom
with the chief of MacLean to pay ready attention to the wants of a threaten-
ing beggar.” The Don thought it the wisest course to decline the invitation
of the Lord of Duard, and now promised payment for all such necessaries as
might be supplied him. On this condition, the people of Mull were given per-
.mission to furnish such supplies as were required.

In the meantime, MacIan’s treatment on his nuptial night had aroused the
Clanranald, who were not slow to provoke hostilities with the chief of Duard.
MacLean delayed not in his preparations to meet the coming aggression by a
counter expedition; and for this purpose entered into an agreement with the
Spanish commander, by which he was to have the assistance of a hundred
marines from the ¢ Florida,” partly in return for the provisions supplied by
the inhabitants. With these auxiliaries in addition to his own eclan, Sir Lach-
lan proceeded against the MacDonalds, whom he defeated in every engage-

* Register of Privy Council, Vol. IV, p, 290,



108 History or THE Cnax MacLeax.

ment. He first proceeded to ravage and plunder the isles of Rum and Eig,
then occupied by the Clanranald, and the isles of Canna and Muck, belonging
to the Clanian. Having burned and subdued these islands, he then, with his
foreign auxiliaries, made a descent upon the mainland of Ardnamurchan, and
for three days laid close seige to MaclIan’s castle of Mingarry, Lis sanguinary
followers, at the same time, spreading themselves in every direction throughout
the lands belonging to that chieftain, Jaid it waste with fire and sword. In
the midst of these successes, Sir Lachlan received a message from the com-
mander of the ¢ Florida,” requesting the return of the Spanish force, as the
sh'ip was prepared to take her departure. MacLean of Treshnish at the samie
time sent a communication to his chief that the Spaniard was about to take
his leave without settling with the people for the provisions supplied. Sir
Lachlan remonstrated with Captain Fareija on the injustice thus contem.p]ated,
and the wily Don promised every satisfaction should be given ere he left the
country ; at the same time, he urgently requested the return of his men. Sir
Lachlan, determined that his cunning ally should not, if possible, escape with-
out discharging the obligations npon him, thought it proper to detain three of
the prineipal officers as-hostages, but permitted the rest of the Spaniards to
return to the ship; at the same time, he sent Donald Glas, son of John Dubh
MacLean of Morvern, on board the ¢ Florida,” to receive an adjustment of the
demands of his people. No sooner, however, had Donald Glas set foot on
board the ““ Florida,” than he was disarmed and made prisoner, and cautioned,
at the peril of his life, to attempt any communication with his friends.
Exasperated to the utmost fury by such treatment, and finding that the
Spaniard was making preparation for immediate departure, Donald at once
resolved that he should not escape unpunished, even though the fearful step he
was about to take for this purpose was destruction as certain to himself as to
his foes.. Finding the cabin in which he was confined to be in the immediate
vicinity of the powder magazine, he found an opportunity in the night time to
force his way into it, and laying his train in as concealed a position as possi-
ble, he waited the period when the final decision of Don Fareija might force
him to the desperate step contemplated. At daylight on the following
morning, Donald Glas was, in derision, summoned on deck to take a last fare-
well of the towering hills of Mull and Morvern, the beloved mountains of his
native soil. Finding by the preparations going on that his own abduction and
treachery to his kinsmen was in reality meditated, he requested a few attend-
ants that accompanied him on board to make the land as speedily as possible ;

and slipping a letter for his chief into the hand of one of them, he returned
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below, under pretense of mental suffering at this forcible separation from his
native land. Allowing sufficient time for his friends to reach a safe distance,
he sct himself to accomplish his drecadful purpose ; and immediately firing his
train, this remnant of the ill-fated Armada, with upward of three hundred
souls on board, was blown to pieces in the bay. Of the Spaniards, only three
escaped the immediate fate of their countrymen ; onc of these was so muti-
lated in the explosion that he died the next day.* The name of Donald Glas
MacLean nowhere occurs in the popular histories of Scottand; yet he was
just as brave, just as heroic and self-sacrificing, as any hero that ever fell upon
the field of battle.

Many traditional tales have been related in Mull eoneerning Captain Far-
eija and his loingeas (ship)—one of them relating to a dog belonging to one of
the Spanish officers, and which the people seem to have regarded with super-
stitious reverence as long as it lived. The poor animal was thrown ashore
upon a fragment of the deck to the distance of a mile and a half, and was dis-
covered in an apparently dying state by one of the inhabitants; but by atten-
tion it recovered, and no sooner did the faithful creature revive, than the
shore opposite to where the wreck of the “Florida” sunk became its con-
stant resort. Iere it would sit looking toward the spot, howling most pite-
ously, and by force alone could it be removed from the place. The remark-
able manner displayed by this dog so wrought upon the superstitions
of the people that it has formed a more lasting impression, through the ages
that have since elapsed, than the retribution which swept over three hundred
of their fellow-creatures.

The Spanish officers in the hands of the chief of MaeLean were immedi-
ately set at liberty, and permitted to leave the country; but as they held Sir
Lachlan to be connected with the destruction of their companions, they pro-
ceeded to Edinburgh, and there lodged complaint against him before the king
and council.

The feud between the MacDonalds and MacLeans, during this time, suf-
fered no relaxation, but was carried on with deep-seated hostility. The Mac-
Donalds of Islay and Sleat joined with their kinsmen of Clanranald and Ard-
namurehan against the MacLeans, and for a time the most barbarous destruc-
tion was carried on by both parties. The lands of the MacLeans were also
ravaged, their adversaries having employed English mercenaries. At last the

hostile clans became tired of their fruitless barbarities, and by mutual agree-

* For some interesting particulars concerning the * Florida,” see Appendix, Note A.
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ment MacLean released John MacIan. and the other prisoners held by him,
and Angus gave up the eight hostages formerly placed in his hands by Sir
Lachlan. ,

About the same time the government took notice of these commotions,
and the impecunious James found it entirely too favorable an opportunity
to lose the advantage of filling his depleted exchequer. ¢ TInstead, however,
of resorting to force, and thus compelling them and their followers to sub-
mission, a less manly course, althongh one, perhaps more suited to the dispo-
sition of the sovereign, was followed on this occasion. Remissions, under the
privy seal, were granted to the Macl.eans and MacDonalds, and their prinei-
pal adherents, for all the crimes committed by them during their late feud;
and, by these and similar means, Lachlan MacLean of Duard, and Angus
MacDonald of Tslay, and Donald Gorm MacDounald of Sleat, were at length
induced to come to Edinburgh, on the pretense of consulting with the king
and council for the good rule of the country. While there, by a breach of
faith on the part of the government which no circumstance can excuse, and
which ouly proves the weakness of the executive at this period, the three island
chiefs were seized and imprisoned in the castle. After some time, MacLean
and Angus MacDonald were brought to trial for the crimes alrcady pardoned
by the remissions under the privy seal; one of the principal charges against
them being their treasonable liring of Spanish and English soldiers to fight
in their private quarrels. Both these chiefs, however, refused to plead or to
go to a jury; but submitted themselves absolutely to the king’s mercy, plac-
ing their lives and lands at his disposal.” * This action on the pare of Mac-
Lean flattered the vanity of James, and further aided as Sir Lachlan was by
the powerful influence of his father-in-law, the earl of Glencairn, he made his
peace with the king; not, however, without paying a heavy pecuniary fine
into the hands of the money-loving monarch. MacLean and the chief of
Islay were each amerced in the sum of twenty thousand pounds. MacLean
was discharged on his promise to present hostages within a certain time after
his release ; but Islay was not released until he had placed his two sons as
Lostages in the hands of the king, besides a near relative, for his appearance
on a certain fixed day; and even if he should then appear, his hostages
should be detained until Donald Gorm of Sleat—who was fined four thousand
pounds—should give hostages from among his own kinsmen for the per-
formance of the conditions prescribed to him. After all the arrangements had

.

* Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 240.
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been made, the chieftains returned to their estates, which was in the year
1591. '

Relative to the above narrative of events the following is of interest as
taken from the official records :

Dated at Holyrood House, April 16, 1587, is the decree relative to the
imprisonment of Lachlan MacLean and Angus MaeDonald. It remits the
great crimes of Angus McConeill of Dunnyveg and Glennis and his accom-
plices, ““and causit satisfie all things that mycht stay thair intendit rigour
agains Lauchlane MecClayne of Dowart, then detainit in maist strait captivi-
tie,” and the eight hostages placed in Angus’s hands should be delivered to
Archibald, earl of Argyle, or any of his tutors who should convey the same
to the king, and all parties commanded to live in quietness.®

At Edinburgh, January 3, 1588, before the privy council Lachlan Mac-
Lean is charged that in the previous October, ‘“accumpayed with a grite now-
mer of thevis, brokin men and sornaies of Clannis, besydis the nowmer of ane
hundreth Spanyeartis, come, bodin in feir of weir to his Majesties propir ilis
of Canna, Rum, Eg, and the Ile of Elennole, and eftir they had soirned,
wracked and spoiled the saidis haill Illis, they treasonablie rased fyre, and in
maist barbarous, shamefull and cruell maner, byrnt the same Illis, with the
haill men, wemen and childrene being thoir intill, not spairing the pupillis and
infantis, and at that same tyme past to the Castell of Ardnamurchin, assegeit
the same, and lay abowte the said Castell three dayis, using in the meantyme
all kynd of hostilitie and force, baith be fyre and swerd,” from which they were
forced by ¢ gude subjectis,” and the ““like barbarous and shamefull erueltie has

sendle bene hard of amangis Christeanis in any kingdome or age.” Lachlan

~ making no appearance, it was recommended that he be denounced rebel.f

“On the 20th March 1588 King James granted a remission to Lachlan
MacLean of Duard for the cruel murder of certain inhabitants of the islands
of Rum, Canna and Eig. From the remission was excepted the plotting of
felonious burning and flaming up, by sulphurous powder, of a Spanish ship,
and of the men and provisions in ler, near the island of Mull.” }

In Skene’s Celtic Seotland (Vol. IIL., pp. 428-440) is a description of the
Western Isles appended, which has all the appearance of an official report,
and written about the year 1590. Skene says it must have been written be-
tween 1577 and 1595, which would bring it during the chieftainship of Sir

* Register of I’ri;-y Council, Vol. IV, pp. 159, 160. 1t Ibid., pp. 341, 342. } Appendiz Sizth,
Report Royal Commission Hist. MSS, p. 609.
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Lachlan Mér. It is particularly valuable, at this time, for it gives an idea of
the strength of the MacLean forces. It begins with the information that
« the haill Isles of Scotland were devidit in four pairts of auld, viz. Lewis,
Sky, Mule, and Yla, and the remanent haill Isles were reknit but as pertmets
and pendicles of the said four Iles.” «Perteining to the Ile of Mule were
Lismoir, Tuahannais, Ulloway, Commatra, Inschkennycht, Sanct Colmisinche,
alias Colmkill, Tireich, and Coll.” Mull “is all 300 merk land, and will
raise 900 men to the weiris. MecClane Doward, callit Great McClane, hes the
maist pairt thairof, extending to aucht score merk land and ten, and will raise
on it with the pairt he hes of the Bischop 600 men thairupon. MecClane: of
Lochbuy hes thriescore merk land, and will raise 200 men thairon. The
Bischop has 30 merk land thair, but McClane Doward hes it in his posses-
sion occupiet be his kin. The Laird of McKynvin hes 20 merk land, and the
uther 20 merk land pertenis to the Laird of Schellow (Coll), but they will
raise 100 thairon. . . . In everie pairt thairof are mony deires, raes, and |
wild foullis. MecClane of Doward hes twa castellis in this Ile, the ane named
Doward, the uther callit Aross, quhilk sumtime perteinit to McConneill.
McClane of Lochbuy hes ane castell thair intill callit the Castell of Lochin-
buy. Ilk merkland in this Ile payis yeirlic 5 bollis beir, 8 bollis meill, 20
stanes of cheese, 4 stanes of buttir, 4 mairtis, 8 wedderis, twa merk of silver,
and twa dozen of pultrie, by cuddiche, quhanevir thair master’ cummis to
thame.” ¢ Scalpa is four merk land perteining heritablie to McClane. It is
mair fertile and commodions for deir and hunting nor it is ather for corns or
store. It will raise 20 men.”  “«Coamatra is four merk land, and pertenis to
McClane of Dowart; it is plane, fair, and verie commodious for corns and
catell of sa mekle. Tt payis yeirlié as Mull payis. It will rais 16 or 20
men.”  “Inschenycht is an Ile perteining to the said McClane, holding pay-
ment and commodities in all sortis as the said Ile of Coamatra.” ¢ Collow
(Coll) is 30 merk land, and pertenis to the Laird of Collow; is very fertile
alsweill of corns as of all kind of catell. Thair is sum little birkin woodis
within the said Ile. Ilk merk land payis yeirlie as is declarit of the Ile of

Mule, and will raise seven score men.” ¢ Tierhie (Tiree) is commodious and

fertile of corns and store of gudes. It is 140 merk land, and will raise to
the weiris 300 men. It pertenis to great McClane of Doward, and is all teillit
land, and na girs but ley land, quhilk is maist nurischand girs of any other,
quhairthrow the ky of this Ile abundis sa of milk that thai are milkit four times
in the day. The yeirlie dewtie thairof is sa great of victuall, buttir,

cheis, mairtis, wedderis, and other customes, that it is uncertain to the
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inhabitants thairof quhat thai should pﬁy, but obeyis and payis qubatevir
is cravet be thair maister for thair haill deuties, only to tak so mony
firlotts as micht stand side be side round about the haill Ile full of victuall,
half mcill, half beir, and it wes refuseit.”” “Ila is 18 score merk land
and will raise 800 men. MecClane of Doward hes the half thairof. This
Isle is plenteous of woodis, quhairin are mony deir, raes, and wild foullis. It
is commodious for all kind of fisches, and in all the small burnis of this Ile
are multipill of salmond and other fisches. McClane hes one strengthie cas-
tell thairin, quhilk standis in ane niche within ane fresche-water loch callit
Lochgormen. The merk land in this Ile payié yeirlie three and ane half
mairtis, 14 wedderis, 28 geis, 4 dozen and 8 pultrie, 5 bollis malt with ane
peek to ilk boll, 6 bollis meill, 20 stane of cheis, and twa merk of silver. And
ilk merk land man sustein daylie and yeirlie ane gentleman in meit and claith,
quhilk dois na labour.” “Jurais 30 merk land, the half pairt thairof per-
tainis to the said McClane. The haill will raise, with the Ile of Scarba 100
men. The land is exeellent, and very fertile for corns; but is fair the maist
part wilderness and woodis, quhairin is mony deir, raes, and other wild beistis.
Sa mekle labourit land as is in this Ile, it payis alike to Ila of dewties.”
“ MecClane of Doward hes Layng of my lord Argile for service. It has na
set rentall of dewtie, becanse it is everie yeir alterit or sct.” “Scarbu is
4 merk land, and pertenis to McClane of Loechbuy in heritage. It is all
woodis and craigis, except twa tounis. It payis zeirlie, samekle as is labourit
thairof, as the remanent Iles payis, and will raise 17 men.” This deseription
does not relate to possessions on the mainland.

The life which Sir Lachlan had been leading made him restless; and his
desire for war grew upon him. Immediately after his release in 1591, he
offered, through Bowes, to Elizabeth, Queen of England, his services in aid
against the chiefs of Islay and Sleat, as well as O’Rourke and other Irish
barons, who were then in rebellion against her authority. In terms of his ¢n-
gagement, he proceeded to Ireland at the head of eighteen hundred of his follow-
ers, and, by his assistance, the queen’s deputy soon sup.pressed the rebellion.

The suspension of the desolating feuds of the powerful chiefs of MacLean
and MacDonald was an event of the utmost importance to their followers, and
one of which they had every reason to feel more than ordinary gratitude. Peace
appeared to be fully established, and the prospects for growth and prosperity
brightened every day; and between the elans a friendly intercourse was main-
tained. This state of affairs continued uninterrupted for a considerable time;

but this universal harmony now existing between parties so long at enmity and
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so deadly hastile to one another, was looked upon more with jealousy than
satisfaction by the government. The government was so weak and impotent
that its principal strength, as regarded the Isles, lay rather in the dissensions
of those chiefs who were powerful and restless; and the growth of friendship
between the MacLeans and MacDonalds was regarded with great disfavor.
King James had long believed that there was great wealth in the Isles, and he
constantly turned his eye in that direction, when not begging a pension from
the queen of England, in hopes that money might be extracted for his coffers. -
Money could be realized by the arrest, imprisonment, and threatened forfeiture
of the most influential chiefs. Where the will was so disposed, it was not diffi-
cult to find a pretext for the exercise ot arbitrary power. A decrce was issued
on 8th of June, 1592,* commanding Lachlan MacLean of Duard to appear per-
sonally before the king and his council upon 13th July next, and to find surety
for the thankful payment of the king’s ¢ rentis of his propir landis in the Ilis
possest be him and his freindis, in conformity with the said Act of Parliament.”
This act of parliament (Aects ILI., 561, 562) required Lachlan to give obedicence
before the Ist August next, under pain of forfeiture of life, lands and goods.
This act had been passed against him because all the terms of his late remis-
sion had not been complied with. Dut James cared not for that, as his own
statement in the decree shows it was money. From the decree, it appears
he had failed to give hostages and enter his own person in ward at the castle
of Edinburgh. About the same time, many others were peremptorily brought
before the king.

On the 16th March, 1592-3,1 at Edinburgh, the king, with advice of his
council, ordains letters to issue to relax the following persons from the horn
for “ony cause bygone,” receive them to the king’s peace, and giff to thame
the wand thairof,—Lauchlane MecGillane of Dowart, McGillan of Lochboy,
MecClaine of Coll; McCloyd, tutor of Iarrick, Lauchlane McFingoun, alias
McKynnoun, of Strathoradell, Ilector McQueine or McCorrey of Ullovay,
Chairlis McGilleane, tutor of Ardgour, John Oig McGillane of Ardnamurcho,
Allane MecGillane, bailie of Morveane, Johnne McGilleane, bailie of Rosie,
Neil MeGillecallam, captain of Arros, McGilleawne, captain of Carnybreigh,
McNeill of Barry.” ;

Three of the leading earls of Scotland were strong Catholies, and possessed
considerable influence ; these were Huntly, Angus, and Erroll. They formed
a conspiracy with Philip of Spain for the restoration of the Catholic religion

* Register Privy Council, Vol. IV., p. 755. 1 Ibid., Vol. V., p. 54.
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in Scotland. So bold did they ffnally become, that in June, 1594, they were
declared forfeited by parliament. The commotion stirred up by these papists
had a corresponding result in the Isles, and the chiefs there pursued the even
tenor of their way. As Sir Lachlan Mo6r remained contumacious, or for some
misdemeanor, the same parliament also declared him forfeited. I'his was un-
doubtedly caused by the want of money, for on Lachlan offering the king a
considerable amount of money, the forfeiture, so far as he was concerned, was
reversed. It may have been that the king odly desired to humiliate such
powerful chiefs, and their obedience flattered his vanity. Such proceedings
were certainly caleulated to alienate the good will of MacLean, for the unwar-
rantable procedure and its object were plainly visible. But the Catholic earls
resorting to open rebellion, James found that the assistance of the MacLeans
was necessary, not only to preserve the peace of the kingdom, but the throne
itsclf. For some unaccountable reason, unless it was the mere accident of
birth, the command of the royal forces was bestowed upon Archibald Campbell,
seventh Earl of Argyle, an individual of no experience and but cighteen years
of age. The folly of this appointment was fully made manifest. Under this
earl, Sir Lachlan was asked to serve with his clansmen. The army was com-
posed partly of Campbells, but particularly of MacLeans, MacNeills, Maec-
Gregors, MacIntoshes, and Grants; in all, between six and seven thousand
men. Three thousand were chosen men, bearing harquebuses, bows, and
pikes; the rest were more slenderly equipped, both as to body armor and
weapons. Argyle made many boasts, and sent a challenge to Iuntly, and
that within three days he would sleep in Strathbogie. e ordered “the
. herald to proclaim the royal commission by sound of trumpet in the market-
place, and appointed Sir Lachlan Macliean of Duard to the chief command
under himself.” The army marched into Badenoch, and laid seige to the
castle of Ruthven, which the MacPhersons strongly defended. Failing here,
Argyle next led his army through the hills to Strathbogie, intending to carry
fire and sword through Huntly’s lands. On his arrival at Glenlivat, Argyle
found that Huntly and Erroll were in the vicinity with fiftcen hundred men,
principally of cavalry. In this army were also Highlanders—the Clan
Cameron, the MacPhersons, and Clanranald. On October 3d (1594) Huntly
marched against Argyle, and opened fire; ‘“and on the first discharge,
which was dirccted at the yellow standard of Argyle, struck down and slew
MacNeill, the Laird of Barra’s third son, one of their bravest officers, and
Campbell of Lochnell, who held the standard. This successful commence-
ment oceasioned extraordinary confusion amongst the Highlanders, to many
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of whom the terrible effects of artillery were even at this late day unknown;
and a large body of them, yelling and brandishing their broad-swords and
axes, made some ineffectual attempts to reach the horsemen; but receiving
another fire from the little ordnance train of Captain Gray, they took to
flight, and in an incredibly short time were out of sight and pursuit. Still,
however, a large body remained; and Argyle had the advantage not only of
the sun, then shining fiercely in the eyes of his opponents, glancing on their
stecl coats and making the plain appear on fire, but of the ground; for his
army was arrayed on the top of a steep hill covered with high heather and
stones, whilst the ground at the bottom was soft and mossy, full of holes,
called in that country peat-pots, and dangerous for cavalry. But all this did
not deter Huntly’s vanguard, under Errol and Auchendown, from advancing
resolutely to the attack. Errol, however, dreading the marsh, made an oblique
movement by some firmer ground which lay on one side, and hoped thus to
turn the flank of the enemy; but Sir Patrick Gordon of Auchendown, urged
on by his fiery temper, spurred his horse directly toward the hill, and getting
entangled with his men in the mossy ground, was exposed to a murderous
fire from the force under MacLean of Duard. This chieftain was conspicu-
ous from his great stature and strength; he was covered with a shirt of mail,
wielded a double-edged Danish battle-ax, and appears to have been a more
experienced officer than the rest, as he placed his men, who were mostly
¢ harquebusicrs,” in a small copsewood hard by, from which they could de-
liver their fire, and be screened from the attack of cavalry. Auchendown,
nevertheless, although his ranks were dreadfully thinned by this fire ot the
enemy’s infantry, managed to disengage them, and spurring up the hill, re-
ceived a bullet in the body, and fell from his horse; whilst his companions
shouted with grief. and rage, and made desperate efforts to reseue him. The -
Highlanders, however, who knew him well, rushed in upon him, dispatched
him with their dirks, and, cutting off his head, displayed it in savage triumph;
a sight which so enraged the Gordons, that they fought with a fury which
alike disregarded discipline and life. This gave an advantage to MacLean,
who, inclosing the enemy’s vanguard, and pressing it into narrow space be-
tween his own force and Argyle’s, would have cut them to pieces had not
Huntly come speedily to their support and renewed the battle ; attacking
both Argyle and MacLean with desperate cnergy, and calling loudly.to his
friends to vevenge Auchendown. It was at this moment that some of the Gor-
dons caught sight of Fraser, the king’s herald, who rode beside Argyle, and was
dressed in his tabard, with the red lion embroidered upon it, within the double
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tressure. This ought to have been his protection; but it scemed rather to
point him out as a victim; and the horsemen shouting out, Ilave at the
lion,” ran him through with their spears, and slew him on the spot.  The bat-
tle was now at its height, and raged for two honrs with the utmost (-ruelt):.
Errol was severely wounded with a bullet in the arm, and by one of the sharp-
barbed arrows of the Highland bowmen, which pierced deep into the thigh, -
He lost his pennon or gnidon also, which was won by MacLeau.  Gordon of
Gicht was struck with three bullets through the body, and had two plates of
his steel eoat earried into him—wonnds which next day proved mortal.
Huntly himself was in imminent danger of his life; for his horse was shot
under him, and the Highlanders were abont to attack him on the ground with
their knives and axes, when he was extricated and horsed again by Innermar-
kie; after which, he again chm:ged the enemy under Argyle, whose troops
wavered, and at last began to fly in such nwnbers that only twenty men were
left around him. Upon this, the young chief, overcome with grief and vexa-
tion at so disgraceful a desertion, shed tears of rage, and would still have re-
newed the fight, had not Murray of Tullibardine seized his bridle and foreed
him off the field. Seeing the day lost, MaeLean, who had done most and suf-
fered least in this eruel fight, withdrew his men from the wood, and retired in
good order; but seven hundred ITighlanders were slain in the chase, which
was continued until the steepness of the mountains rendered pursuit impossi-
ble. Such was the battle of Glenlivat.”* The loss of ITuntly did not amount
to over seventy.

All historians who have recorded the battle of Glenlivat have been loud
in their praise of the conduct of Sir Lachlau Mér MacLean. Among these,
the following are sclected: Gregory says: * The conduct of Lachlan Mac-
Lean of Duard, who was one of Argyle’s officers in this action, would, if imi-
tated by the other leaders, have converted the defeat into a victory. 'That
chief acted the part of a brave and skillful soldier, keeping his men in their
ranks, and employing with good effect all the advantages of his position. It
was his division which inflicted the principal loss on the rebels: and, at the
close of the action, he retired in good order with those under his command.
It is said that, after the battle, he offered, if Argyle would give him five hun-
dred men in addition to his own clan, to bring the Earl of Huntly prisoner into

Argyle’s camp. This proposal was rejected ; but having come to the ears of
gy p prop ) g

* Tytler’s History of Scotland, Vol. IV, p. 223,
8
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Huntly, incensed him greatly against MacLean, whose son afterwards, accord-
ing to tradition, lost a large estate in Lochaber through the animosity of that
Eowerful nobleman.”*  Sir Walter Scott uses the following language : ¢ The
chief of MacLean alone, a man of uncommon strength and.courage, dressed
in a shirt of mail, and armed with a double-edged battle-axe, defied the efforts
* of the assailants for some time, but was at length compelled to flight.” +
Spottiswoode says: “In end, the Argyle men were disordered and put to
rout. The ear] himself labored all he could to rally them again together, but
it would not be; so amazed they were, as, without once looking back, down
they went the other side of the hill with all the speed they could make. Mae-
Lcan, with a few isles-men. stood long unto it after the rest were gone, and
retired in good order with the small company he had.”{ In the Spottiswoode
Miscellany (Vol. 1., p. 261), is the following: ¢“The Islanders made strong
resistance and stood long after the main body had betaken them to flight, es-
pecially their leader MacLean, who was so pertinacious and headstrong that
but with strong hands by his friends, and others he was told of the lieutenant’s
retreat, could not be withdrawn from the fight. In the lieutenant’s army were
12,000 men, whereof above 500 were killed, many prisoners and the colors
taken.” The author of the Conflict of the Clans, written during the reign of
James VI, says: “In end, Argyle with his main battle began to decline, and
then to flee apace, leaving Maeliean still fighting in the field; who, seeing
himself thus destitute of succors, and his men cither fled or slain, }‘etired in
good order with the small company he had about him, and saved himself by
flight ; having behaved himself in the fight, not only like a good commander,
but also like a valiant soldier.”” || Browne records that, “after a hard contest
the main body of Argyle’s army began to give way, and retreated towards the
rivulet of Altchonlachan ; but MacLean still kept the field and continued to
support the falling fortune of the day. At length, finding the contest hope-
less, and after losing many of his men, he retired in good order with the small
company that still remained about him.” §  Keltie says: “The earl of Errol
was directed to attack the right wing of Argyle’s army, commanded by Mac-
Lean. . . . The fall of Auchindun so exasperated his followers that they
set no bounds to their fury; but MacLean received their repeated assaults
with firmness, and manceuvered his troops so well as to succeed in cutting off

the earl of Errol, and placing him between his own body and that of Argyle,

# Western IIighlrlﬁds, p- 259. T History of Scotland, Vol. 11, p. 349, 1 History of the
Church of Seotland, Vol. 1L, p. 469. || Celtic Magazine, Vol. X1., p- 119. % History of the High-
land Clans, Vol. 1., p. 225.
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by whose joint forces he was completely surrounded. . . . MacLean still
kept the field, and continued to support the falling fortune of the day. At
length, finding the contest hopeless, @nd after losing many of his men, he re-
tired in good order with the small company that still remained about him.” *
“ Huntly won the day, but the MacLeans were the only party that won honors
on that occasion.” ¥ The Book of Seottish Story (p. 640) declares that, ¢ on
this occasion Lachlan Mor was greatly distinguished for bravery and for pru-
dence, having acted the part of an experienced commander, and gained the
applause of both armies.”” The Pennycross MS, in harmony with the various
MSS of the MacLean family, says, that Lachlan Mér drew up his men at a
short distance from the main body, as a reserve, kept his ground, and when
the Gordons began to attack him, they poured such a shower of arrows upon
them that they were glad to give them no more trouble. The Maclezns,
standing their ground till evening, retired in good order, and joined Argyle at
night. Lachlan Mér offered to Argyle, if he would allow him to choose five
hundred men out of the army, together with his own clan, he would hring the
Earl of Huntly, either dead or alive, to him.  This proposal the Earl of Argyle
rejected ; and Huntly, having heard of it, studied revenge, which was after-
ward effected, as shall be told in its place.

Archibald Campbell of Lochnell, commander of one of the divisions of Ar-
gyle’s army, had opened up a traitorous correspondence with the confederated
earls. “This ambitious baron, whose previons machinations for the destruc-
tion of his chief and his own advancement to the carldom had not yet come
to the knowledge of Argyle—thought the present an excellent opportunity
of accomplishing his long-cherished views. IHe therefore sent a private mes-
sage to Huntly, desiring him to attack the Highlanders, and promising, in
the course of the engagement, to aid him with the division under his command.
He likewise suggested that some pieces of artillery which accompanied
Huntly’s army should be fired at Argyle’s banner; hoping thus to get rid of
that nobleman by an apparent chance shot, and to discourage the faithful
Highlanders, who were many of them unacquainted with artillery. The ad-
vice of Lochnell was followed ; but the result was unexpected.”  The missiles
struck down the treacherous Lochnell.}

The triumph of the Popish earls for their success at Glenlivat was of

short duration. The king with a sufficient force proceeded against them and

® History of the Ilighland Clans, Vol. 1., p. 109. T The Highlander (Inverness), June 27,
1874. 1 Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 258.
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demolished their fortresses. Muntly was forced to flee abroad, and Angus
lurked as a fugitive in the wilds of Douglasdale.

We are next introduced to Sir Lachlan Mor as an important personage in
the cause of England, during the rcign of Elizabeth. This has been so well
told by Tytler* that his language is here adopted : “The queen of England
began bitterly to repent her neglect of Scotland, and to look with alarm to a
storm which threatened her on the side of the Isles. She was now trembling for
her empire in Ireland, where Tyrone had arisen in formidable force, and, as-
sisted with Roman gold and Spanish promises, threatened to wrest from her
hands the fairest provinces of her kingdom. In these cireamstances, both
Elizabeth and the Irish prinee looked for assistance and reeruits to the Secot-
tish Isles. These nurseries of brave soldiers and hardy scamen were now
able to furnish a formidable force; a eircumstance not unknown to the En-
¢lish queen, as her indefatigable minister, Burghley, whose diplomatic feelers
were as long as they were acute and sensitive, kept up a communication with
the Isles.  From a paper written in the end of the year 1593, by one of his
northern correspondents, it appears that the Isles could, on any emergeney,
get out a force of six thousand hardy troops, inured to danger both by sea
and land, and equipt for war on either clement. Of these, two thousand wore
defensive armor, actons, habergeons, and knapsculls; the rest were bowmen
or pikemen ; but many, adds the island statist, had now become harquebusiers.
This force, it is to be observed, was independent of those kept at home to
labor the ground; the whole of the Isles being different from the rest of
fendal Scotland in one essential respect, ¢that they who occupied the ground
were not charged to the wars.” . . . Of these echiefs, the Lord of Duard,
commonly called Lachlan Mér, was by far the most talented and conspicuous;
and, Elizabeth well knew, had the power of bridling or letting loose that for-
midable body of troops which Donald Gorm and Ruari Moér were now col-
lecting to assist her enemies in Ireland. . . . It is curious to trace
Elizabeth’s eonnection with this man. The lord of Duard’s confidential
servant happened to be a certain shrewd Kelt, named John Achinross; he, in
turn, was connected by marriage with Master John Cunningham, a worthy
citizen and merchant of Edinburgh. This honest bailie of the capital, form-
ing the link between savage and civilized life, corresponded with Sir Robert
Bowes; Bowes with Burghley or Sir Robert Cecil; and thus Elizabeth, sit-
ting in her closet at Windsor or Greenwich, moved the strings which could

* History of Scotland, Vol. IV, pp. 234-7.
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assemble or disperse the chivalry of the Isles. This is no ideal picture, for
the letters of the actors remain. As early as March, 15894-5, Achinross in-
formed Bowes that MacLean and Argyle were ready, not only to stay the
Clan Donnell, whe, under Donald Gorm, were then mustering to assist Tyrone,
but that MacLean himself would join the English army in Ireland, if Eliza-
beth would dispatch three or four ships to keep his galleys whilst they attacked
the enemy.®  As the summer came on, and the fleet of Donald and his asso-
ciates waited only for a fair wind, Cunningham hurried to the Isles, had a
conference with MacLean, and thence rode post to London, where, in an in-
terview with Sir Robert Cecil, he urged the necessity of instant action and
assistance.f "Phe bridle which the laird of Duard held over the Islemen was
simple enough; being a garrison of six hundred mercenaries, well armed,
and ready to be led by him, on a moment’s warning, against any island chief
who embarked in foreign service, and left his lands undefended at home.]  The
support of this force, however, required funds: Elizabeth demurred; Maec-
Lean was obliged to disband his men; and the most part of the fleet weighed
anchor, and bore away for Ireland.|| Tt consisted of a hundred sail, of which
fifty were galleys, the rest smaller craft; and the number of soldiers and mari-
ners was estimated at about five thousand.§ Nine hundred men, however,
under the captain of the Clan Ranald,** still remained; and as they passed
Mull had the temerity to land for the night; running their © galleys, boats,
and birlings,” into a little harbor, where they imagined themselves seccure.
But MacLean, by what Achinross termed a ¢ bauld onset and prattie feit of
weir,” took the whole c'ompzmy prisoners, threw the chiefs into irons, sent
them to his dungeons in his different castles, appropriated their galleys, and
transmitted the common men to the mainland.f+ Amongst the chief prison-
ers then taken,' were the captain of Clan Ranald and three of his uncles, the
laird of Knoydart, MacIan of Ardnamurchan, Donald Gorm’s brother, and
others; and an account of the surprise was immediately transmitted by John
Achinross to Nicholson, the English envoy at the court of James. We can
pardon the enthusiasm and abominable orthoepy of this devoted Highland

#MS State-paper Oflice, Murch 25, 1595, contents of John Achiuross’s letter to Robert
Bowes. T MS letter, State-puper Gflice, John Cunningham to Sir R. Bowes, June 25, 1595; also,
MucLean of Duard to Sir Robert Cecil, July 4, 1595; ulso, same to Sir R. Bowes, July 4, 1595;
also, ibid., Nicolson to Bowes, July 5, 1595.

George Nicolson, July 22, 1595, | Ibid., Nicolson to Bowes, July 26, 1595, 3§ Ibid., Mr. George
Areskine to Nicholson, Dunoon, July 81, 1595. #¥ [bid., sume to same, T3 MS letter, State-

papér Office, Achinross to Nicholson, July 31, 1595.

+MS letier, State-paper Office, John Achinross to
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servant when le exclaims: ¢ My maister is acquaentit with thir prattie onsettis,
without respect to number find and vantage: for divers tymis he plaid this
dance heir aganis his enemies. I assuir you, thir men that are tane and in
captivity, ar the maist doubttit and abil men in the Ilis.  Lat your guid mais-
ter and Sir Robert comfort thame with this gude luke, done be ane vailyeant
man of weir, and ane man of houor, in beginning of her majestie’s
service.” ¥

« Llizabeth was delighted with this exploit of Lachlan Mor; assured him
of her gratitude and friendship, and sent a more substantial proof than words,
in a present of a thousand erowns: an honorable token of her favor,” as he
called it in a letter to Cecil, in which he promised all duty and service to the
queen. She wrote, at the same time, to the earl of Argyle; flattered him by
some rich token of her regard; and ordered Nicholson, her resident at the
Scottish court, to deliver it and her letter to him in person, at Dunoon in
Argyle.  All this was successfully accomplished; and so cordially did Mae-
Lean and Argyle co-operate, sowing distrust and division amongst the chiefs
and leaders who had followed the banner of Donald Gorm and Macl.eod, that
their formidable force only made the coast of Ireland to meet the English
ships, whieh were on the watel for them, enter into a friendly treaty, and dis-
perse to their different ocean nests, before a single effort of any moment had
been made. This sndden arrival, and as sudden disappearance of the fleet of
the Islesmen, appears to have puzzled the chroniclers of the times, and even
their more acute modern successors. A black clond had been scen to gather
over ITreland; and men waited in stillness for the growl of the thunder and
the sweep of the tempest, when it melted into air, 311111 all was once more tran-
quillity. This secemed unaccountable; almost miraculous; but the letters of
honest John Cunningham, and his Keltic relative Achinross, whose epistles
smack so strongly of his Gaelic original, introduce us behind the scenes, and
discover Lachlan Mér as the secret agent, the Keltic Prospero, whose wand
dispersed the galleys and restored serenity to the ocean. The reader may be
pleased with an extract from a letter of this brave lord of Duard to Sir R.
Bowes, although his style is a little ponderous, and by no means so polished
as the Danish steel axe with which it was his delight to hew down his enemies :
he is alluding to the future plan of the campaign intended by Tyrone and
O’Donnell against Elizabeth, and to the best way to defeat it:

m : . .
“¢The earl is to pursue you on one side, and O’Donnell is to pursue your

* MS letter, State-paper Office, Achinross to Nicholson.
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lands presently on the other side. They think to harm you meikle by this
way. If my opinion were followed out, the earl and O’Donnell shall be pur-
sued on both the sides: to wit, by your force of Ireland on the one side, and
by the earl of Argyle’s force and mine, with my own presence, on this side.
To the whieh, I would that you moved the earl of Argyle to furnish two thou-
sand men ; myself shall furnish other two thousand ; and I would have six or
eight hundred of your spearsmen, with their butfis, and fonr hundred pikemen.
If I were once landed in Ircland with this company, having three or four ships
to keep our galleys, I hope in God the earl should lose that name ere our re-
turn. . . . In my name your lordship shall have my duty of humble
service remembered to her majesty, and eommendations to good Sir Robert
Cecil, with whom I think to be acquainted. Your lordship will do me a great
pleasure if you will let me know of any thing in Scotland that may pleasure
Sir Robert. I am so hamely * with your Jordship, that without you let me
know hereof, I will think that your lordship does dissimull with me. 1 am
here, in Argyle, at pastime and hunting of deer. I am hamely with your
lordship, as ye may perceive. At meeting (for the which I think long), (iod
willing, we shall renew our acquaintanee.” ” +

*The continuance of the rebellion in Ireland, and the intrigues of Tyrone
with the Western Isles, had greatly annoyed Elizabeth ; and Bowes was ordered
to communieate with the king, and with MacLean of Duard, on the subject.
He found that James had resolved to adopt speedily some decided measures to
bring the Isles into order; and hoped to sueceed by employing in this service
the earl of Argyle, MaeLean, and MacKenzie, to whose sister MacLean had
lately married his cldest son. The ambassador had been, as usual, tutored to
spare his mistress’s purse, whilst he sounded MaeLean’s ¢ mind, power and
resolution;’ and exerted himself to the utmost to drive a hard bargain. He
was alarmed, too, with the din of warlike preparations then sounding through
the western archipelago: Donald Gorm was mustering his men, and repairing
his galleys; MacLeod of Ilarris had lately landed from Ireland, and was
ready to return with fresh power; and Angus MacDonald, another potent
chief, was assemblling his galleys and soldiers.f MacLean himself was in
Tiree, then reckoned ten days’ journey from Edinburgh; and Argyle, so intent
in investigating the murder of Campbell of Calder, now traced to Campbell of

* Hamely, familiar. 1 MS letter, State-pnper Oftice, Lachlan Mue«Lean of Duard to Sir R.
Bowes, Garvie in Argyle, August 22, 1595. 1 MS letter, Stute-paper Office, Murch 6, 1595-6.
Memorial to John Cunninghum, Februnry 22, 1595-6. Answers by MacLenn to the questions
proposed by Sir R, Bowes, March 30, 1596.
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Ardkinglass, that Bowes could have no immediate transactions with either.
He set, however, Cunningham and Achinross, his former agents, to work ; and
when these active emissaries got amongst the Highlanders, the storm of letters,
memorials, contracts, queries, answers and estimates, soon poured down on the
unhappy head of Bowes, who implored Cecil, but with small success, to send
him instructions, and some portion of treasure, to satisfy Elizabeth’s Keltic
auxiliaries, who elamored for gold. MacLean was perfectly ready, as before,
to attack Tyrone; and confident that the plan of campaign, which he had
already communicated, if carried into vigorous effect, would reduce the great
rebel. But he made it imperative on the queen to furnish two thousand
soldiers, and advance a month’s pay to his wen. Ie himself, he said, had
neither spared gear nor pains in the service: and yet her majesty’s long
promised present of a thousand erowns had not yet arrived.”* These remon-
strances produced the effect desired. Elizabeth was shamed into some settle-
ment of her promises; and MacLean, with his island chivalry, declared him-
self ready to obey her majesty’s orders with all promptitude and fidelity.” ¥

Tt is uncertain whether or not Sir Lachlan performed any service for the
English queen after this. His death soon after probably prevented it.
Tyrone’s rebellion was not suppressed until 1602.}

Early in the year 1596, the king, by the advice of the privy council and
of the estates of parliament, then in session, and in order to increase his
revenues, determined to proceed in person against such chiefs.as he deemed
remained contumacious. A proclamation was issued, by which all earls, lords,
barons, and free-holders, worth over three hundred merks of yearly rent,
should meet the king at Dumbarton, on the first day of August, well armed,
and with forty days’ provisions, and likewise provided with vessels to carry
them to the Isles. This proclamation caused Sir Lachlan and Donald of
Sleat immediately to repair to court. It is recorded,|| and dated at Holyrood
House, June 15, 1596, that Lachlan MacLean of Duard, having lately, in order
to ¢ testifie his humble obediens and dewitie to his Majestie,” repaired "to the
king’s presence, submitted himself to his clemency and grace, and satisfied the

lords auditors of exchequer ¢ anent all thingis quhilkis wer layed to his
charge ;”

and the said Lachlan, ¢ expecting now in end his Hienes favourable

* MS letter, State-paper Office, February 24, 1595-6; Itid., Bowes to Sir R. Cecil, March 6,
1595-6; Ibid., Bowes to Cecil, March 16, 1595-6; Ibid., MacLean to Bowes, Coll, March 18,
1595-6; Jbid., MucLean’s unswers to Bowes, March 30, 1596, 1 Tytler’s History of Secotland,
Vol. IV, p. 240. 1 For some of Achinross's and Sir Luchlan’s letters, see Appendix, Note B.
|| Register of Privy Council, Vol. V., p. 295.
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countenance, pardoun and-mercy aganis the proces of foirfaltour led aganis
him,” his majesty, with advice of his council, receives the:said Lachlan into

his favor, and reposes him to all his lands, living

g, and honors, as freely as if

the said process and doom had never been led, declaring that the cffect thereof
shall cease in time coming, at least until his highness may “ establishe and
perfyte quhatsoevir may be tend or be thocht convenient for the full and suffi-
cient suirtie of the said Lanchlane with advise of his Esteatis in Parliament;
quhilk his Majestie, in his princclie worde promissis to caus be effectual to the
said Lauchlane, with the ratification of thir presentis, in the nixt Parliament.”
Intimation hereof is ordered to be made by open proclamation at all places
needful, with charge to the lieges not to ¢ sklander, murmour, reproche or
backbyte " the said Lachlan for any cause or erime bygonc, under all highest
panis and offence ; and officers of arms are required to relax the said Lachlan
from any process of horn used against him at any time bygone, and to give
him the wand of peace.

MacDonald of Sleat made submission also, and was pardoned. But
Angus MacDonald of Islay remained contumacious, at which the king’s dis-
pleasure was so marked that he bestowed npon MacLean the Rhinns of Islay,
so long disputed between that chief and the MacDonualds.®*  Angus, however,
submitted during the month of October,

During the same year Sir Lachlan came nearly losing the advantage he
had gained with the king by having previously taken advantage of the death
of Hector MacLean of Coll, and the minority of Lachlan, the son and sue-
cessor of that baron, by seizing the castle and island of Coll, and the other
estates of that family, and expelling all their adherents. Lachlan MacLean
of Coll, now arriving at the age of maturity, entered complaint before the
privy council, alleging that in the possession of his lands he is now ¢ maist
havelie molestit, troublit and opprest ” in the possession of the said lands by
Lauchlane McClayne of Dowart, and Rory Beg McClayne, his deputy and
servant, who, shortly after the decease of the complainer’s father, ¢ takand the
advantage of his minoritie, seirit thameselffis upoun his landis foirsaidis, pos-
sest thameselffis thairwith, and witl/ the said complenaris place and castell of
Bretach, quhilk house they intend to dimoleis and cast doun, and hes detenit
the said place and landis, and intromettit with and nptakin the mailles, fermis
and dewities thairof continuallie sensyne, and be way of deid, forceablie de-
tenis and with-holdis the same {ra the said complenair.” Both parties appear-

® Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 265." -
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ing personally, the king, with advice of his council, ordains the chief de-
fender to find caution that he shall deliver the portalice of Bretach to Sir
William Stewart of Ifowstoun, his majesty’s licutenant of ‘the Isles and
Highlands, for the better «furthsetting” of the king’s service, when required
upon twenty-four Lours’ warning, and also that le shall enter the complainer
to the possession of his said lands within thirty days hereof, and suffer him
and his tenants to * peaccablie brouke, labour and manure the same; conform
to his infeftments, under the pain of 10,000 merks.” Dated at Linlithgow,
December 23, 1596.%

Sir Lachlan must have remained for several days in Linlithgow, for on
December 25th, together with Lord Hereis, he became surety for Duncan Mac-
Dougall of Dunnoldyeht, in the sum of five thousand merks.+

During the same year there must have been some symptoms of the re-
newal of the feud between the MacLeans and the MaeDonalds, for the records
show a registration by the principal and Thomas Craig as procarator for the
sureties, of a bond of caution in twenty thousand merks by Lauchlane Mack-
lane of Dowart as principal, and Archibald, earl of Ergyle, as surety for him,
in manner and to the effect foresaid,—Kenneth MucKenzie of Kintale be-
coming surety in relief. **This bond not to extend to any action or quarrel that
may fall out between the said principal and his friends and the Clan Donald,
Clan Renile, Clan Eane, and their friends and partakers, till the principals and
chiefs of the said clans find caution on the like conditions. Subscribed at
Edinburgh and Striveling 13th and 14th June, before Kenncth Makkenzie of
Kilereist, Mr. Johnne McKenzie, parson of Dingwall, Allister McKenuzie,
Johnne Auchinros, Mr. George Erskin, Mr. Donald Campbell, and the earls
of Mar and Merschell as curators for the earl of Ergyle.” }

In the year 1598 the following unfortunate eircumstance wok place,
which broke the friendship between Sir Lachlan and Allan Cameron of Loch-
iel: “ Donald Maclan of Ardnamurchan, who had been betrothed to one of
Lochiel’s daughters, was basely murdered by his own uncle, while he was
providing himself with a suitable equipage for his wedding, which, according
to custom of the times, he was to have celebrated with great magnificence.
The murderer, commonly known as ¢ Mac Mhic Eoghainn,” was a man of gigan-
tic size and strength, and possessed the district of Suainart on lease from his

nephew, Maclan, whom he killed; not, it is said, in resentment of any in-

# Register of Privy Couneil, Vol. V., p. 354, T Ibid. 1 Ibid., p. 740,

jury done to him, but with the view of succeeding him in his estate and '

N —
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on the arrival of the latter in Kintyre. Understanding that the tutor’s sons
were with Angus MacDonald, at his house of Askomull in Kintyre, Sir James
and Lis associates, to the number of two or three hundred armed men, surrounded
the house in the dead of night, and on the refusal of the MacAllasters to sur-
render themselves prisoners, the house was immediately set on fire. Although
perfectly aware that his father and mother were in the house, Sir James sav-
agely refused to let the fire be extinguished: and at length, his father, en-
deavoring to make his escape, was made prisoner, after being severely burnt
and suffering many indignities from Sir James’s servants. Ile was then car-
ried to Smerbie in Kintyre, and confined there in irons for several raonths.
The other inmates of the lhonse likewise fell into the hands of Sir James, and
were treated with various degrees of severity ; but he does not appear to have
caused any of them to be put to death. Sir James now took command of his
clan, and neglecting his promises to the king, conducted himself with such
violence in his new capacity, that in the month of June, 1598, it became nec-
essary to issue a proclamation for another royal expedition or raid to Kintyre.

Early in August, Sir James MacDonald had contrived to procure
from the king a letter approving of his late proceedings in Kintyre, and par-
ticularly of his apprehension of his father.” *

The royal expedition did not proceed against the recusant James, for the
reason that news was received at court that a feud had broken out between
the MacDonalds and Macleans. Sir James, now fully in possession of the
estate, burned for an occasion to measure swords with his uncle, the Lord of
Duard, for the numerous injuries he conceived his clan to have suffered in
former years at the hands of the MacLeans. As has been previously noted,
the lands in dispute (the Rhinns of Islay) were recently confirmed to Sir
Lachlan by the crown, and in so far as this particular point was coneerned,
the nephew does not appear to have felt disposed to oppose his possession of
them; only that he still claimed his right of feudal sovereignty over the pos-
sessor.  While this point was in agitation, another subjeet became the cause
of an immediate rupture. A certain farm on the sea-side, called Portaskaig,
which formed the boundary line between their estates, and which, from its-
convenience as a landing-place, was deemed of considerable importance by
each party, was claimed by Sir Lachlan as being within the limits of his grant.
This was disputed by Sir James, and after many fruitless endeavors to settle

the matter between themselves, it was suggested by Sir Lachlan that the point

* Gregory's Western Highlands, p. 281.
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prepared to chastise the insolent tone assumed by him, and enraged at his
arrogance, he instantly summoned his friends around him, and finding them
all eager to encounter the MacDonalds, the brave Sir Lachlan Mér drew his
trusty claymore from its scabbard, and stretching it out in his firm grasp,
cried, * He who sees the setting sun can tell his son this steel had done its
duty ;" and then, with a smile upon his countenance, and pointing to the hill
occupied by the MacDonalds, he added, ¢ Follow me ; let us salute my nephew
in his exalted station with due respect.” The Macl.eans rushed forward, and
swept the foremost of the foe from off the hill. The MacDonalds with a re-
enforcement returned to the attack and again were driven from off the field
before the impetuous attack of Sir Lachlan and his clansmen. The MacLeans
now found opportunity to take a good position on the hill, from which it now -
became the object of Sir James to dislodge them; with this object in view, he
ordered a retreat in the direction of a neighboring cminence, in the rear of
which he had placed a strong force of the Kintyre men, in the hope to entice
the Macl.ecans from the advantageous position gained by them. In this
mancuver, however, the military experience of his uncle proved too much for
him. Having gained a position which promised every advantage in case of
attack, and in which he hoped to be able to maintain himself against his ene-
mies until the state of the tide enabled lis friends from "the islands to join
him, Sir Lachlan suffered the MacDonalds to practice their stratagem unmo-
lested. Sir James finding that his foes were not to be beaten by stratagem,
and knowing that delay might prove as dangerous to him as it was of import-
ance to the MacLeans, determined on attacking them at once with a force which
he hoped would be irresistible ; so, placing himself at the head of nine hun-
dred of his followers, he made a furious attack upon the position held by the
MacLeans. Tere the veteran warriors of Glenlivat and other well-fought
battles, formed by the skillful management of their intrepid leader into an
impregnable phalanx, bid defiance to their assailants, until the presumptuous
daring of Sir James, who, surrounded by his personal friends, advanced within
a hundred yards of the spot whereon his uncle stood, so roused the indigna-
tion of the latter, that he rushed forward, observing to those around him that
he would “pluck a feather out of that eaglet’s plume or perish in the attempt,”
and, followed by his devoted band with the rapidity of a mountain torrent,
he hewed a path through the MacDonalds to within a sword’s length of their
chief; and for a moment beholding his nephew with a look of furious in-
dignation, mingled with affection, this cool and collected warrior and greatly
accomp]is‘hed soldier merely observed, “A Shemish! a Shemish! a mhic mo

.
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phedther fag mo radhad” (James! James! son of my sister, avoid my path),
and at the same instant the massive weapon, raised perhaps with a different
intent, fell with fatal effect upon another assailant. At this moment a shot
from an insignificant follower of the ungrateful nephew brought the heroie
chief of MacLean to the ground.

The man who killed Sir Lachlan Mor was a diminutive ereature named
Dubh-sith, whose surname was Shaw. Traditions still preserved in Islay state
that he was a native of Jura and noted as being a superior archer and brave
soldier. Ile lived in that part of Jura belonging to the MacLeans, and was a
great admirer of Sir Lachlan Mér, and much attached to the clan. Ie went
to Sir Lachlan and asked permission to fight for him, but was bluntly refused
and told that his company wounld disgrace the men. His pride stung to the
quick and his former love turned into hate, he went to Sir James MaeDonald
and proffered his serviees. Sir James sneeringly remarked to him, ¢ Yes, in-
deed, I wish I had five hundred of the like of you!” Shaw immediately
started off, but wus called baek, by Sir James, “Fight with my men, but be
careful not to harm my uncle.” o this he made no reply, but shook his head
and set off. Shaw was armed with a gun, and elimbing a tree waited for the
opportunity when Sir Lachlan should be thrown in his way. As Sir Lachlan
was ascending a rising ground not far from where Shaw was concealed, he
bent so that there was an opening between the joints of his armor. Shaw no-
ticing this took aim and wounded him mortally. This act was not only exe-
crated by the MacLeans but also by nearly every member of most of the other
clans also.* :

The Macl.cans, maddened to desperation by the fall of their beloved chief,
fell furiously upon the MacDonalds, and making Sir Lachlan’s body their ral-
lying point, fought around it under the influence of such uncontrollable fury
that no regard to the overwhelming numbers opposed to them could induce a
single individual to accept the quarter now offered by Sir James; who, not-
withstanding that the force already at his disposal outnumbered the MacLeans
more than four to one, had to call up his reserve of Kintyre men to his aid;
and it was almost by utter annihilation that the MacDonalds were able to over-
come the devoted followers of the chief of MacLean. All the MacLeans were
killed save about twenty, and of these a dozen left the field at an carly period
to escort Lachlan Og, who was severely wounded, to a place of safety. The
few who survived the dreadful conflict could not retreat to the island where

* Extract from a letter by Hector MacLean of Islay to the suthor, March 22, 1888.
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their boats and friends were, but were forced to fly to other places where they
might obtain safe passage home.

The MacLieans, on the island of Elleniamh, under Hector Og, for the
reasons already stated, could only be idle spectators of the disastrous fate of
their ehief and friends on shore: and unable from their reduced numbers to
make head against the MacDonalds, when the tide rolled in, they took to their
galleys and returned to Mull.

The above account, as preserved by the MacLean historians, differs ma-
terially from that given by Gregory, who says, « Sir Lachlan MacLean of Duard
lad succeeded in procuring from the king a grant of part of the island of Islay,
forfeited by his old rival Angus MacDonald. Taking advantage of the dis-
sensions of Clandonald, and calenlating on the youth and inexperience of his
nephew, Sir James, he levied his vassals and proceeded to Islay, in order to-
expel the MaeDonalds, and put himself in possession of his new aecquisitions
in the island.  Sir James MacDonald was not, however, disposed to yield to
the pretentions of MacLean, and had already collected a number of his clan in

gs.  The mutual friends of both parties,

Islay to oppose his unele’s proceeding

desiring to spare the cffusion of blood, labored to effect a mediation between
them. .\ meeting was accordingly agreed to be held at Lochgrninart, in
Islay, to arrange their differences, to which place the rival chiefs repaired,
cach with a considerable number of his followers, but the MacDonalds were
inferior in force. To the pressing entreaties of the mediators, Sir James Mac-
Donald yielded so far as to offer his unele the half of the island for his life—
denying at the same time the validity of the title on which MacLean founded
his pretensions—provided he would agree to hold it, as his predecessors had
held the Rhinns of Islay, for their personal service to the Clandonald. More-
over, Sir James offered to refer their disputes to the decision of any impartial
persons MacLean might choose to name ; and, in case of their differing, to the
decision of the king. But MacLean, much against the opinion of his friends,
who advised him to aceept these offers, would hear of nothing but an absolute
surrender, on the part of Sir James, of all title or claim to the island. Upon
this, both parties resolved to settle the dispute by the sword. They encoun-
tered at the liead of Lochgruniart,and a desperate conflict ensued. Sir James
in the beginniug of the action caused his vanguard to make a detour, as if they
intended to retreat, but really with the object of gaining the top of an emi-
nence near at hand, which Sir Lachlan was also desirous to possess. By this
stratagem Sir James succeeded in gaining the height first, from which he charged

the MacLeans with great vigor, and, forcing their van back upon their main
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body, threw the whole into confusion, and finally routed them. Sir Lachlan
MacLean, with fourscore of his kinsmen and two hundred common soldiers,
were killed; and his son, Lachlan Barrach Maclean, being dangerously
wounded, made his escape with difficulty, with the survivors, to their boats.
Sir James MaeDonald was himself severely wounded, and, for a time, his re-
covery was doubtful; whilst thirty of his followers were killed anid sixty
wounded.” *

Gregory relies on the statement of Sir R. Gordon, in his ¢ History of
Sutherland,” for the truth of the above. While some parts of it may be true,
yet as a whole it is evidently incorreet; for Gregory says (p. 265), and already
quoted (p. 125), that the king granted to Sir Lachlan the Rhinns of Islay, which
he already possessed, and the chiefs of MacLean before him, and whieh the
MacDonalds claimed the MacLeans held of them as feudal superiors. In a
foot-note Gregory says, “The MS Iistory of the MacLeans gives a somewhat
different aecount of this affair, throwing the chief blame upon the MacDon-
alds. Anderson’s History of Scotland and Birrel’s Diary agree in the censure
of Sir James MacDonald.” Gordon must have mixed his account with the
vengeance Heetor Og took on Sir James for the loss of his father.

Skene has the following account: ¢ On the death of Angus of Islay,i this
grant produced some negotiations between Maclean and James MacDonald,
Angus’ son, and in order to settle their difference a meeting was agreed upon
between them, but MacLean coming unadvisedly with a small attendanee, and
his boats being stranded by the retiring tide, he was surprised by James Mac-
Donald and killed after a brave vesistance. And thus fell the greatest chief
whom the MacLeans ever had, a vietim to the treachery of the MaeDonalds
of Islay.” { _

Tytler, who based his investigations upon original documents, gives a dif-
ferent account, which appears to have been derived from a letter written Au-
gust 10, 1598, by Nicholson to Ceeil. He says Lachlan MaeLean of Duard
was “ treacherously slain in Islay, by his nephew, Sir James MacDonald, who
persuaded him to visit the island; alleging, as a pretext, his desire to make
an amicable settlement of their differences. So little did the brave lord of
Duard suspeet any foul play, that e came to the meeting without armor, in a

silk dress, and with only a rapier at his side. Along with him were his sec-

* Western Highlands, pp. 283-5. T Skene is mistaken about the death of Angus. This did
not happen until 1613. 1f Highland Clans, Vol. I1, p. 212.
9
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ond son, and the best of his kin, in their holiday garb, and with little other
arms than their hunting-knives and boar spears; but, although set upon by
an ambush of nearly seven hundred men, they made a desperate defense.
MacLean, a man of herculean strength, slew three of the MacDonalds at the-
first onset. When he saw there was no hope, he commanded his son, who
fought heside him, to fly, and live to avenge him; but the chief himself, and‘
a little knot of his clansmen, stood shonlder to shoulder, and were not eut
down till after fifty of their assailants had fallen. The death of this great
chief was little resented by the king, for James had long been jealous of his
dealings with Elizabeth.” *

There is a legend preserved by Sir R. Gordon which declares that Sir
Lachlan Lon\ult(*d with a witch as to the result of his expedition. The hag
ailvised him in the first place not to land upon the island of Islay on a
Thursday ; secondly, that he should not drink of the water of a certain well
near Gruinnart ; and lastly, she told him that one MaeLean should be killed
at Gruinnart. The first of these injunctions MacLean transgressed un-
willingly, being driven into the island of Islay by a tempest on a Thursday ;
the second he “ transgressed negligentlie, haveing drunk of that water befor
he wes awair, and so he was killed ther at Groinard, as wes foretold him, but
doubtfullie.” ¥

The remains of Sir Lachlan Mér MacLean was left on the battle-field. A
day or two after the battle, it is said that two females, of whom different
accounts are given—some calling them strangers, some clanswomen, some re-
lations of the dead—grieving to think that the body of so notable a chief as
Sir Lachlan Mor should be unburied and uncared for on the moorland, came
from a distance in search of it. They hired a rude vehicle—the only one to
be had in the neighborhood—and having found the corpse, proceeded to earry
it to the nearest burying-grounds, about six miles distant. The way was
rough, and the driver looking behind him saw the head of the great chief,
which extended beyond the car, nodding to him at every jolt, as if it had life,
and were giving him directions. Boor, or perhaps enemy, as the fellow was,
he langhed when he saw this. At the next heavy rut he looked again to please
his savage soul with the same ferocious enjoyment. But this time the elder
female, who had watched him, acted as described in the ballad.f She killed

* History of Scotland, Vol. IV., p. 267. § Quoted by Cromb, Highlands and Highlanders,
p. 83; Keltic, History IHighland (lans, Vol. 1., p. 111; Author of Conflicts of the Clans, « Celiic
Magazine,” Vol. XI,, p. 220. ISee Appendix, Note C, No. 14,
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the brutal driver with the chieftain’s dagger. T'hen, along with ler compan-
ion, she brought the mortal remains of Sir Lachlan to the place where they
still lie buried.” *

Sir Lachlan Mér MacLean lies buried in the churehyard of Kilchoman,
Islay, near the south wall of the church, and over his grave is Iaid a great
stone. There is a churchyard, Kilnave, near the battle-field; but the body
was taken to Kilchoman that it might be more honored, for he was buried in-
side the church, and when a new church was built there, about sixty years
ago, the wall was so constructed that the grave was left outside.

Dr. Johnson, an Aberdeenshire man, and physician to Charles L., wrote a
Latin epitaph as follows:

“ Lauchlanus Maclanus Dowardius excelsus prorsus animo et heroica cor-
poris dignitate puriter et robore, cum nobilissimus heroum veterum virtutis
laude comparandus ex insidiis per sororis sum filium indignissimus morte
peremptus est anno Christi 1598.

Heroum veterum nova gloria fama novorum

Fama vetus pariter gloria prisca, recens.

Objice fela neces et mille pericula rerum

Deficiunt citius tela pericula neces,

Quam MacLano animi est animus suo barbara dexter
Pectora putoribus conciliive vigor

Nusquam heec; tuta fides ferit impice dextra nepotis
Heroum hac nullum secula ferre valent.”

The above quotativn I have copied from the Pennycross manuseript.  The
whole of it is maniféstly incorrect, and it is evident that Johnson’s works
were not before the annotator; but taken from a corrupt text. The mean-
ing of the prose appears to be as follows: ¢ Lachlan MacLean of Duard was
very tall and of heroic bodily dignity, and in like manner of physical strength,
comparable with the noblest of ancient heroes, in praise of worth. He was
slain most ignominiously through the treachery of his sister’s son, in the year
of Christ 1598.”

The verse is wild and irreducible to exact sense. It probably means,
first, that the fame and glory of the moderns may equal the ancients; second,

place no reliance on weapons, slaughter and fear, nor perils; for all these

* * Pattison’s Gaelic Ballads, p. 219. Pattison also ndds, “A spirited gentleman of the clan
recently endeavored to raise a sum suflicient to erect a monument over the grave of the chief—
the most famous and ablest the MacLeans ever had; but, unfortunately, he did not succeed to
his satisfaction.”
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things fail sooner than courage to MacLcan, or strength to his spirit.- In
whose breast has there been such vigor of counsel? Sure faith might bring,
but the impious right hand of his nephew. Not any age avails to bring the
hero.

Whoever has followed the carecr of this noble chieftain, must feel sad
over his fate. His death was deeply lamented, not only by his own people,
but by the Highland clans generally. Iis chivalrous character, his indomi-
table spirit in defense of his own rights, his readiness to redress the wrongs of
his people, his stern and cool behavior on the field of battle, his affable and
kind bearing toward his friends and vassals, and his commanding presence,
make him an ideal chieftain, and one which even the present age is forced to
admire. Brought up at the court of James VI, his early education biased him
in favor of the reformed religion, whieh he ardently embraced from a con-
vietion of its truth, and thus became the first Protestant of his name. Not-
withstanding his activity in clan feuds, he was sincerely attached to his re-
ligion and his people. Into his possessions he introduced clergymen of ex-
emplary piety, and so great were his efforts in this direction and so success-
fully performed, that even to this day. although three hundred years have
elapsed, yet in the whole Highlands, there is not another district where the
principals of the Reformation are more tenacionsly held, than in that domin-
ion once ruled by the proud lord of Duard. By example, as well as by pre-
cept, he demonstrated to his people that he had no faith in the teachings of
the Romish church. [llustrative of this fact the following tradition has been
preserved: It was the practice of his Catholic ancestors to walk thrice in
procession around the shores of a small island lying in Lochspelvie, invoking
success on the expedition on which they were about to engage. Just before
the fatal battle of Tra-Gruinnart, he showed his contempt for Catholic super-
stition by walking thrice around the island, but in the opposite direction, for
his ancestors had walked right about, or in the direction of the sun.

As an active upholder of the reformed religion, we find him so recognized
by the government. For in a ¢ Renewal of Acts against the Jesuits and semi-
nary priests; with reconstitution of the commission for putting the Acts in
force, and appointment of a new commission of select clergy in the shires to
co-operate in the work, and promote subsecription to the Confession of Faith
and Covenant, over the whole kingdom,” the name of “ Lauchlane MecClayne

of Dowart,” appears in the roll of commissioners for executing the said Acts
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first act was to adopt retaliatory measures upon the MacDonalds for the death
of his father and kinsmen at Tra-Gruinnart. He obtained a commission of
fire and sword against the MacDonalds of Islay, and at once summoned the
chief of the MacKinnons, MacLeod of Dunvegan, and MacNeil of Barra to
his assistance. The chief of the Camerons of Lochiel joined this force with
his clan. Although Sir Lachlan MacLean had so recently crossed swords
with Lochicl, yet when the report was brought to the latter that the former
had expressed his grief that he had so mueh offended his nephew, Lochiel,
“for,” said he, “he is the only chief in the Ilighlands of sufficient courage,
conduet, and power to revenge my death, and I am confident that, if I had
not injured and provoked him in the manner T have done, he would not have
allowed himself much rest until he had effected it;”” the chief of the Cam-
erons immediately put himself at the head of his clan and joined the forces
of Hector. The united clans, fully equipped, proceeded to Islay. Sir James
MacDonald, in anticipation of this movement on the part of the young lord of
Duard, mustered together the whole gathering of Islay and Kintyre, and pre-
pared himself for a conflict which he had reason to believe would be of a san-
guinary nature. The hostile parties met at a place called Benbigrie, and as
neither felt disposed to offer nor to accept terms, the result was an immediate
battle.  The followers of the chief of Maclieaun, upon this occasion, consider-
ably outnumbered the MacDonalds ; but Sir James, well aware that he need
hope for no reconciliation with his enraged kinsman, told his followers that in
a resolute resistance alone existed any hope of safety to themselves or of pro-
tection to their homes. The MacDonalds, goaded to desperation by a knowl-
cdge of these facts, fought with uncontrollable fury, and it was not until the
heights of Benbigrie were covered with their slain, and their chief carried off
the field dangerously wounded, that their assailants succeeded in routing them.
Overwhelmed by numbers the unfortunate MacDonalds were at length obliged
to give way and fly in the utmost confusion, not knowing whither, neither
mountain nor valley afforded them shelter from their victorious pursuers. A
few, however, carrying with them their wounded chief, made their way to Kin-
tyre, leaving Islay a prey to the ruthless invaders. For three days the allied
clans pursued the work of destruction with remorseless barbarity throughout
the island.  Every human habitation was burned to the ground; and the poor
inhabitants were left to seek their only shelter in caves and clefts of rocks
among the mountains, without fuel and without food. The career of the mer-
ciless victors only ceased when the work of destruction was complete.

Lochiel had the satisfaction of taking ¢ Hector MacLean of Lochbuy, who .
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aided the MacDonalds against his own chief, with several of his followers,
prisoners of war, and detained them in chains for six months. Lochbuy, how-
ever, soon after had ample opportunity of being even with Lochiel.” *

Of all the conflicts between these two clans, this, fhe last, was the most
sanguinary and destructive. The MacLeans and their confederates no doubt
felt themselves justified in executing éignn] vengeance upon their enemies, for
the treachery displayed at Tra-Guinnart, and the loss there of so distinguished
a chief. They were also forced to make the destruction as complete as possi-
ble, for the conduct of Sir James MacDonald had made him popular with his
clan, and his actions had met their approval.  However deplorable may have
been the loss of life, and the sufferings endured by the innocent and helpless,
the resnlt was to put a final and effectual end to the struggle between the con-
tending clans. Ever after the battle of Benbigrie the MacLeans and MaeDon-
alds laid aside their animosities, and lived on the happiest terms of friendship
and reciprocal good will.

In the year 1599, King James, finding the royal exchequer still in a de-
pleted condition, again turned his eyes toward the Western Isles, and decided
that the chiefs should be muleted in a sufficient amount to meet his demands ;
so he appointed a new commission of lieutenandry over the whole Isles and
Highlands of Inverness-shire, which was granted to the duke of Lennox and
earl of Huntly, the latter having been recently restored to favor. Although
the official document, which sets forth the reasous for the action of the king,
gives a shocking.picture of the Islesmen, yet this clause establishes the true
import of the commission: “And besides all their other crimes, they re-
belliously withhold from his Majesty a great part of the patrimony and proper
rent of the crown, deprive the country of the benefit whieh might redound
thereto, by the trade of fishin

render. And now, at last, a great part of them have banded. conspired, and

g, and of other commodities which these bounds
daily praetice, by force and policy, in their barbarous and rebellious form, to
disappoint his Majesty’s service in the Lewis.” ¥

As to the extent which this lieutenandry was acted upon is now uncer-
tain. It is positive, however, that as a matter of justice, but little was due
the erown from rents, and the amount demanded was beyond the ability of the
chiefs to meet.

In 1601, another commission of lieutenandry was granted to the same

* MacKenzie's History of the Camerons, * Celtic Magazine,” Vol. VIIL. p. 374. T Gregory's
Western Highlands, p. 287.
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parties ; the South of Argyleshire Isles included under the immediate charge
of Lennox. These lieutenants were charged to assist certain colonists who
would be better able greatly to augment the king’s rents. Power was given
them to use force and pursue the Islesmen with fire and sword. Rewards
were offered these commissioners for the faithful performance of the duty as-
signed to them.*

Acting upon his authority, Iuntly, who had charge of the northern dis-
tricts, summoned a convention of estates, to meet at Stirling within a given
period, under a penalty of forfeiture against an absentee; but many of the
northern chiefs, from the distance they had to travel, and the limited period
allowed for their appearance, were unable to be in attendance on the day ap-
pointed. As Heetor MacLean of Duard owned the lands of Garbhghamlﬂuch,
in Lochaber, he started at once for Stirling. On arriving there, he met
Huntly on the street early on the morning that his name was to be ealled.
After Huntly had saluted him, MacLean asked him if he thought he would
have time to change his clothes before the roll would be called. Huntly
answered he had plenty of time. On repairing to his lodging, MacLean
learned the convention was in session, and immediately hurried to the assem-
bly, and oun arriving there found his name had been called. On parting with
Hector in the strcet, Huntly went direct to the convention, and determined at
once to put in execution the threat he had uttered against Sir Lachlan Mor
Macliean, on account of the latter’s proposal to bring Iluntly dead or alive,
the night after the battle of Glenlivat; so he ordered MacLean’s name called
at once, and as the latter was not present, Iuntly immediately applied for the
forfeit, procured it, and is still in the possession of the duke of Gordon. All
the friends and interest that Hector could make, or bring to bear on the king,
were never able to reverse the sentence, as Huntly always made great oppo-
sition.  Thus he felt himself amply revenged on the son of Sir Lachlan Mér.

The Pennycross manuseript informs us that Hector Og got the estate in
its best condition and before the sentence of forfeiture of the Lochaber por-
tion amounted to five hundred mark land. The Lochaber estate which he
lost by Huntly was twenty pound land.f

# Record of Privy Council, 16 June, 1601.

T The extent of the possessions of Duard at this period is of interest. From Inguisitionum
ad Cupillam Damini Regis, published in 1811, Vol. I, under Argyle, we read: %1663, April 1.
Hector McClayne de Doward, haeres Heetoris McClayne, avi,—in Terris de Torosay cum castro

) . !
et molendino:—Terris de Brolos; 8 mereatis terrarum in Ardmamachburg, Glenkynnuir,
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In 1602, MacKenzie of Kintail engaged in a feud with the Clanranald of
Glengarry, regarding their lands in Wester Ross. 'T'he violence between the
clans became so great that the chief of Kintail repaired to Duard castle for
assistance ; for he had discovered that the MacDonalds of Islay, Ardnamur-
chzm,‘ and Glencoe were on the point of lending aid to Clanranald. Hector
MacLean at once agreed to hold these clans in check, and if found necessary

Gomodra, Trisnis, jacentibus ir Mule:—Galgray (vel Collazray) Inewry, Colleschlny, Sonepoil,
Kilchreis, Tennomoir, Ardorenis, jacentibns in Morevis:—Mnndulon Croszepoill, et Keren
jacentibus in Terrigh, cum officio balliatus de Terrigh: Kearnburgh cum insulis ejusdem.
Dunehonill cum insulis ejusdem et Molway, jacentibus in Sknrby. Troig, Buangell, Glenamuk,
Ardskalenis, Cannis, Egistill, Ardvegnis, jacentibus in Iuray Dowunultuehe, Ranaeban,
Achytymo]en,'jacentibus in Knapdaill :—Tarrislny jacentibus in Illny, infrn vice comitntum de
Tarbirt, ecam quibusdam aliis terris in vice comitntu de Inverness A. E. 228 in N. K. 114 m.”
“1615, July 1. Hector Maklane e Doward nvi in terris et Baronin de Doward continente
terras de Torresay, cum ecastro de Doward et molendino terras de Brolas: 8 mereatas terrarum
jacentis in Ardmanuachburg Glenkynneir, Gomadra, Cresems, jncentes in Mule Colloyray, Ine-
way, Caliochlay, Sonepoile, Gilehrist, Pememare Ardirenis jacentes in Mariens—Mardalon
Crossipoill et Keren, jacentes in Tierig, eum officis ballintus de Tierig—Kearnburgh cum insula
ejusdem et Moluay jacentes in Searbay. Troaig Owanngell, Glenamuk, Ardskaleins, Eamunis
Equistill Andnagenil, jacentes in Dowray. Downnamultich, Ranaguhan Aithtay et molendius,
Jjacentes in Knapdale:—Torlisay in Ilay, infra vice comitatum de Tarbet; in 20 libratis terra-
rum untiqui extentus subseriptus, viz.: terris de Distunmull Cartomoci, Kilmichael Ardnaleig;
terris de duobus Fannemoreis, Torloisk, Casear, Ardesgony, Burbeg, Buymoir, Rendili, Glekew-
gary, Ewinsay, Crossopolle Langavill, Knokawy, Kildony Drunziga, Duchunren, Dromolkyn,
Tunadill ecum molendius et piscatione jacentibus in insuln de Mull et infra vice comitatum de
Tarbat—20 Libratis, 6 solidatis et 8 denariatis terrarum antiqui extentus subsquentibus, viz,
juarteres terrarum de Coall juarteria terrarum de Setrynmul; juartaria terrarum de Arehalick
et Fairland juar: Ter: de Carspellnn, juar. ter. de Garrinsay et Kilnallan juar. Ter: de
Garbols et Duach juari: ter: de Dall: jr.ter. de Robols et Kepols jr. ter. de Killiegnn et
Skanlastill: dimidietute octava partis terrarum de meglene, dimi: aet: pnrtis ter; de Owo:
et oct: part. ter, de Bow et 6 Solidaturum et 8 denariatarum terrarum de Stanlastill cam molen-

dino in insula de Ilny et vineomitatu de Tarbat anuecatis ad Baroniam de Doward. Terris de

" Illway, Lagan, Walsagnray, infra vin comitatum de Tarbat extendentibus per se nd 20 mereatus

terrarum antqui extentus cum juibusdnm aliis terris in vincomitate de Inverness.”

In the same work, under the hend of Inverness, may be found the following: 1603,
April 1. Hector MeClayne de Downrd, ‘haeris’ Hectoris MeClayne avi—in terris de
Auchnakay, Auchalane, Dugerre Kennboeh, Auehranick, cum lie Stratum lie Clariehe, et lie
Clasehbraik Auchtedonil, onladill eum lie slow (srow) Achetawer, Annisky, Coulek, Doway,
Correchenley eum Suknanock, Auchichterre, Thomguharrig, jneientibus in Lochabir:—4 merentis
terrarum de Sealpay, viz: Tarm et Skeodin infra vineomitatum de Inverness; advocatione ec-
elesiarum infra terras et insulns antedictas cum officio balliatas: omuibus cum teriis in Argyle

unitis in Baroniam de Doward.”
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would invade their territory. To fulfill this agreement, the chief of MaclLean
was soon compelled to invade Ardnamurchan, an(l'into those parts carried fire
and sword, as well as the adjoining territories of the MacDonalds. Arehibald
Campbell, seventh ear] of Argyle, claiming the MacDonalds to be his vassals,
procured criminal letters against MacLean. Hector and MacKenzie repaired
to Inverary, when the latter informed Argyle that *“ he should rather be blamed
than Macl.ean, and the king and council than either of them, for he having
obtained, on good grounds, a commission of fire and sword against Glengarry
and such as would assist him, and against these men’s rcbellion and wicked
courses, whieli frequently his lordship seemed to own, that he did charge, as he
did several others of the king’s loyal subjects, MacLean to assist him.”  After
considerable discussion all parted good friends, Argyle agreeing to molest
MacLean no farther. Maclean and MacKenzie immediately proceeded to
Duard, where the former with his kinsmen and immediate friends sumptuously
entertained the latter.  DBoth chiefs consulted as to the best and safest means
for the homeward journey of MacKenzie. Heector offered him all his ehief
and best men to accompany him by land, but this he declined, saying, that he
would not put him to so much inconvenience, but would return in the boat in
which he eame. MacLean persuaded him that the boat would not be safe, and
induced him to take his own great galley. So he sailed in his friend’s great
birlinn, under the command of Hector Maclean, constable of Cairnburg, ae-
companied by several other gentlemen of the MacLeans. ¢ In the meantime
the MacDonalds, aware that MacKenzie had not yet returned from Mull, con-
vened all the boats and galleys they could, to a certain island which lay in his
course, and which he could not avoid passing. So, coming within sight of the
island, having a good prospect, a number of boats, after they had ebbed in a
certain harbor, and men also, making ready to set out to sea. This occasioned
the captain to use a stratagem, and steer directly to the harbor, and still as
they came forward he caused lower the sail, which the other party pereeiving
made them forbear putting out their boats, persuading themselves that it was
a galley they expected from Ardnamurchan, but they had no sooner come for-
gainst the harbor but the captain caused hoist sail, set oars and steers aside,
immediately bangs up a bag-piper and gives them shots. The rest, finding
the cheat and their own wmistake, made such a hurlyburly setting out their
boats, with their haste they brolge some of them, and some of themselves were
bruised and had broken shins also for their prey and such boats as went ount

whole, perceiving the galley so far off, thought it was folly to pursue her any
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further, they all returned wiser than they eame from home.” MacKenzie was
rearried howe, and landed there, without any mishap, late at night.*

Hector Og, for a neighbor, had Archibald Campbell, seventh ecar] of Ar-
gyle, a man unserupulous in his dealings and given to much plotting.  OFf this
man Gregory says: “In after life Sir James MacDonald blamed Argyle and
Calder as the prime movers of all the severities exercised against him and his
clan. It was the opinion, too, of one of the contemporary officers of state for
Scotland (8ir Alexander Hay)—a man of mueh sagacity and experience—that
the frequent insurrections in the South Isles which occurred in the first fifteen
years of the seventeenth century were encouraged, if not originated, by Ar-

gyle and the Campbells for their own purposes. In the following pages un-

. doubted evidence will be found of such underhand proceedings, on the part of

the earl of Argyle, in one of the most prominent of these insurrections.” ¥
Keltie says Argyle used his influence to stir up the MacGregors “to acts of
violence and aggression against his own personal enemies, of whom the chief
of the Colquhouns was one; and it is further said that he had all along medi-
tated the destruction of both the MacGregors and the Colguhouns, by his
crafty and perfidious policy.” §

In 1603, Argyle’s machinations against the house of Duard come to
light. He succeeded in obtaining letters from the king in which it is set
“ forth the need for furtherance of authority, and repressing the insolence of
¢ the broken men of the Isles.” For this end the letter commands the king's
messengers in that part to charge Angus MacDonald of Dunyveg, and Heetor
MacLean of Duard, the keepers of these fortalices respectively, to render and
deliver the same to Archibald, earl of Argyle, ‘to whom we have given some

speciall directiouns anent the matteris of the Isles.” The said Angus Mac-

" Donald and Heetor MacLean are to remove themselves and property from the

a\d

fortalices whithin 24 hours after being charged to do so, under the pain of
treason. Failing delivery of the castles, the keepers shall be held traitors,
and sentence of forfeiture pronounced on them. Given at Holyrood House,
20 September 1603.” || '

This document does not contain the signature of James but has the cachet
of “James R” at the head of the letter in place of the sign manual. James
had proceeded to London on the 5th of April previous. It is probable that
Argyle did not attempt to use the authority thus procured.

* MacKenzie's History Clan MacKenzie, * Celtic Magazine,” Vol. ITL, p. 363. T Western
Highlands, p. 289. t History of the Highland (lans, Vol. 1L, p. 182, Appendiz to Sixcth Re-

port Royal Commission, p. 615.



144 ~ History oF THE CrLaN MacLEan.

In the year 1604, ¢ Hector MacLean of Duard, who, among other of-
fenses, had failed to pay the crown rents for his possessions, was obliggd to
give security to the privy council that his castle of Duard should be delivered
up to any person whom the king and council should authorize to receive it,
on twenty days warning.” *

The state of the islands during this period would have been satisfactory
had King James pursued an honorable course; but the capricious manner of
that vacillating monarch kept affairs too much in jeopardy. It was well
known that many of the Ilighland proprietors were very indifferent about the
formality of registering their estates, and others looked with contempt upon
the formality of holding their lands by virtue of “a scrap of parchment.”
This gave a favorable opportunity to the monarch, and certain noblemen high
in authority of enriching themselves. Consequently, during the summer of
1605, Sir David Murray (Lord Scone), Comptroller of Scotland, was directed
to repair to Kintyre to receive the obedience of the principal men of the clans
in the South Isles, with surety for the payment of the king’s rents and duties.
Heetor MacLean of Duard, Angus MacDonald of Dunyveg, and all the prin-
cipal chiefs and gentlemen in the Isles, south of the point of Ardnamurchan,
together with Cameron of Lochiel, MacRanald of Keppoch, Maclan of Ard-
namurchan, Maclan of Glencoe, Stewart of Appin, MacDonald of Largie, and
MacAllaster of Loupe on the mainland, were summoned to appear personally
hefore Lord Scone at Loehkilkerran, in Kintyre, on the 20th day of July, to
give their obedience, to find sureties for the payment of the crown rents, and
to bring with them and exhibit the title-deeds to all lands claimed by them in
the Iighlands and Isles. If any of them should fail to obey the proclamation,

their title-deeds at once should be declared null and void: and power was

given to the comptroller to pursue them with fire and sword as rebels to the .

king. In order that this might not be an empty threat, an officer was sent to
the Isles to receive from their respective owners the castles of Duard in Mull
and Dunyveg in Islay; and in order to prevent the escape of the islanders,
the inkabitants of Kintyre and the West Iles were ordered, by proclamation, to
deliver all their boats to this officer ; and moreover forbidden to use boats
without his special authority.t The record shows that only Angus Mac-
Donald, and the heads of his vassals, attended the meeting; and Lord Scone
was unable to compel the attendance or even punish the more distant chiefs.
Angus -MacDonald paid up all the arrears due for his lands in Kintyre and

*Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 306. T Record Privy Council, June, 1605,
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Islay, and also gave his son Archibald as a hostage for his future obedience.
Notwithstanding this fact, the privy couneil, in 1606, influenced by the earl of
Argyle® gave the latter a charter of the lands in north and south Kintyre,
and in the isle of Jura, in consideration for a large feu-duty, a great pro-
portion of which he induced parliament to remit.

The sense of justice and humanity of the king and ruling class of this‘
period, is exemplified in the commission given in 1607 to ITuntly. That the
marquis should undertake the service upen his own private means alone—that
he should conclude it within a year, and have no exemption from paying rent
but for that space—that he should end the serviee, not by agreement with the
country people, but by extirpating them—that he should take all the North Isles,
except Sky and the Lewis, in feu from the king, as being in his majesty’s
hands by forfeiture of the present possession, or otherwise—and that he
should pay for these isles such a rent as should be fixed by the eomptroller of
Scotland, according to the principles observed in the rental of the South Isles.
The marquis of Huntly, to his shame be it recorded, acecepted nearly all these
conditions undertaking to end the service, by extirpation of the barbarous people
of the Isles, within a year.” He declined, however, to leave the fixing of the
rent as feu-duty to the comptroller, but offered to pay four hundred pounds a
year, of which three hundred were to be for Uist, and the remaining hundred
for the other isles specified. This rent the council refused to aceept, as being
“a very mean dewtie’ for the isles which were to be- granted to Huntly, but
left this point to the decision of the king as the party chiefly coneerned. Be-
fore, however, this difference was finally settled, and the vassals of Huntly let
loose to massaere the barbarous Islemen, the jealousy entertained by the Pres-
byterians of any increase to the power of the marquis, who was an adherent
of the church of Rome, caused this enterprise to be abandoned altogether.
When Huntly appeared before the privy council on the 23d of June, to hear
the final determination of the king regarding the amount of rent to be paid
for his grants in the Isles, he was, on a complaint by the more violent of the
Presbyterians, ordered by the conncil to confine himself within the burgh of
Elgin, and a cireuit of eighteen miles round it; and while in this durance he
was enjoined to hear the sermons of certain Presbyterian divines, that so he
might be reclaimed from his errors. This accident—for it does not bear the
appearance of a scheme concerted to save the Islanders—seems alone to have

prevented the reign of James VI. from being stained by a massacre whieh, for

* Gregory's Western Highlands, p. 810.
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atrocity and the deliberation with which it was planned, would have left that
of Glencoe far in the shade. But whether the interference of the Presby-
terians was accidental or intentional, the Islanders of that day owed nothing
to their prince, whose character must forever bear the stain of having, for the
most sordid motives, consigned to destruction thousands of his subjects.” ol
“The king, having experienced the inutility of trusting to the Scottish
militia alone for the furtherance of his projects in the Isles, now determined
to employ, in addition, some regular troops and ships of war from Ireland. In
the month of March, 1608, this intention was announced to the lieges in Scot-
land by a proclamation, which (as a sufficient number of troops could not be
spared from the Irish garrisons) summoned to the aid of those intended to
be sent, the militia of the shires of Dumbarton, Argyle, Torbert, Ayr, Ren-
frew, and Galloway, directing them to meet at Islay, on the first of Juue,
with the forces from Ireland. No licutenant was yet named to have the chief
authority over the expedition; but it wus contemplated, at this time, that

there should be two of these officers—one for the South another for the North

Isles. Another proclamation was made at the same time, forbidding the
chiefs on the mainland opposite the Isles to harbor or give supplies to any
of the Islesmen, under the highest penalties. The Scottish privy council
seem to have neglected nothing which might tend to facilitate the execution
of an enterprize implying so much cost and such lengthencd preparations.
They granted a commission to Andrew, lord Stewart of Ochiltree, and Andrew
Knox, bishop of the Isles, to mcet and confer with Angus MacDonald of
Dunyveg and Hector MacLean of Duard, and to receive offers from these

chiefs. A month later, this commission was renewed, with the addition of

Sir James Ilay of Beauly, comptroller to the commissioners, who were re- .

quired to report the result of their confercnce on or before the 20th of May.
Very minute instructions were given by the council as to the terms to be de-
manded from the Islanders by the commissioners. These terms compre-
hended—First, Security for his majesty’s rents; Secondly, Obedience to the
laws by the chiefs and all their followers; Thirdly, delivery by the chiefs of
all “houses of defense, strongholds, and crannacks,’ to be placed at the king’s
disposal; Fourthly, Renunciation by the chiefs of all jurisdiction which they
claimed, heritably or otherwise, and submission to the jurisdiction of sheriffs,
bailies, justices, or other officers appointed by the crown; Fifthly, That they

* Gregory’s Western Highlands, p. 314. These facts are taken from Records of Privy Coun-
cil from 26th March to 30th April, 1607, and letters of Huntly.
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should be satisfied with such lands and possessions, and under such condi-
tions as the king might appoint; Sixthly, That their whole birlinns, lymphads,
and galleys should be destroyed, save those required for carrying to the main-
land his majesty’s rents paid in kind, and other necessary purposes; Sen-
enthly, That t}iey, and such of their kinsmen as could afford it, shonld put
their children to school, under the directions of the privy council; Lastly,
That they should abstain from using guns, bows, and two-handed swords, and
should confine themsclves to single-handed swords and targes. A mandate

was issued to Angus MacDonald, his son, Angus Og, and all others, keepers

. of the castle of Dunyveg, charging them to surrender that fortress to the

officer bearer of the mandate, within twenty-four hours after his arrival. At
the same time, a new proclamation was made, adding to the militia formerly
summoned to meet at Islay on the first of June the array of Edinburgh and the
other southern counties, and of Stirling, Fife, Kinross, Perth, Clackmannan and
Torfarshire.” The change caused the day of meeting at Islay to be post-
poned to the first of July. Preparations for service in the Isles proceeded
with great vigor. Vessels were ordered to be in readiness to transport the
Lowland militia, and the burghers of the West commanded to prepare boats,
well furnished with buscuit, ale, wine, béer, and other victuals, for the support
of the army. Lord Ochiltree was appointed lieutenant over all the Isles, and
a council was appointed to assist him, of which the bishop of the Isles was
the head. Full power was given to the licutenant to treat with all or any of
the Islanders, and encouraged to obedience. All castles were to be demol-
ished save such as the commission thought should be garrisoned.  The prepa-
rations for the expedition were not completed till early in the month of Au-
gust, when Ochiltree was joined off the island of Islay by troops from Ire-
land under Sir William St. John, and at a later period the armament was fur-
ther increased by the arrival of an English galley and another vessel, the lat-
ter of which carried a battering train with its necessary ammunition.

“The castle of Dunyveg, in Islay, was delivered to the lieutenant by
Augus MacDonald without hesitation, along with the fort of Lochgorme in
the same island. The latter was instantly demolished: but a garrison of
twenty-four men was placed in the former. On the 14th of August, the
armament sailed from' Islay, and on the 15th, after a very tempestuous voy-
agé, reached the castle of Duard in the Sound of Mull. This fortress having
been summoned in the regular manner, was surrendered by its proprietor,
Hector MacLean of Duard, to Lord Ochiltree, by whom it was garrisoned and
furnished on the 17th. Ochiltree liad previously proclaimed that, as royal
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lieutenant, he would hold a court at the castle of Aros in Mull, to which all
the chiefs in the Isles were summoned, and at whieh he proposed, among
other things, to carry into effect in Mull that part of his commission relating
to the destruction of the lymphads, birlinns, and Highland galleys. But in
the meantime, having ascertained that this would be attended with great in-
justice to the Islanders, unless the galleys and other vessels on the adjacent
coasts of the mainland were likewise destroyed, so as to secure the Isles from
molestation on the part of their neighbors, he wrote to the council for further
instructions on this point, requesting permission also to deal with the main-
land castles as he should think proper.* The powers he requested were im-
mediately granted to him, under a reservation which saved from destruetion
the boats and vessels belonging to ¢ obedient subjects.” At Aros the following
Islesmen assembled to attend the licutenant’s court, viz.. Angus MacDonald
of Dunyveg; Hector MacLean of Duard ; Lachlan, his brother ; Donald Gorm
MacDonald of Sleat; Donald MacAllan, captain of the Clanranald; Ruari
MacLeod of Harris; Allaster, his brother; and Neill Maellduy, and Neill
MacRuari, two gentlemen in Mull, followers of MacLean of Duard; who all,
if we may believe the report of Lord Ochiltree, placed themselves at his dis-
posal without condition as promise. It appears, however, from a contemporary
author, that this report ean not altogether be depended on. According to
this writer, Ochiltree conferred at length with the Islanders, ¢ giving them
fair words, promising to be their friend, and to deal with the king in their
favor.” llaving taken very strict order with Angus MaeDonald for his future
obedience, he suffered that chief to depart home. But not finding the others
so ready to aceede to all his proposals, the lientenant, by the advice of his
ehief counsellor, the bishop of the Isles, invited them to hear a sermon
preached by that prelate on board the king’s ship, called the Moon, and after-
ward prevailed npon them to dine with him on board. Ruari MacLeod of
Harris alone refused to enter the vessel, suspecting some sinister design.
When dinner was ended, Ochiltree told the astonished chiefs that they were
his prisoners by the king’s order, and weighing anchor, he sailed direct to

Ayr,¥ whence he shortly proeceded with his prisoners to Edinburgh, and pre-

* Letter from Ochiltree to the Privy Council, dated at Duard, in Mull, 18th August, 1608.

T It is evident that the bishop did not feel at ease on account of the part he took in kid-
napine these chiefs. In a letter sent to James VI, dated 17th September, 1608, the bishop
says, “ My credeit amangis thir folkis be the forme of this last actioun praetischit amangis
thinme, sum what (as apperis) deminischit, that it mycht pleas your Majestie to appoynt sum
uther of yonger aige, gritter eurage, bettir discretioun and eredeit in thois cuntries,” ete. Given
in full in Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, pp. 113, 114.
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sented them before the privy council, by whose orders they were placed in
the several castles of Dumbarton, Blackness, and Stirling. In the report of
his proccedings which Ochiltree on this occasion gave in to the privy council,
he assigned the lateness of the season as an excuse for his not having pro-
cecded against MacNeill of Barra and MacLeod of Lewis, intimating at the
same time that the former of these chiefs was a‘depender upon Maclean of
Duard, who would answer for his obedience. He stated, likewise, that he had,
in compliance with a letter from the comptroller, restored to Maclean the
castles of Duard and Aros, upon the promise of that chief to surrender them
when required; that he had taken surety for the delivery of the castle of
Mingarry in Ardnamurchan; and that he had broken and destroyed all the
galleys and other vessels he counld find in those parts of the Isles which he
visited.” The imprisonment of so many chiefs at one time afforded the king
a better opportunity to accomplish his long cherished projects; nor was he
backward in availing himself of it. These powerful chiefs finding themselves
wholly at the king’s mercy, presented humble petitions, and submitted them-
selves entirely to his pleasure, and made many offers in order to procure
liberation, and taking credit for having come willingly with the lieutenant. A
commission was appointed to receive the offers of the Islesmen, and to consult
and deliberate upon all matters connected with the civilization of the Isles
and the increase of the king’s rents. Minute instructions were given for their
guidance, and all their deliberations should be submitted to the king. At
this time James VL. was cngaged in expelling the Irish inhabitants from
Ulster, “ and granting their lands to scttlers from kngland and Seotland, yet he
new hesitated to treat, with like severity, the same Scottish Islanders whom,
in the preceding year, he had actually proposed to extirpate. His chief ob-
ject now scems to have been to curtail the power of the great proprietors, by
procuring from them the voluntary surrender of considerable portions of the
estates which they claimed as their inheritance.* In this, as in many of his
projects, which sounded well in theory, James was disappointed; but other
suggestions made by him at this time, favored as they were by circumstances,
and followed up with zeal by the commissioners, were productive of so much
benefit that from this time we may trace a gradual and permanent improve-

ment of the Isles and adjacent Highlands.” ¥

* Royal Commissions and Instructions, dated 6th December, 1608. T Gregory’s Western
Highlands, pp. 318-326.
10
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The bishop of the Isles was sent by the commissioners to London to re-
port their deliberations to the king. He returned with instructions that he
and the comptroller should, during the summer (1609), visit and survey the
Isles, being accompanied, both going and coiing, by Angns MacDonald of
Dunyveg and Hector MacLean of Duard, who should be released for this pur-
pose. The other prisoners should be retained in confinement until the bishop’s
return.  But availing himself of a discretionary power given him, the bishop,
accompanied by all the chiefs and gentlemen recently kidnaped, set sail on his
mission about the middle of July, and before the end of that month almost all
the Islesmen met him in the celebrated island of Icolmkill, or Tona. Deter-
mined to take advantage of the unanimity he had gained, the bishop held a court
in which, with the consent of the assemblied chiefs, he enacted nine statutes of
the utmost importance for the improvement of the Isles. Tlese enactments
are known as the famons ¢ Statutes of Teolmkill,” and are worthy of the par-
ticular attention of every lover of Highland history:

“The court of the Sonth and North Illis of Scotland holdin at Icolme-
kill be ane Reverend fader in God, Axpro Bisciior or tue Innis haveand
speciall pouer and commissioun to that effect of his Majestie and Counsell
the twentie thrie day of August the veir of God 1609 yeiris; the suitis callit
and the court lauchfullie affirmit be

Tie Quurtk Day in presence of the said Reverend fader, the speciall
Baron’s and Gentilmen of the saidis Yilis underwritten viz. Angus McDonald
of Dunnoveg; Hector MeCleane of Doward; Douald Gorme MeDonald of
Slait; Rorie MeCloyd of IHareiss; Donald McAllane ve eane of Ilanterame;
Lauchlane McCleane of Coill; Lauchlane MeKynnoun of that ilk; Hector
McCleane of Lochbowie; Lauchlane and Allane MecCleanes brothers germane
to the said Hector McClane of Doward; Gillespie Mequirie of Ullova; Donald
Mecfie in Collonsaye; Togidder with the maist part of thair haill speci:;ll
freindis, dependaris and tennentis compeirand judiciallie :—

AXD UNDERSTANDING and considering the grite ignorance unto the quihilk
not onlic thay for the maist pairt thame selffis, bot alsua the haill common-
alitie, inhabitantis of the Illandis hes bene and ar subject to, quihilk is the
caus of the neglect of all dewtie to God and of his trew worship to the grite
grouth of all kind of vice proceiding partly fra the laik of pastouris plantit
and partly of the contemyit of these quha as alreadie plantit:—For remeid
quhairof thay haif all aggreit in ane voce, Lyke as it is presentlie concludit
and inactit, That the ministeris alswele plantit as to be plantit within the

parochynnis of the saidis Tllis, sal be renerentlie obeyit; thair stipendis dew-

"
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tifullie payit thame; the rwynous kirkis with reasonable diligence repairit;
the Sabothis solemplie kepit; adultereis, fornicationis, insest and sic uther
vyle sklanderis seveirlie punist ; marriageis contractit for certane yeiris* gim-
plieetir dischargeit and the committaris thairof vepule and punist as fornica-
touris.” ¥ The second statute ordained the establishment of inns at such places
as were most convenient in the several islands; which was designed not only
for the accommodation of travelers, but to relieve the burden from the tenants
and laborers. The third statute was intended to diminish the number of idle
persons, for the expense of keeping them fell principally upon the tenantry,
in addition to their usual rents. A limit was put to the number of individ-
uals of euch household, and the chiefs were to support their houscholds from
their own means. The fourth statute provided against such persons who were
not natives found sorning, or living at frec quarters on the poor inhabitants,
an evil which had reached a great height, The fifth statnte declared that
one of the chief causes of poverty in the Isles, and of the eruelty and inhu-
manity practiced in their feuds, was the inordinate love of strong wines and
aquavite. It was therefore decreed that imported liquor should be destroyed,
and a fine of forty pounds to any one who, for the first offense, purchased it
from a mainland trader; one hundred pounds for the sccond. and for the third
offense the loss of his entire possessions. It was, however, provided that any
individnal could brew as much aquavite as his own family required: and the
barons and wealthy gentlemen might purchase in the lowlands sueh liquors as
were required for their private consumption. 'The sixth statute declares ¢ that
the ignorance and incivilitic of the saidis 1lis hes daylie ineressit be the negli-
gence of gaid educatioun and instruetioun of the youth in the knowledge of God
and good lettres : For remeid quhairof it is enactit that everie gentilman or
yeaman within the saidis Islandis or ony of thame having children maill or
famell and being in goodis worth thriescoir ky, sall putt at the leist thair eld-
est sone or, having na childrene maill, thair eldest dochtir to the senillis in
the lawland and interteny and bring thame up thair quhill thay may be found

able sufficientlic to speik, read and wryte Inglische.” The serenth statute
*

#This evidently shows that the practice of handfasting (ns it wus enlled) was not yvet abol-
ished, Upon this strange practice John Mac-Vie-Ewin, fourth Laird of Ardgoeur, had hund-
fusted with a dsughter of MacTan of Ardnamurchan, whom he bad tuken on n promise of mar-
ringe if she pleased him. At the expiration of two years he sent her home to her futher, but
his son by her (the gallant John of Inverscwddel, already noticed at p. 101) was held 1o be a legiti-
mute oftspring, by virtue of the hnndfast ceremaony. tCullectanea de Rebus Alhanicis, p. 118,

1 Ibid.
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" forbade the use of firearms of any deseription, for any purpose whatever.
This was “awing to their monstrous deadly fueds.” The eighth prosiided
against bards and other idlers of the class, who were first threatened with the
stocks and then with banishment. The ninth contained some necessary enact-
ments for the enforcement of the preceding.™

Taken as a whole, the ¢ Statutes of Icolmkill”” were wise and salutary.
Notwithstanding the fact that the IHighlanders suffered much from the
capricious conduct of James VI. and his predecessors, yet it is true, however
startling may be the fact, that the first traces of that unwavering and over-
flowing loyalty to the house of Stuart, for which they have been so highly and
so persistently lauded, are to be found in that generation of their chiefs
where education was conducted on the high church and state principles as
laid down by Andrew Knox, bishop of the Isles. These measures must have
been considered by the assembled chiefs as promising beneficial results, for
it does not appear that they attempted the least opposition to their operation.

At the time the bishop returned from the Isles a ecomplaint was made to
the lord commissioners by MacLean of Duard and MacDonald of Islay, and
other chieftains, on account of a certain oppressive proclamation against the
Western Isles. It does not appear by whom this proclamation was made; but
it was well calculated to cut off the king’s revenues in the Isles. The privy
council passed the following act, in response, dated at Edinburgh, 28th Sep-
tember, 160Y. ¢ Forsamekle as Ilector MeClayne of Dowart, Angus Me-
Joneill of Dunyvaig and certane utheris chiftanes of the Yllis who ar addebtit
to the Kingis Majestie in the maillis and dewyteis of thair landis, hes of lait
meanit thameselffis unto the Lordis Commissionaris, that thay ar verie far
prejugeit and maid unable to pay his Majesties dewyteis of thair landis, be
ressoun of a Proclamatioun and Prohibitioun maid within the boundis of Ergyle
that no mercheantis or utheris sall buy ony mairtis,i horses, or utheris goodis
within the boundis of Mule or ony utheris of the West Yllis; The saidis
yllismen having no utheris meanes nor possibilitie to pay his Majesteis dewy-
teis bot be the sale of thair mairtis and horsses; and the buying of such com-
moditeis being in all tymes begane a free, constant, and peceable trade to the
merchandis alsweill of Ergyll as of the incuntrey, without ony restrent,
trouble, questioun, or impediment moved or intended in the contrair at ony

tyme heirtofoir; Quhairby as the makaris of that Proclamatioun hes commit-

* See Gregory’s Western Highlands, pp. 829-338. + Marts; cattle fattened for winter con-
sumption.
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tit a verie grite errour and oversicht in usurpeing upon thame such a soverane
power and auctoritie noway competent to a subject; and thairwithall hes de-
fraudit and prejugeit his Majesteis goode subjectis of the benefite of thair
lauchfull trade and intercourse of their goodis wairis and merchandice,—so
have thay very far hinderit his Majestie in the tymous and thankfull payment
of his dewyteis; in heich contempt of his Majesteis auctoritie and lawis:
Thairfoir,” * the said proclamation is annulled, and all leiges strictly pro-
hibited from interfering with the trade of the Isles.

The proceedings of the bishop of the Isles met with the king’s approval,
and in order to hear his pleasure declared to them, six of the principal Island-
ers assembled in Edinburgh, on the 28th of June—MaeLean of Duard, Mae-
Donald of Sleat, MacDonald of Dunyveg, MacLeod of Harris, the captain of
Clanranald, and MacKinnon of Strathordell, together with Cameron of Lochiel
and Allan Cameron Maclandy of Lochaber. All were compelled to give sure-
ties to a large amount for their appearance before the council in May, 1611
next, obliged to promise to concur with and assist the king’s lieutenants, jus-
tices, and commissioners, in all matters connected with the Isles: that they
should live together in peace and friendship; and any question which shonld
vise among them should be decided according to the ordinary course of law
and justice. A month later the bishop of the Isles received a life commis-
sion as steward and justice of all the North and West Isles (exeept Orkney
and Shetland), and all former commissions of licutenandry over the Isles were
recalled. Ile was likewise made constable of the castle of Dunyveg in
Islay.t

A commotion of some magnitude broke out in the year 1613 mmong the
MacNeills of Barra. Ruari MacNeill, the chief of that clan, had for several
years enjoyed the society of a lady of the name of MacLean, according to an
ancient practice not then altogether disused in the Isles, called handfasting,
or in other words, taken a wife on frial, and by her had several sons.  Subse-
quently he married a sister of the captain of the Clanranald, and deprived his
former children of their inheritance. The latter, however, maintained their
claims until foreed to yield to the younger members of the family, by the cap-
tain of the Clanranald. The eldest son of the senior family having taken part
in an act of piracy on a ship of Bordeaux was apprehended in the Isle of

Barra, by Clanranald, and taken to Edinburgh, where he died before the time

* Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, p. 153. 1 Record Privy Council, from 8th May to 27th
July, 1610.
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for trial. In revenge for this, his brothers-german, aided by Hector MaeLean
of Duard, seized Neill MacNeill, the eldest of the junior family, and sent him
to Edinburgh to be tried for the same offense of piracy, but through the in-
fluence of his uncle, Clanranald, was liberated. The surviving sons of the first
family scized the old chief, their father, and placed him in irons. Having re-
fused to exhibit him before the privy council, they were proclaimed rebels,
and a commission against them was given to the captain of Clanranald, who
used his powers in such a way as to secure the peaceable succession of his
nephew to the Barra estate on the death of the old chief, which oeeurred soon
after.

Heetor MaeLean of Duard, Donald Gorm of Sleat, Ruari MacLeod of
Harris, and Donald MacAllan, captain of Clanranald, are mentioned as having
settled with the exchequer, in the year 1613 and as continuing in their obe-
dience to the laws.

In the same year, at the suggestion of Archibald Campbell, earl of Ar-
gyle, who was determined to appropriate some of the MacLean estates, and
who had been in London paying attendance upon the king, a roving commis-
sion, composed chiefly of his followers, was appointed by the government to
demand the title-deeds of certain chiefs. The estates of the MaclLeans in
Morvern became the first object of attack. These, though in possession of the
ehief of MacLean as feudal superior since the forfeiture of the Lord of the
Isles, in 1493, had, it would appear, never been registered; notwithstanding
this commission, however, MacLean was for ages acknowledged as the legal
proprietor; but the king, without consulting either honor or justice in the
matter, agreed to have a charter of the Morvern estates drawn up in favor of
Campbell of Lawers, a relative of the earl. But fearing that the injustice
thus done to the MacLeans might rouse that clan to acts of insubordination,
the king made it conditional upon Lawers and the earl that they should take
and maintain possession of the lands at their own risk alone. The experience
of the commissioners on their first visit to one of the proprietors (MacLean
of Kingerloch) afforded them a lesson of what they might expect in their pro-
posed spoliations in Morvern. When the commissioners asked Kingerloeh to
satisfy them as to the tenure by which he held his lands, the indignant chief-
tain replied, “I can produce no sheepskin nor erotehets upon parchmcn& to
satisfy you, but the tenure by which I and my forefathers have held these

lands are at your service;”

and so saying, he made a sign to his piper, who
instantly set up the elan gathering, and out issued from different places of

eoncealment about one hundred warriors all armed. ¢ Such, messieurs com-

-
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missioners,” said Kingerloch, “is the tenure by which my forefathers have
hitherto held these estates, and by the same tenure, if it please you, it is my
purpose still to hold them. Tell your employers this is the answer of Machd-
Mhichd- Eachwinn- Chingherloch.” *  The commissioners of Argyle importuned
Kingerloch no farther, but after partaking of the hospitality of his table for
that night, they contented themselves by withdrawing from Morvern on the
following day.f This affair having been noised abroad the MacLeans flew to
arms, determined to resist this maneuver of Argyle, who, realizing that he
had been thwarted, thought it best to proceed no farther.

Argyle still pondered over the problem of how to possess himself of Islay.
In 1614, he stirred up the MacDonalds of Islay | to rebellion, in hopes thereby
to profit by what must eventually be their disaster. The escape from prison
of Sir James MacDonald, in 1615, and the consequent excitement it produced,
complicated matters very mueh. In the midst of these commotions, Argyle
made a precipitate journey to London without any prospects of an immediate
return. The privy eouncil set about to place the Isles and adjacent main-
land, from Skye to Kintyre in a posture of defense, and to deter the Mac-
Donalds, under Sir James, from landing; as it had been communicated that
they had set sail from Eig. The Campbells were to defend Argyle ])r()];er,
Knapdale and Kintyre; to the lairds of Duard, Lochbuy, Coll, and MacKin-
non, two hundred men for the defense of the coasts from Lorn to the point
of Ardnamurchan; to the earlt of Enzie, one hundred men, to defend the
coast of Lochaber; and to Clanranald, MacLeod of Iarris and MacDonald of
Sleat, each two hundred men, for the defense of their own coasts. Notwith-
standing all the precautions made, Sir James MacDonald, on June 18th,
landed on the isle of Colonsay with several hundred men, and soon after
made himself master of the castle of Dunyveg. As Islay and Kintyre had
been given to Argyle, on condition that he should hold them at his own ex-
pense, the privy council requested the king to have the conditions fulfilled.
But Argyle sueceeded in having the government to take hold of the matter

with renewed efforts. Sir James was very active and succeeded in enter-

# The patronymic of the head of the Kingerloch MacLeans was Mace-Vie-Enchuinn Kin-
gerloch, or the son of Heetor's son of Kingerloch.  MacLean of Duard was ealled Macllleathan,
The MacLenn. The Lochbuy branch Stiochd Mhurchaidh Ruaidhk, the descendants of Red
Murdoch.  The Ardgour family as Mac-Mhic- Eoghin, the son of Ewen’s son. '

T Gregory ( Western Highlands, p. 348) gives a short account of this affair, taken from an
Original Memorial, dated April 13, 1613, preserved in the Generul Register House.

1 See Gregory's Western Highlawds, pp. 354, 365,
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ing into a bond of friendship with Donald Gorm of Sleat, the captain of
Clanranald, and Ruari MacLeod of Harris; “and that Hector MacLean of
Duard, if not actually engaged in the rebellion, had announced that, if he
was desired to procced against the Clandonald, he would not be very earnest
in the service. These disheartening reports were confirmed to a certain ex-
tent by Ardehattan’s spies, who declared to him that vassals of the three
first mentioned chiefs formed a considerable part of Sir James® force; whilst
MacLean’s Lrother had already taken part with the rebels in expelling
Calder’s men from Islay.”* Tt is true that the chief of MacLean permitted
his brother Allan to render assistance to Sir James MacDonald, but to what
extent does not appear. The rebellion was suppressed during October of the
same year, and Sir James MacDonald, deprived of the inheritance of his fore-
fathers, and his lands, through cunning and treachery possessed by Afgyle
and Campbell of Calder, fled to Ireland, where he was sheltered for a time
by his kinsman Randall MacDonald of Dunluce, first earl of Antrim; but
Avgyle’s enmity followed him to this retreat, and Sir James knowing that
Lis life was in perpetual danger from the emissaries of his despoiler, escaped
to Spain. He was afterward pardoned and died in London in 1626.

On the suppression of this rebellion ITector Og MacLean of Duard, as
chief of the clan, was called upon by the government to account for the share
his brother Allan and others of his kinsmen had taken in the late procced-
ings.  Parliament, however, contented itself with demanding the appearance
of Allan and of Hector Roy of Coll before the council to give in their sub-
mission and swear allegience to the king. This being done, sureties were
then granted them for all acts of past disobedience, and they were permitted
to return to their homes.

The acquisition of Islay and Kintyre appears to have appeased the long-
ings of the Argyle family for their neighbors’ property, at least for a time.
The records do not show that at this period they made any attempts upon
the lands of the MacLeans. This must be attributed to the influence of the
chief, arising from his numerous connections at this time amongst the high-
land barons by his marriage alliances. His first wife was the daughter of the
chief of Kintail ; his second marriage to a daughter of Sir Archibald Acheson
of Gosford, then Secretary of State for the kingdom, caused his influence to re-

ceive additional weight. This secured him protection against Argyle in that

* Gregory's Western Highlands, pp. 870-377.
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quarter where alone a MacLean could fear his power, namely, in the secret
councils of the state, or in the private closet of an erratic sovereign.

The removal of King James from the court of Edinburgh to that of Lon-
don, on the whole, had a beneficial effect on the Isles. The laws now enacted,
from time to time, for the better government of the Isles, began to be felt
with good effect throughout the Ilighlands generally. The deadly family
feuds, so inimical to the happiness of the people, were now of rare occurrence,
and the chiefs themselves became more and more reconciled to such measures
as were deemed advisable for the permanent welfare of the inhabitants.

The government issued a summons in the ycar 1616 commanding the at-
tendance before the privy couneil (Scottish) of Hector Og, ehief of MacLean ;
Lachlan MacLean of Torloisk, brother of Duard ; Hector MacLean of Lochbuy ;
Lachlan MacLean of Coll; Sir Ruari MaclLeod of Harris: Sir Lachlan MaeKin-
non of MacKinnon, and Sir Donald MacDonald, chief of the Clanranald; and
as these chicfs had not made their appearance during the previous year, on
account of the insurreetion, very strict measures were now taken in order to
msure their obedience in the future. “They were obliged to bind themselves
mutually, as sureties for each other, to the observance of the following condi-
tions: First, That their clans should keep good order, and that they them-
selves should appear before the council, annually, on the 10th of July, and
oftener if required and on being legally summoned. Secondly, That they
should exhibit annually a certain number of their principal kinsman, out of a
larger number contained in a list given by them to the council. Duard was
to exhibit four; MacLeod, three; Clanranald three; and Coll, Lochbuy and
MacKinnon, one of these chieftains, or heads of houses, in their clans respect-
ively.  Thirdly, That they were not to maintain in household more than the
following proportions of gentlemen, according to their rank, viz.. Duard,
eight; MacLeod and Clanranald, six; and the others three each. Fourthly,
That they were to free their countries of sorners and idle men having no law-
ful occupation. Fifthly, That none of them were to carry hackbuts or pistols,
unless when employed in the king’s service; and that none but the chiefs and
their household gentlemen were to wear swords, or armor, or any weapons what-
ever. Strthly, That the chiefs were to reside at the following places respect-
ively, viz;: MacLeod at Dunvegan, MacLean of Duard at that place, Clan-
ranald at Elanterim, MacLean of Coll at Bistache, Lochbuy at Moy, and Mae-
Kinnon at Kilmorie. Such of them as had not convenient dwelling-houses

corresponding to their rank at these places were to build without delay, ¢ eivil
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and comelie’ houses, or repair those that were decayed. They were likewise
to make ¢policie and planting’ about their houses; and to take smains, or
house-farms, into their owp hands, which they were to cultivate, ¢ to the effect
they might be thereby exercised and eschew idleness.” Clanranald, who had
no mains about his castle of Elanterim, chose for his home-farm the lands of
Hoheg in Uist. Seventhly, that at the term of Martinmas next, they were to
let the remainder of their lands to tenants, for a certain fixed rent, in lieu of,
all exactions. Eighthly, That no single chief should keep more than one
birlinn, or galley, of sixteen or eighteen oars; and that in their voyages
through the Isles they should not oppress the country people.  Ninthly, That
they should send all their children above nine years of age to school in the
Lowlands, to be instructed in reading, writing, and speaking the English lan-
guage; and that none of their children should be served heir to their fathers,
or received as a tenant by the king, who had not received that education.
Lasily, The cliefs were not to use in their houses more than the following
quantities of wine respectively, viz.: Duard and MacLeod, four tun each ; Clan-
ranald three tun ; and Coll, Lochbuy and MacKinnon, one tun each; and they
were to take strict order throughout their whole estates that none of their
tenants or vassals should buy or drink any wine. MacLean of Duard, and his
brother Lachlan, having delayed to find the required sureties, were committed
to ward in Edinburgh castle, whence he was liberated in a very short time,
and allowed to live with Acheson of Gosford, his father-in-law, under his
own recognizance of £40,000, and his father-in-law’s for 5000 merks, that he
should remain there until permitted by the council to return to the Isles.
Duard’s brother was not liberated until the following year, when his own bond
was taken for the conformity of himself and his son Hector to the obligations
imposed upon the other Islanders in July 1616. His dwelling-place was to
be at Ardnacross in Mull : and he was allowed to keep two gentlemen in his
household.  Donald Gorm of Sleat, having been prevented, by sickness, from
attending the council with the other chiefs, ratified all their proceedings, and
found the required sureties, by a bond dated in the month of August. He
named Duntullim, a castle of his family in Trouterness, as his residence ; and
six household gentlemen, and an annual consumption of four tun of wine,
were allowed to him; and he was annually to exhibit to counecil three of his
principal kinsmen. These proceedings being communicated by the council
to the king, were approved by his majesty; who, at the suit of the Islanders,

ordered that the chiefs, and some of their immediate relations, might have

2
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licence to use fire-arms for their own sport within a mile of their dwell-
ings.” ¥

In the following year, 1617, Hector Macl.ean of Lochbuy, Lachlan Mac-
Lean of Coll, Lachlan MacLean of Torloisk, Sir Ruari MacLeod of Harris,
Sir Donald Gorm of Sleat, the captain of Clanranald, and Sir Lachlan Mae-
Kinnon of Strathordell, made their appearance before the council in the month
of July.t

Hector Og died in the year 1618, in the fortieth year of his age. He
was twice married : first, to Janet, daughter of Cailean Cam, 11th MacKenzie
of Kintail, by whom he had Hector Mér, his heir and suecessor, and Lachlan ;
also one daughter, Florance, who married John Garbh, Tth MacLean of Coll.
His second wife was Isabella, daughter of Sir Archibald Acheson of Gosford,
by whom he had Donald, first MacLean of Brolass, John Dubh, predecessor of
the counts MacLean of Sweden, and a daughter, Isabella, who died unmarried.
The marriage of Florance to John Garbh affords an insight into marriage cns-
toms as practiced by the MacLeans. She was given a dower which consisted

of a hundred and eighty kinc, with the stipulation that if she became a widow,

“her jointure should be three hundred and sixty. Doubtless the number was

- reckoned according to the wealth of the contracting parties.

XVI. Eachann Moér, Sixteenth Chief of Macl.ean,
Or, Big Hector, the sixteenth chief of MacLean, eldest son of the first
marriage of Hector Og, succeeded to an extensive and unincumbered estate,

and at a period when the family had great influence, owing in part to its

* Gregory’s Western Highlands, pp. 892-6. Taken from Records Prirvy Council, from 11th
July, 1616, to 22d March, 1617,
+ Under the year 1622, Gregory says: “Since the year 1617, the Islanders have continued

(with the exception of Heetor MacLean of Duard) to make their annual appearance before the

~ privy council with tolerable regularity. In July, 1619, the time for their yearly appesrance

was, at their own request, altered from July 1o February; but, in 1621, it was ngain altered 1o
July, owing to the uncertainty of the weather in spring.  In the following year, Siv Ruari Mue-
Leod of Harris, Sir Donald Gorm of Sleat, John MuacDonald, cuptain of the Clunranald, and
the luirds of Coll, Lochbuy and MaeKinnon, maude their obedience 1o the privy council, us

usual, when severnl acts of importance relating to the [Isles were passed. By the first of these

they were bound to build and repair their parish churches to the satisfaction of the bishop of

the Isles; and they promised to meet the bishop at Teolmkill, whenever he should appoint, to
make the necessary arrangements in the matter. The bisbop, ut this time, promised to appoint

a qualified commiseary for the Ifles—complaints having been made on this head. By unother

act, musters of vessels were prohibited, under the penalty of the confiscation of the article, to

carry more wine to the Isles than the quantity allowed to the chiefs and gentiemen by the act
of 1617."— Western Highlands, p. 404.
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matrimonial alliances. The judicous management of the possessions and the
policy pursued by his father secured to him a strong protecting influence
throughout the country. By nature, Hector Mér was inactive and inclined
to a peaceful life, being content with his position and surroundings. His
character was not one that was likely to embark in any measure that might
prove disadvantagcous. Forsome reason, not now known, he became indebted,
as the following, taken from an act of the privy council, March 28, 1622,
sets forth: ¢ Sir Rory McKenzie of Cogache hes action aganist Sir John
McDougall of Dunnolich, narrating That quhair Hector McClane of Dowart
his brother in law being put at as weill for his Majesteis dewteis as for debts
to his creditors quhairby his house wes lyke to be ruined ; and Sir Rorie ount
of regaird to him and standing of his house having not only tane on him the
burden of the said Hector’s debts but the yeirlie payment of his Majesteis
dutie extending to tua thousand fyve hundred merkis, for quhilk he had got a
rvcht to the said IHector’s estate:  And the said Sir John MacDougall hav-
ing caused his officiers and servants quho attendit at Ferreis opposite to the
Isle of Mull qulair the Tennents of Mull wer accustumed to land with thair
goodis to be sold in the conntry to mak (provisioun) for payment of his Majes-
ties dutie, exact a certanc tole for the saidis goodis, molesting and invading
them if they refuised. Sir Johne and-his officiers ar ordained to be denunceit
(rebels) thairfoir.” *

Hector Mor was married to Margaret, cldest daughter of Sir Roderick
Macl.eod of MacLeod, and died without issue in 1626. His widow married
:Eneas MacDonnell, 7th of Glengarry.

In the person of Hector Mér occurred the first failure in the direct and
immediate succession, from father to son, among the chiefs of MacLean ; the
cldest son of every preceding chief having regularly succeeded to his father’s :
titles and estates for upward of four hundred years, from Gillean, the founder
of the clan, to Hector Mor.

XVII. Sir Lachlan MacLean, Bart., Seventeenth Chief of MacLean.

Hector Mér was succeeded by his brother Lachlan, seventeenth chieftain,
and first baronet, who came into possession under the most favorable circum-
stances. The clan had long been at peace, all its forces well recruited and
Just as loyal to its chief as at any time in its previous history. Tachlan had
power and influence sufficient to guard him against open attack from any

enemy in his immediate neighborhood, possessing the favor of the king

* Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, p. 154,
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(Charles I.) as some security against treacherous misrepresentations at court,
he had nothing to fear from open or secret enmity; and his irreconcilable foe,
Archibald Campbell, who became eighth earl of Argyle in 1638 (:1ltlmugh he
enjoyed the estate for many years before, as his father had been proclaimed
an outlaw), and afterward marquis, but known as Gillespie ('ruamach (Archi-
bald the morose), made many attempts to entrap him in his eoils. This
Argyle was by far the ablest of his family that has cver lived, and a man
gi'eatly to be feared. As he is a prominent figure in this perind of Scot-
land’s history, it will be of importance to give an estimate of his character,
especially when it is considered what two successive chiefs of MacLean had
to contend against. Browne says of him: *“There is nothing in his conduct
which can be justified by the impartial historian. Duplicity, cunning, cow-
ardice, and avarice, were his characteristic traits. Iis zeal for religion and
the covenant was a mere pretence ‘to enable him to obtain that ascendency
among the covenanters which he acquired, and his affected patriotism was
regulated entirely by his personal interests.” *  Again: “Argyle’s talents
were more fitted for the intrigues of the cabinet than the tactics of the field.” §
“A man equally supple and inflexible, cantious and determined, and entirely
qualified to make a figure during a factious and turbulent period.”” ¥ *Argyle
was the head of a party as well as the head of = tribe. Possessed of two
different kinds of authority, he nsed cach of them in such a way as'to extend
and fortify the other.” || This Argyle not only asserted the canse of Charles
IL., and placed the erown on his head (Jannary 1, 1G51), but afterward as-
sisted in the ceremony of proclaiming Cromwell Protector, and signed an
engagement to support the usurper’s government. On the restoration of the
monarchy, he again faced about and hastened to London to congratulate
Charles on his success. When James Graham, the great Montrose, was led
to exccution, and while the people were weeping at the sight of fallen great-

ness and invoking the blessings of heaven upon the head of the illustrious

# History of the Highland Clans, Vol. 11, p. 93. T Ibid., Vol. L, p. 35 t Hume's History
of Englarnd, Vol. V., p. 106,

|| Macnulay's History of Fugland, Vol. 111, p. 288, This author nlso adds: «A peculiar
dexterity, a peculiar plausibility of address, n peculiar contempt for the abligations of plighted
faith, were ascribed, with or without reason, to the dreaded race. ¢ Fuir nnd fulse like a Camp-
bell,” became a proverb. It wus suid that MucCallum More after MuceCallum More had, with
unwenried, unscrupnlous, und unrelenting umbition, nnnexed nmountain after mountain and
island after island to the original domains of his house. Some tribes had been expelled from
their territory, some compelled to pay tribute; some incorporated with the conquerors.”
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captive, Argyle “surrounded by his family and the marriage party of his
newly wedded son, Lord Lorn, appeared publicly on a balcony in front of the
earl of Moray’s house in the Canongate, from which he beheld undaunted the
great Montrose, powerless now to do him personal harm. To add to the in-
sult, either accidentally or on purpose, the vehicle which carried Montrose was
stopped for some time beneath the place where Argyle and his party stood,
so that they were able to take a leisurely view of the object of their hate and
fear, and it would appear that they took advantage of their fallen foe’s posi-
tion to indulge in unseemly demonstrations of triumph and insult.” * While
Argyle did not witness the execution of Montrose, yet his son Archibald, after-
ward ninth earl, did, and of his conduct it is recorded that he entertained
his new bride with the spectacle of that exeeution, and *“ mocked and laughed
in the midst of that weeping assembly; and, staying afterward to see him
lhewn in pieces, triumphed at every stroke which was bestowed upon his
mangled body.” §

Soon after Lachlan’s accession to the chieftainship, Thomas Knox, bishop
of the Tsles, made his report (1626) on the state of his diocese. Of the Isles
belonging to the MacLeans he says, “Mull belongethe to Heetor Mecleanc? of
Dowart, Hector M¢cleane of Lochbowie, Sir Lachlane MeKinnon and Lachlane
Mcclean of Coill; 24 mylles in lenth and 24 mylles in breid. Peyis to the
Bischope for his awin pairt of the teind 500 merkis oute of MecLeane of Dow-
artis parte. Meclene of Loehbowic his teindis ar yitt unsett. The teindis of
40 merk land belonging to MecKinnon and Coll ar sett with uther teindes as
heirafter sall be insert. 'This Ile is servit [be] Mc<clean, persone of Killane,
Mr. Johne Campbell and Niniane McMillan.  Coll belonging to the Laird of
Coll is 8 mylles in lenth, 4 in breid, peyis to the Bischope with the thrid of
the teind of his tuentic merk land of the Quynische in Mull 100 merkes yeir-
lie. This Yle is servit yeirlie be Mr. Ilew Mccleane. Tiry belongeth to
Hector Mccleane of Dowart; is 8 mylles in lenth 2 in breid. Peyis‘to the
Bischope, sex chalderis beir yeirlic ; and is servit be Martine M<llura. Muck
ane small Iand conteiﬁing onlie tua tounes, belonges to the Laird of Coll,
peyis ane chalder of beir.” ||

The first visit of Lachlan to court since the death of his brother was in

* Keltie's History of the Clans of Scotland, Vol. 1., p.- 271. 1 Ibid., Vol, 1, p. 277.

$This is prsitive evidence that Hector Mor was living in 1626. The “Account of the
Clan,” published in 1838, says he dicd in 1624. The Ardgour MS says he was still living when
Lachlan received the title of Baronet. | Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, p. 124.
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1631, and while there Charles I. created him a baronet of Nova Scotia, by the
title of Sir Lachlan MacLean of Morvern, with remainder to his heirs male
whatsoever. It is dated September 3, 1631, and recorded in the General
Register House. The original is in Latin. The reception tendered him by
the king made a lasting impression upon the generous nature of Lachlan, in
so mueh so that it confirmed him in that steadfast loyalty from which in the
cause of that unhappy sovereign he never swerved. But this unfortunate pre-
possession laid the foundation of many disastrous results to his race, and, as
will appear, ultimately threatened the total extinction of his powerful family.
For an era in British history was now approaching which put the test to blind
adherence to kingly prerogative on the one hand, and the inalienable rights of
the people on the other. Charles I. succeeded his father in 1625 to the
throne. Ile inherited the most extreme notions of the power of the throne,
and deeply imbibed his father’s notion that an Episcopal church was the most
consistent with the proper authority of kings; and mistook the general move-
ment in the public mind for an agitation amongst a few disaffected persons.
By his arbitrary acts he more and more embittered public feelings. Charles
was not unmindful of his duties to the Isles during the gathering of the
storm.

During the month of May, 1634, he wrote to the privy council of Secot-
land directing an inquiry into the exactions of the heritors of the Isles from
those engaged in the fisheries; and the bringing in of foreigners by the
heritors. A commission was appointed, consisting of Archibald, Lord Lorn
(afterward eighth earl of Argyle) and the bishop of the Isles, to inquire into
the matter. They made their report on the 20th August, 1634, and as it
throws much light on the customs of that epoch it is here inserted. They
convened at Inverary the landlords and heritors of the Isles, viz:

“Sir Donnald McDonnald of Sleat, Knight Barronet; Johne Mvcleod of Ierreis;
Johne McRannald of llantirum, eaptane of Clanrannald; Neil MeNeill of Bara: Sir
Lauchlane Mc<laine of Morverne, Knight Barvonet; Muwrdoeh Meelaine of Lochuy;
Lauchlane Mcclaine, of Coill; and Lanchlane McCharles vefingon for the Lafvd of
Mekynnon: And the foresaid Commisstonn being publictlie” read over in all their
andiences, Therealter the =aids Commissioners did interrogat and examine everie
one of the saidis Ylanders in particular, what dewteis they exact of his Mujesteis
subjects of the associatioun resorting there; and the saids Sir Donnald McDonnald,
dohne McCleod, Johne Mcerannald, and Neill MeNeill of Bera wviva voce gave the
answer and declaratioun following vizt Tha! it wes the ancient custame befoir the dait
of the Contract afterspecifeit (qubilk they think to be about fourteene yeeres
since or thereby) to everie ane of thame in whose boundis the herring fishing fell
onte, to eract of everie barke and ship resorting thereto, for ankorage or ground

teave ane burrell of «ill or meiil in the owner’s opticun; and for ilk anker layed on
shoare, sax shillings aueht pennies ; und out of every last of herring slaine there, thrie pundis
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money ; Togedder with the benefite of cverie saturdayes fishing : And that now they cxact onlie
frome his Majesteis subjects of the Associatioun for ilk ship and barke that comes-to the
herring fishing, threttie sax shillings Scottish money; and for ilk ship that comes to the
gray and white fishing twenfy markis : And this for ankorage and ground leave conforme
to ane Contract past betwix the said Sir Donald, Johne Mfrannald and umquhile Sir
Rorie MeCleod and some others of the Ylanders on the ane part, and certane of the
Burrowis in the East countrie on the other part in anno 1620 or thereby; Quhilk they
say is registrat in the bookes of C‘ounsell:—They being interrogat what is the ground
leave of the saids dewteis quhilk they now lift, they say they can make no division, be-
canse the same is payable to thame be the said contract for ane ankorage and ground
leave, quhilk they refer to the contract itselffe:—Peing demandit by what warrand they
uplift the saids exactions and dewteis foresaids, they answer that they ar heretours of
the ground and so may lawfully take up satisfactioun for ground leave and ankerage; it
being ane ancient custome and in use to be done past memorie of man:—Being de-
mandit how they can exact the particular exactions and dewteis foircaids from ane of his
Majesteis subjects of the associatioun who have not contracted with thame, They ansuer
that they take no morve aff thame than aff these who have contracted; wherein they
think they doe thame favour, Becaus they thinke they might uplift frome thame the fore-
said ancient dewtic and exactions that they war in use to gett before the dait of the said
Contract, in respect of the antiquitie of the custome and that they are heretours of the
lands and that thev have made no conditions with thame:—ItEn the saids Sir Lauchlane
Meclaine, Murdoch MeClaine of Loehbuy, Lanehlane MceClaine of Coill and Lauchlave
MecCharles vifingon being all examined anent the premisses, They and ilkane of thame de-
clared that there is no fishings within their boundis, wherethrow they may exact anie-
thing {rome hix Majestels subjects of the associatioun; But if the fishings were in these
bounds they would be content to exact no more nor the saids north Ylanders doe:—And
the saids haill ylanders being demandit how and by whome strangers wer brought in
and their vessellis loadned with fisches and uther native commoditeis; They all in one
voice ansuered that nane of thame nor anie within thair bounds does anie such thing;
onlie the said Siv Donald MeDonnald declares that the last veere there canie into Loch-
madie to the herring fishing in his bounds ane Dutche ship having the Deputie of Ire-
land his warrand, and some Frenche shippis with some men of Air who transported no
commoditeix away bot herring and uther fishes:—Upoun the trueth of the quhilkis
ansueres and declarations above written, the said ylanders and ilk ane of thame for thair
awne parts to give their onths of veritie:—In witness whereof the saids commissioners
and ylanders have subseribed thir presents day yeer and place foresaid. Sicsubscribitur,
A. Lorne; Neill Isles; Sr. Donald MacDonald of Sleat: L. Meclane Moruerne; J. Me-
Leod of Dunvegane; J. Me(. rannold. Us Neill MeNeill of Bara, Lauclane McClaine
of Coill and TLauchlane McCharles vefingon abone written at our commands becaus we
cannot write our selffes.”” *

Public feeling ran so high against the king on account of his extravagant
acts that the murmurings broke out into rebellion, which in 1640 had assumed
such proportions in Scotland that an army commenced the invasion of Eng-
land, and defeated the royal army at Newburn-Upon-Tyne. This advance
met with the sympathy and good wishes of no small part of the English peo-
ple.  The parliament of 1640 was resolute in its opposition to the king’s des-
potism, and began by the impeachment of the ministers and high officers of

* Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, p. 109,
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state. Charles was ultimately (January 27, 1649) condemned to death as a
tyrant, murderer, and enemy of the nation; and three days later was beheaded
in front of the palace of Whitehall.
In the year 1641 the king visited Edinburgh for the settlement of some
Scottish affairs, much about the period that his disputes with his English par-
liament were agitating the kingdom. On this occasion none appeared more
forward to offer obsequious court to the king than the eighth earl of Argyle.
All his professions of attachment and his seemingly sincere declarations of
fealty were reccived by the unsuspecting monarch with good will, who, ere he
returned to England, ereated him marquis of Argyle. At the very moment the
king was heaping honors upon him he was making traitorous proposals to the
Western chiefs to seduce them from their allegiance; and Sir Lachlan. Mae-
Lean was one of the first he atttempted to engage in his course. The objeet
of this, then well guarded, is now plainly revealed. Iad he suecceded in his
attempt to ineite the chief of MacLean to open rebellion, or had he entangled
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